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Our Vision  
Biodiversity richness for all South Africans.

Our Mission
To champion the exploration, conservation, sustainable use, appreciation and 

enjoyment of South Africa’s exceptionally rich biodiversity for all people.

Our Mandate
SANBI’s mandate comes from the National Environmental Management: 

Biodiversity Act No. 10 of 2004:  
Section 11. Functions

(1) The Institute
(a) must monitor and report regularly to the Minister on

(i) the status of the Republic’s biodiversity
(ii) the conservation status of all listed threatened or 
protected species and listed ecosystems; and
(iii) the status of all listed invasive species;

(b) must monitor and report regularly to the Minister on 
the	impact	of	any	genetically	modified	organism	that	has	
been released into the environment including the impact 
on non-target organisms and ecological processes, 
indigenous biological resources and the biological 
diversity of species used for agriculture;

(c) must act as an advisory and consultative body on 
matters relating to biodiversity to organs of state and 
other biodiversity stakeholders;

(d) must coordinate and promote the taxonomy of South 
Africa’s biodiversity;

(e) must manage, control and maintain all national 
botanical gardens;

(f) must manage, control and maintain
(i) herbaria; and
(ii) collections of dead animals that may exist;

(g) must establish facilities for horticulture display, 
environmental education, visitor amenities and research;

(h) must establish, maintain, protect and preserve 
collections of plants in national botanical gardens and in 
herbaria;

(i) may establish, maintain, protect and preserve 
collections of animals and micro-organisms in 
appropriate enclosures;

(j) must collect, generate, process, coordinate and 
disseminate information about biodiversity and the 
sustainable use of indigenous biological resources and 
establish and maintain databases in this regard;

(k) must allow, regulate or prohibit access by the public 
to national botanical gardens, herbaria and other places 
under the control of the Institute and supply plants, 
information, meals or refreshments or render other 
services to visitors;

(l) must undertake and promote research on indigenous 
biodiversity and the sustainable use of indigenous 
biological resources;

(m) must coordinate and implement programmes for

(i) the rehabilitation of ecosystems; and

(ii) the prevention, control or eradication of listed 
invasive species;

(n) must coordinate programmes to involve civil society in

(i) the conservation and sustainable use of indigenous 
biological resources; and

(ii) the rehabilitation of ecosystems;

(o) on the Minister’s request, must assist him or her in 
the performance of duties and the exercise of powers 
assigned to the Minister in terms of this Act;

(p) on the Minister’s request, must advise him or her on 
any matter regulated in terms of this Act, including

(i) the implementation of this Act and any international 
agreements affecting biodiversity which are binding on 
the Republic;

(ii)	the	identification	of	bioregions	and	the	contents	of	
any bioregional plans;

(iii) other aspects of biodiversity planning;

(iv) the management and conservation of biological 
diversity; and

(v) the sustainable use of indigenous biological 
resources;

(q) on the Minister’s request, must advise him or 
her on the declaration and the management of, and 
development in, national protected areas; 

(r) must perform any other duties

(i) assigned to it in terms of this Act; or

(ii) as may be prescribed.

(2) When the Institute in terms of subsection (1) gives 
advice	on	a	scientific	matter,	it	may	consult	any	
appropriate organ of state or other institution which has 
expertise in that matter.

48. (3) The Institute must

(a) assist the Minister and others involved in the 
preparation of the National Biodiversity Framework, a 
bioregional plan or a biodiversity management plan to 
comply with subsection (1); and

(b) make recommendations to organs of state or 
municipalities referred to in subsection (2); align their 
plans referred to in that subsection with the National 
Biodiversity Framework and any applicable bioregional 
plan.

60. (2) the Institute must provide logistical, administrative 
and	financial	support	for	the	proper	functioning	of	the	
scientific	authority.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Chief 

Financial 
Officer

SANBI BOARD
CHAIRPERSON

MINISTER OF ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS & TOURISM

Millenium Seedbank
PRECIS Data Management
Compton Herbarium
KwaZulu-Natal Herbarium
BIOTA and SAEON - Fynbos
Flowering Plants of Africa
Bothalia
wStrelitzia
GMO Monitoring

Mary Gunn Library
Ethnobotany
Vegetation Mapping
Invasive Species
Pollination & Ecosystems
SABF
Biodiveristy Planning
CREW

Greening of the Nation
Threatened Species
Threatened Ecosystems
Molecular Ecology
Molteno Library
SANBI Website
Working for Wetlands
Marine Programme

Pretoria NBG
Kirstenbosch NBG
Karoo Desert NBG
KwaZulu-Natal NBG
Harold Porter NBG
Free State NBG
Lowveld NBG
Walter Sisulu NBG
Hantam NBG

SANBI STRUCTURE



                                       
                                      SANBI Highlights   and Key Events

Here are a few highlights and key events illustrating SANBI’s contribution to South Africa and the world’s biodiversity 
heritage and richness, conservation, sustainable use and enjoyment:

SANBI supported government on biodiversity obligations, including legislation and policy

SANBI developed or provided technical support to DEAT on three important documents aimed at conserving the 
environment. All three have been submitted to DEAT and approved by MINMEC.

•	 The	National	Biodiversity	Framework: The Framework is important as it identifies priority actions for biodiversity 
conservation over the next five years, and facilitates coordinated action by multiple role-players in the biodiversity 
sector. It has been gazetted. 

•	 The	National	Protected	Area	Expansion	Strategy: This is a first and crucial comprehensive strategy for expanding 
protected areas throughout South Africa’s land and seas.

•	 The	Guideline	for	Bioregional	Plans:	This guideline, which has also been gazetted, is important because it maps 
critical biodiversity areas at the district or metro level, which allows for informed planning and decision making, 
including avoiding loss of natural habitat in critical biodiversity areas.

SANBI contributed to the negotiating of government’s multilateral 
agreements, for example, at the CBD Expert Group meeting for Legal 
and	Technical	experts	on	Concepts,	Terms,	Working	Definitions	and	
Sectoral approaches to ABS in Namibia.

SANBI facilitated national and regional programmes, research 
and networks

We	confirmed	our	significance	as	a	leader	in	biodiversity	research	and	
practice through a host of programmes and activities.

•	 SANBI	held	the	first	ever	national	Biodiversity	Information	
Management Forum. The purpose of the Forum is to effectively 
harmonise biodiversity information management between different 
partner organisations to ensure an easy uptake of information in 
research, policy formulation, decision-making and monitoring.
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                                      SANBI Highlights   and Key Events

• SANBI and BIOTA Southern Africa co-hosted the BIOTA Congress. The Congress, which was attended by more 
than 350 delegates from 20 African countries, and Brazil and Germany, enhances further international cooperation.

• SANBI hosted a meeting of the African Plants Initiative with over 80 delegates from Africa and beyond. Through 
this programme, thousands of images of preserved botanical material, publications and items from other sources 
are available electronically for scholarly purposes.

• The Grasslands Programme was launched at a high-level event on International Biodiversity Day on 22 May. This 
important programme aims to sustain and secure the rich biodiversity and ecosystem services of the grasslands 
biome for current and future generations. The Grasslands Declaration was signed by the Deputy Minister of DEAT 
and funding secured.

• The 6th Biodiversity Planning Forum was held in KwaZulu-Natal, co-hosted with Ezemvelo KwaZulu-Natal Wildlife. 
The attendance of 184 people was a record. Participants grappled with biodiversity issues such as freshwater 
biodiversity planning, marine and estuarine biodiversity planning, planning for ecosystem services and provincial 
biodiversity planning.

•	 The Fynbos Programme’s C.A.P.E. Coordination Unit successfully 
completed the coordination of its $6 million Critical Ecosystem 
Partnership Fund’s (CEPF) grant. In closing, the Africa Grants Director 
rated this unit the most successful, reliable and strategic coordination 
unit in the entire CEPF global portfolio.

•	 SANBI led and participated in the highly successful SANBI/ISCED 
(Instituto Superior de Ciências de Educação)/Agostinho Neto 
University (ANU) Angola Biodiversity Expedition to southwestern 
Angola.	This	important	expedition	documented	the	flora	of	Angola.

3



                                       
                                      SANBI Highlights   and Key Events

SANBI monitored and recorded the status of biodiversity in South Africa and beyond

• SANBI completed the analysis for the identification of threatened terrestrial ecosystems and submitted the draft 
list of threatened terrestrial ecosystems to DEAT. The ecosystems listed make up 9.5% of the country, with 
critically endangered and endangered ecosystems together accounting for 2.7% and vulnerable ecosystems a 
further 6.8%.

• SANBI officially became a SABIF data provider adding over one million records to the new website (www.sabif.
ac.za). 

• Through a multi-partner collaborative project, SANBI published and launched the first-ever inventory of Angola’s 
floristic riches. This publication is also available as a web-based facility which will be regularly updated.

• A Director for Zoological Systematics was appointed from January 2009. For the first time, a national strategy for 
zoological systematics is being developed by SANBI through wide consultation with stakeholders. SANBI also 
initiated a project to produce the first electronic, web-based catalogue of animal species of South Africa.

SANBI produced a wide range of publications to communicate 
our research to scientists and the public

The publications produced this year cover a broad range of biodiversity 
concerns and include:
•	 SANBI Biodiversity Series 8: Bird Checklist for South Africa’s National 

Botanical Gardens, C.K. Willis, O. Curtis & M.D. Anderson 

•	 SANBI Biodiversity Series 9: Guidelines for the establishment of an Offshore 
Marine Protected Area Network for South Africa, K. Sink & 
C. Attwood

•	 SANBI Biodiversity Series 10: Offshore marine protected areas: user profiles 
support document, L. Atkinson & K. Sink

•	 SANBI Biodiversity Series 11: Monitoring and evaluation: tools for 
biodiversity conservation and development projects, C. Foulis & 
J. Whitehead

• Strelitzia 19 Vegetation Wall Map, by L. Mucina & M.C. Rutherford (eds) 
(Reprint); Strelitzia 21 Molteno ferns: Late Triassic biodiversity in southern 
Africa, H.M. Anderson & J.M. Anderson; Strelitzia 22 Plants of Angola, 
E. Figueiredo and G.F. Smith; Strelitzia 23 Catalogue of the Lycophyta, 
Sphenophyta and Filicophyta of Africa, Madagascar and neighbouring 
Islands, J.P. Roux; Bothalia 38 volumes 1 and 2.

•	 444 new books and 1,012 new journals were added to the Mary Gunn 
Online Library Catalogue for public use.

4



                                       
                                      SANBI Highlights   and Key Events

SANBI managed and developed South Africa’s National Botanical Gardens

• A ninth National Botanical Garden was added to the stable of Gardens. The Hantam National Botanical Garden, 
famous for its unique bulbs and comprising an area of 6,200 ha near Nieuwoudtville in the Northern Cape, was 
formally gazetted by the DEAT Minister on 12 December 2008.

• Over a million people visited the Gardens as tourists to admire the natural beauty, enjoy walks, concerts, talks and 
exhibitions and take refreshments, or as learners participating in educational programmes.

• We won our 29th Gold Medal in 33 years of exhibiting at the prestigious RHS Chelsea Flower Show in London. 
The exhibit also received the ‘President’s Most Creative Award’, the first year this award was presented.

SANBI continued to build national professional capacity in biodiversity

• 100% of our top management and 69.5% of our middle management are from designated groups.

• 26 junior managers and 17 middle managers graduated from Management Development Programmes.

SANBI empowered staff, learners, educators and the public 
around conservation and sustainable use

•	 We trained and sent 10 learners from across the country to attend 
the International Year of Planet Earth launch in Arusha, Tanzania.

•	 A new strategy for Biodiversity Education and Empowerment was 
developed.

SANBI rehabilitated threatened ecosystems

•	 Working for Wetlands’ Maputaland project won the Kamoso award 
for best national project in the Environment and Culture Cluster of 
the	Expanded	Public	Works	Programme	for	2007/8.	The	other	two	
finalists	in	the	category	were	also	Working	for	Wetlands	projects.
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6
This	year	marked	my	first	full	year	as	the	Chairperson	of	the	
SANBI Board. It has been a time of continued growth and 
evolution as the organisation begins to really get to grips with 
its very wide mandate and its array of responsibilities as set out 
by the Biodiversity Act.

I believe that SANBI has had a progressive and effective year, 
having enjoyed several successes. Key appointments have 
been	made	which	I	am	confident	will	ensure	the	consistent	
maintenance	of	SANBI’s	financial	management	and	other	
systems necessary for compliance to the Public Finance 
Management Act (PFMA) and other National Treasury 
regulations.

SANBI has also been successful in streamlining its objectives 
and ensuring that its activities are aligned and focused.  
This strategic focus will be crucial for SANBI going forward. 
During the year under review, the global economic crisis 
hit our shores and it soon became apparent that we will all 
be affected. With this in mind, SANBI will have a very real 
challenge in ensuring that its Gardens and income generating 
activities	are	viable	and	beneficial	without	alienating	sectors	of	
the South African community which the Institute is by mandate required to ensure have access to biodiversity. 

It is a delicate balancing act and one which will require a combination of good business and economic skills with a dash 
of creativity and innovation. 

During the year under review, SANBI also faced the challenge of having to absorb unexpectedly high salary adjustments, 
the	knock-on	effect	of	which	impacted	heavily	on	the	Institute’s	finances	and	ultimately	affected	budgets.	

In spite of the challenges that SANBI faced, the Institute boasts a sound and solid foundation, it has forward-looking 
leadership, and a healthy working relationship with the Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism (DEAT), which I 
am	confident	will	continue	with	the	new	Department	of	Water	and	Environmental	Affairs.	SANBI	also	boasts	a	unique	and	
exciting mandate - one which places it in a remarkable position to make a very real difference.

Mr Tami Sokutu, Chairperson of the Board, South African National Biodiversity Institute

Members of the Board of SANBI, left to right:
Prof. P Omara-Ojungu, Mr S Somyo, Mr F Mketeni, Mr T Frost, Dr T Abrahamse, Mr T Sokutu, Dr P Hanekom.

Not present:  Ms K Montgomery, Ms M Pyoos, Ms T Dingaan.
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SANBI	made	significant	progress	this	year	towards	positioning	
ourselves	to	deliver	on	our	broad	mandate	by	filling	critical	
posts, so bringing into effect our new organogram. The new 
appointments bring a combination of experience, as well as 
new	ideas	and	fresh	perspectives.	Critical	posts	filled	included	
Chief	Financial	Officer	Mr	Moeketsi	Khoahli	(August	2008),	Ms	
Yolisa Koyo as Deputy Director-General of the Conservation 
Management and Corporate Services branch (January 2009), 
and Ms Carmel Mbizvo as Deputy Director-General of the 
Knowledge, Policy and Network Management branch (March 
2009). Ms Mbizvo is also Acting Head of the Biodiversity 
Research Portfolio Management Branch. These new 
appointments	enable	us	to	fulfill	our	mandate	effectively	and	
in line with the country’s transformation and human capital 
development objectives.

This year also saw the retirement of Prof. Brian Huntley, 
who led the organisation for some 16 years. His ‘swansong’ 
project was an exciting trip with a number of SANBI scientists 
to Angola to work with Agostinho Neto University to map 
Angola’s biodiversity. 

It has been a busy year, punctuated by a number of noteworthy achievements, among which is the instrumental role that 
our Mainstreaming Division played in the development of the National Protected Area Expansion Strategy (NPAES). The 
strategy	–	the	first	of	its	kind	in	South	Africa	–	was	submitted	to	DEAT	and	approved	by	MINMEC.	

We	also	made	significant	progress	in	the	implementation	of	our	National	Botanical	Garden	expansion	plan.	We	identified	
a suitable site in the Eastern Cape for the development of our 10th Garden, and conducted a successful feasibility study. 
The development of this Garden is extremely exciting as it is located in the only province that houses all of South Africa’s 
biomes. This makes it possible for us to showcase our biodiversity in an ideal setting.

I was honoured to have attended the RHS Chelsea Show in May 2008 and to celebrate our double gold win with the 
team. Our exhibit, entitled ‘The Heat is On’, received its 29th Gold Medal and scooped the ‘President’s Most Creative 
Award’,	the	first	year	this	award	was	presented.	It	was	a	joy	to	bring	the	exhibit	back	home	to	the	Kirstenbosch	National	
Botanical	Garden	for	the	first	time	in	several	years.	The	showing	was	so	popular	it	had	to	be	extended	by	an	extra	week.	

In September 2008, I had the pleasure of speaking at the12th Pan African Ornithological Congress at Goudini Spa near 
Worcester, and in October I attended the IUCN Congress in Barcelona, Spain, where the enthusiasm and participation of 
our young scientists did us proud.

SANBI has a particular responsibility through the National Environmental Management Biodiversity Act to lead and develop 
a Human Capital Development strategy for the whole of the biodiversity sector. We were fortunate to secure support from 
the Tony and Lisette Lewis Foundation to develop the strategy for the sector, which is now well under way.

In a similar vein, it is important to ensure that SANBI becomes a ‘learning organisation’ and that all our staff grow and 
develop, and so it was a pleasure to attend the Junior and Middle Managers’ Graduation Ceremonies following the 
successful completion of the University of Stellenbosch Business School’s Management Development Programme.  
I	could	actually	see	the	growth,	and	the	increase	of	confidence	and	optimism	in	the	faces	of	these	graduates.

I thank our hardworking Executive Committee, whose support and guidance have been invaluable during my second 
year as SANBI’s CEO. And I look forward to the continued commitment of our Board as we forge ahead, tackling new 
challenges,	exploring	new	ventures,	and	striving	every	day	to	champion	biodiversity	richness	for	the	benefit	of	all	our	
people.

Dr	Tanya	Abrahamse,	Chief	Executive	Officer,	South	African	National	Biodiversity	Institute



SANBI Actual Performance (Targets) measured against Key Performance Indicators: 
1 April 2008 – 31 March 2009 

Explanation of Table: In the following tables, all targets for the year under review were met, unless 
otherwise stated in the Variance and Reason for Variance column.
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No Strategic
Objectives 

Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) Targets Time 

Frame 
Variance and 

Reason for Variance 

1
Goal:  Be the central national resource for knowledge management and information dissemination on biodiversity and its 
           status and trends in South Africa. 

1.1 Develop and 
implement a 
Biodiversity 
Knowledge and 
Information 
Management 
(K&IM) Strategy. 

•	 Information-generating 
activities strategically aligned 
with the needs of end-users, 
both internal and external. 

•	 Greater efficiency in 
management of tacit and 
codified knowledge resources.

•	 Wide, equitable access to 
value-added biodiversity 
information for South Africa.

•	Finalise	K&IM	Strategy.

•	 Produce a strategy on integrating existing 
information resources.

•	 Integrate existing information resources 
for easy user access.

•	 Produce a strategy on development of 
new information resources.

•	 Implementation of K&IM Strategy and 
ongoing review of effectiveness. 

July 2008 

April 2008 

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

•	K&IM Strategy  
delayed in response 
to organisational 
changes. Target date 
December 2009.

•	Strategy on 
integrating existing 
information resources 
delayed due to staff 
shortages. Target 
date March 2010.

1.2 Information 
systems and 
products 
developed and 
expanded in line 
with priorities 
identified in K&IM 
Strategy and with 
linkages to other 
relevant national 
information 
systems. 

•	 SANBI Integrated Biodiversity 
Information System (SIBIS) 
expanded.

•	 SA Biodiversity Information 
Facility	(SABIF)	expanded.	

•	 Increase number of data 
records being accessed 
through	the	SABIF	Portal	(per	
month).

•	 Increase number of data 
providers contributing to the 
SABIF	Portal.

•	 Maintenance and development 
of relevant database systems.

•	 Relevant information 
accessible via SANBI website. 

•	SIBIS publicly accessible on the    
internet.

•	 SIBIS expanded to incorporate Protea 
Atlas Project data. 

•	 SIBIS expanded to incorporate new key 
databases as they become available 
(animals and plants).

•	 SABIF	site	operational,	maintained	and	
publicised.

•	 Server	relocated	to	SANBI	from	NRF	
Pretoria.

•	 SABIF	web	interface	upgraded.
•	 Number of data records being accessed 

through	the	SABIF	Portal	>3,000	per	
month.

•	 Number of data providers contributing to 
the	SABIF	Portal	>15.

•	 Animal DNA database, Molecular 
Lab Samples database, Research 
Publications database, TSP and CREW 
databases successfully supported. 

•	 New systems developed as required. 

July 2008 
ongoing 
Dec 2008 

Ongoing 

May 2008 
ongoing 
Aug 2008 

June 2009 
June 2009 

Ongoing 

As required 

Ongoing 

•	SIBIS launch 
postponed to 2009 
due to lack of 
capacity.

1.3	 Biodiversity 
Geographic 
Information 
Service (BGIS) 
provides support 
to ensure that 
data and 
information is 
used to support 
planning, 
decision-making 
and monitoring. 

•	 BGIS expanded.
•	 Design and implement a 

web-based land-use planning 
decision support tool. 

•	 BGIS expanded to include additional 
national and provincial maps and 
accompanying information for terrestrial, 
freshwater and marine ecosystems. 

•	 Web-based land-use planning decision 
support tool designed & implemented. 

2008
ongoing

June 2008

1.4 Service-level 
agreements 
established 
with biodiversity 
information- 
generating 
partners through 
the SANBI- 
managed 
network. 

•	 Key data-providing institutions 
identified in terms of data 
priorities. 

•	 Signed agreements in place 
with key institutions. 

•	 Identify key organisations and 
agreements negotiated.

•	 Management network agreements 
signed.

•	 Key components of bird programmes 
delivered. 

Ongoing 

Ongoing

Dec 2009
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No
Strategic

Objectives
Key Performance Indicators 

(KPIs)
Targets

Time 
Frame

Variance and 
Reason for Variance

1.5 Expand and 
support 
knowledge 
and learning 
networks. 

•	 Facilitate	knowledge	
sharing through the 
Biodiversity	Planning	Forum,	
Mainstreaming	Forum,	
Partners’ Conferences for 
bioregional programmes, and 
the Learning Network for 
bioregional programmes using 
C.A.P.E. as a pilot. 

•	 Host annual Biodiversity Planning 
Forum	and	biannual	Mainstreaming	
Forum,	annual	Partners’	Conferences	for	
bioregional programmes.

•	 Learning Network Programme for 
C.A.P.E. established and operational. 

Ongoing 

Aug 2008

1.6 Biodiversity 
science 
information 
from the SANBI 
managed network 
is synthesised 
and packaged 
for dissemination 
to relevant 
stakeholders. 

•	 List of products identified.
•	 Agreements negotiated and 

implemented.
•	 Appropriate products available. 

•	 Process to identify lists concluded.
•	 Identify key partners. 
•	 Set up timeframes for delivery. 

Sep 2008

1.7 Information 
management 
system 
supported by 
effective 
documentation 
and IT systems. 

•	 Complete requirements 
assessment. 

•	 Implement cost-effective 
solution to identified 
requirements. 

•	 Rapid and reliable access 
to internal and external 
electronic networks. 

•	 IT laboratories and institutional 
networks established and functional. 

•	 Skilled staff appointed to respond to IT 
and Data Needs Scenarios presented 
to SANBI Management and Board.

•	 Host permit-issuing workshop. 

Feb/May	
2008 
April 2008 

July 2008

•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	 Workshop did 

not take place. In 
consultation with 
funders (SABI), 
decision taken 
to interact with 
provincial permitting 
authorities through 
DEAT’s Provincial 
Enforcement and 
Permit Committee 
(PEPC).

1.8 The SANBI 
website 
redeveloped 
with a strong 
corporate identity 
and providing 
easy access to 
information on 
biodiversity and 
SANBI activities. 

•	 Look and feel of website 
overhauled.

•	 Functionality	increased	
to provide greater online 
access to information. 

•	 Website design outline completed and 
design consultants appointed. 

•	 New website fully functional. 

Dec 
2008 
Oct 
2008

•	 Website 
completion 
delayed due to 
technical and 
service provider 
challenges. 
Target date 
September 
2009.

2
Goal:  Be a centre of excellence for coordinated research on the composition, value, status, functioning and dynamics of South   
           Africa’s biodiversity. 

2.1 Identify priorities 
for coordinated 
biodiversity 
research 
programmes 
implemented 
through 
a managed 
network. 

•	 National priorities agreed on 
for key research areas.

•	 Institutions involved in 
biodiversity research 
participate in collaborative 
research programmes. 

•	 Develop and implement 
systems for feeding 
information on research needs 
into the biodiversity research 
network. 

•	 Priority-setting processes completed 
for GMOs and sustainable use of 
biodiversity.

•	 Priority setting for other key areas of 
research required by the Biodiversity Act 
and NBSAP take place as required. 

•	 Roles of existing institutions in 
undertaking research are defined. Gaps 
in the research programme are identified 
and a strategy is in place to fill gaps.

•	 A mechanism to coordinate and report 
on research activities is in place. 

•	 A mechanism to feed back to the 
research community is established. 

June 2008 

Ongoing

Dec 2008 

Dec 2008

July 2008
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Strategic
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Key Performance Indicators 

(KPIs)
Targets

Time 
Frame

Variance and 
Reason for Variance

2.2 Develop and 
strengthen 
and promote 
core research 
programmes 
required to 
fulfil SANBI’s 
mandate related 
to taxonomy, 
conservation 
science and 
sustainable use. 

•	 Core research programmes 
are maintained and supported 
within SANBI to provide a 
science base for decision 
making. 

•	 Formal	links	are	established	
with centres of excellence 
undertaking research that 
supports SANBI. 

•	 Research programmes are 
developed for key new areas 
of research not covered by 
centres of excellence (eg. 
GMOs, sustainable use). 

•	 Existing areas of leadership within 
SANBI are maintained, ie. plant 
taxonomy, threatened plants, climate 
change, conservation farming, 
conservation planning, vegetation 
mapping, and molecular systematics. 

•	 Formal	contacts	are	established	with	
centres of excellence undertaking 
research that is relevant to SANBI (eg. 
invasive aliens, rehabilitation).

•	  Project leaders for research on GMOs 
and sustainable use are in place. 

•	 Research strategies and business plans 
for research on GMOs and sustainable 
use are accepted by the Board Advisory 
Committee. 

•	 Research strategies for new areas of 
research are implemented. 

Immediate 

December 
2008 

November 
2008 

December 
2008-
2011 

Dec 2008 
-2011

 

2.3 Establish and
maintain a 
critical
mass of 
expertise
and 
infrastructure for 
leadership and
coordination of
research.

•	 SANBI has sufficient in-
house capacity to ensure 
compliance with the the 
Biodiversity Act.

•	 SANBI is recognised as 
a centre of excellence in 
biodiversity science.

•	 30%	of	research	staff	
are from previously 
disadvantaged backgrounds.

•	 Black scientists fill leadership 
roles.

•	 SANBI’s existing capacity in plant 
taxonomy, threats to biodiversity, and 
conservation planning maintained.

•	
•	 Expanded programmes on aliens, 

sustainable use, rehabilitation and social 
aspects of biodiversity are investigated 
and established where appropriate.

•	 Staff are appointed and trained to 
coordinate key programmes.

•	 Business case for funding new 
research capacity.

•	 Agreements in place for research on 
sustainable use and GMOs.

Ongoing

Dec 2008

April 2008 
ongoing
March 
2009
March 
2009

•	 Appointments 
delayed or posts 
frozen as a result 
of cost-cutting 
measures.

2.4 Maintain an 
organisational 
culture that 
encourages 
research and 
innovation. 

•	 Research delivers products 
that provide innovative 
solutions for the conservation 
and use of biodiversity. 

•	 SANBI attracts and retains 
staff with an innovative 
approach to research. 

•	 Performance plans that focus on 
research productivity and innovation are 
in place, and this emphasis is reflected 
in quarterly and annual reports. 

•	 Management facilitates opportunities 
for scientists to meet regularly with 
research colleagues and attend key 
meetings.

•	 Facilities,	particularly	in	Cape	Town	and	
Pretoria, are designed to encourage 
interaction between research staff and 
other components of SANBI.

•	 Mentorships are designed to link 
researchers with leaders in innovation.

2008 
ongoing

2008 
ongoing

2008 
ongoing

2008 
ongoing

2.5	 SANBI’s 
strategy on 
Natural History 
Collections 
(NHCs) and 
zoological 
systematics 
determined. 

•	 Zoological systematics 
programme funded and 
initiated. 

•	 Develop TORs for 
consultancy to propose future 
scenarios for NHCs. 

•	 Identify NHCs. 
•	 Engage NHC stakeholders in 

process.
•	 Prioritise NHCs for managed 

network expansion. 

•	 Appoint Director of Zoological 
Systematics. 

•	
•	 Scenarios presented to SANBI 

Management and Board.
•	
•	 Further	meetings	to	set	up	strategy	to	

facilitate access to support collections 
expansion.

•	 Select preferred future scenarios from 
analysis of NHCs.

•	 Implement in consultation with NHCs.  

April 2008

Feb/May	
2008

April 2008

•	  Appointed 1 
January 2009.

•	
•	 Scenarios to be 

developed after 
full assessment 
of all NHCs in 
collaboration with 
NRF-appointed	
consultants (April 
2009 – March 
2010).
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Strategic
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Key Performance Indicators 

(KPIs)
Targets

Time 
Frame

Variance and 
Reason for Variance

2.6 Develop capacity 
in Biodiversity 
Science 
focusing on 
designated 
groups. 

•	 30%	of	research	staff	
are from previously 
disadvantaged backgrounds.

•	 Black scientists fill leadership 
roles. 

•	 Students trained in key areas 
of Biodiversity Science. 

•	 Mentoring Programmes 
established to promote 
development and early career 
scientists. 

•	 Internships, studentships, and post-
doctoral fellowship programmes are 
implemented to develop capacity in 
core areas.

•	 Research groups meet Employment 
Equity targets.

•	 Four	Mellon	Foundation	PhD	students	
appointed and complete PhDs.

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing •	 One PhD student 
missed registration 
deadline.

3	
Goal:  Establish a national network of bioregional programmes implementing priority components of the NBSAP effectively  
           mainstreaming biodiversity in development processes. 

3.1	 Mainstream 
biodiversity 
priorities into 
the planning and 
decision-making 
systems of 
organs of state 
and production 
sectors. 

•	 Mainstream biodiversity in 
local government through 
capacity-building projects 
and promoting integration of 
biodiversity information into 
their IDPs.

•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	 Establish expertise 

and provide tools and 
support to provincial 
conservation authorities and 
environmental departments 
on environmental impact 
assessments. 

•	

•	 Provide institutional support 
and advice to provincial 
conservation authorities, on 
request, regarding provincial 
biodiversity plans.

•	 Undertake projects that 
demonstrate the link between 
biodiversity, sustainable 
economic development and 
addressing social needs. 

•	

•	 Establish and promote 
national and sectoral 
good practice biodiversity 
management criteria and 
standards.

•	 Support to organs of state 
to incorporate biodiversity 
into their plans, policies and 
programmes. 

•	
•	

•	 Municipal Biodiversity Profiles produced 
in partnership with DEAT. 

•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	 Roll-out and support for use of 

ecosystem specific guidelines for EIAs. 
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	 Support provided to Limpopo, North 

West, Eastern Cape, Northern Cape and 
Free	State	via	meetings	and	technical	
working sessions.

•	 Environmental Assessment Unit Small 
EIA support unit established at SANBI. 

•	 Complete biodiversity and poverty 
project initiated in collaboration with 
CSIR. 

•	

•	 Good practice criteria and standards 
developed. 

•	

•	

•	 Provide inputs to plans, policies and 
programmes where required. 

Jun 2008 
-Jun 2009 

Dec 2008 
ongoing 

April 2008 

Dec 2008 

Dec 2008 

Dec 2008 
ongoing

Ongoing

•	 Project delayed 
due to capacity 
constraints. 
Appointed 
Municipal 
Biodiversity 
Advisor in 
July 2008 to 
coordinate project 
which is currently 
under way.

•	
•	 Environmental 

Assessment 
Manager 
responsible for 
targets appointed 
in December 
2008 but funding 
required to develop 
guidelines. 
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Strategic
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Key Performance Indicators 

(KPIs)
Targets

Time 
Frame

Variance and 
Reason for Variance

3.2	 National, 
regional and 
local biodiversity 
management 
priorities 
are explicitly 
identified based 
on sound 
science and 
with stakeholder 
participation. 

•	 Spatial analysis and advice 
on revisions of the National 
Protected Area Expansion 
Strategy. 

•	 Develop approaches for 
integrating freshwater and 
terrestrial planning. 

•	 National spatial biodiversity 
priorities revised incorporating 
the new landcover. 

•	 National marine spatial and 
thematic biodiversity priorities 
updated.  National wetland 
inventory data accessible via 
biodiversity GIS website. 

•	 National estuarine priorities 
revised. 

•	 Systematic biodiversity plans 
developed to inform spatial 
development frameworks 
at provincial and local 
government levels. 

•	 Remote-sensing capabilities 
developed. 

•	 Protected area expansion 
recommendations submitted to DEAT. 

•	 Spatial analysis and advice provided as 
required. 

•	 Methodologies documented and 
distributed. 

•	 Maps of marine priority areas refined.

•	

•	 Wetland inventory data refined and 
updated. 

•	

•	

•	 Revised list of priority estuaries. 

•	 Pilot projects implemented in priority 
areas. 

•	

•	

•	 Remote-sensing unit established. 

Sept 2008 

March 
2009

March 
2009 

Dec 2008 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

March 
2009 

3.3	 Strengthen 
Bioregional 
and Ecosystem 
Programmes. 

•	 Strengthening bioregional 
coordination units and 
provision	of	MTEF	support	for	
core functions. 

•	 Leverage additional resources 
for biodiversity management 
within the relevant bioregion 
and promote optimum 
application of these 
resources according to 
agreed strategies and, where 
appropriate, high-level MOUs.

•	 Grasslands Programme 
funding for implementation 
secured. 

•	 Grasslands Programme 
implementation effective. 

•	 C.A.P.E. Programme 
Implementation effective. 

•	 SKEP Programme 
Implementation effective. 

•	 STEP Programme 
Implementation effective. 

•	 Marine ecosystem 
programme designed and 
implementation effective.

•	 Freshwater	ecosystem	
programme designed and 
implementation effective.

•	 National monitoring and 
evaluation system adopted 
and implemented by each 
bioregional programme. 

•	 Coordination unit functions clarified and 
core	operation	supported	by	MTEF	for	
bioregional programmes. 

•	 Funding	leveraged	via	bioregional	
programmes, high level MOUs. 

•	 GEF	funding	secured.	

•	 Additional donor funding secured for 
Grasslands Programme.

•	 Grasslands project reports. 
•	

•	 C.A.P.E. project reports. 

•	

•	 SKEP project reports.

•	 STEP project reports. 

•	 Marine ecosystem programme proposal 
and project reports.

•	

•	 Freshwater	ecosystem	programme	
proposal and project reports. 

•	 M&E reports produced by programmes. 

March 
2010 

Ongoing 

July 2008 

Dec 2008 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

April 2008 
ongoing 

March 
2009 
ongoing

Annually 
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Time 
Frame
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3.4	 Establish new 
Bioregional 
& Ecosystem 
Programmes 

•	 Establishment of freshwater 
collaboration. 

•	 Investigate establishment 
of new programme in 
Umzimvubu catchment. 

•	 Coordination Unit established. 
•	
•	 Meeting minutes and reports. 

Sep 2008 

March 
2010 

•	Redesign of 
the National 
Freshwater	
Biodiversity 
Collaboration 
(NFBC)	will	form	
part of the strategy 
formulation process 
for	the	Freshwater	
Programme, rather 
than proceeding 
with the original 
design of the 
NFBC	in	isolation	
from the broader 
freshwater process. 
Funds	allocated	
to	NFBC	for	
2008/9	committed	
to freshwater 
component of 
NSBA. 

4 
Goal:  Provide support to government on biodiversity-related obligations and opportunities nationally and in SADC, NEPAD  
           and multilateral environmental agreements. 

4.1 Logistical and 
administrative 
support for 
the Scientific 
Authority is 
in place. 

•	 The Scientific Authority 
complies with CITES 
regulations. 

•	 The scientific information 
required by the Scientific 
Authority is coordinated 
through the SANBI managed 
network. 

•	 Research projects set up to 
support non-detriment findings 
and quotas.

•	 Business case for the Scientific 
Authority completed. 

•	 Coordinator for the Scientific Authority 
appointed. 

•	 Secretariat and support for the Scientific 
Authority implemented and operating 
effectively. 

•	 Analysis of existing data for non-
detriment findings completed.

•	 Priority needs for scientific advice (e.g. 
non-detriment findings) identified and a 
network of scientists established. 

Oct 2008 

Jan 2008 

March 
2009 

Dec 2008 

Sep 2008 

•	 Framework	for	
business case 
for the Scientific 
Authority 
completed. 

4.2 Establish a well- 
resourced unit 
to coordinate 
information and 
advise on the 
environmental 
impacts of GMOs. 

•	 A GMO monitoring 
programme, linked to the 
research programme, is 
established. 

•	 Development of partnerships 
to resource research and 
technical capacity and 
information. 

•	 Rapid response to requests 
from the Minister, DEAT 
and others for advice on 
the environmental impact of 
GMOs. 

•	 Determine the scope and function of 
the unit. 

•	 MTEF	funding	sourced	to	support	
activities of unit. 

•	 A leader for unit identified and 
appointed. 

•	 A database of existing research 
expertise and projects being conducted 
on the environmental impacts of GMOs 
established. 

•	 Strategic plan prepared to guide the 
functioning and development of the unit 
to identify staff and resources required.

•	 Necessary staff appointed. 
•	 Requests for information responded 

to through consultation with research 
capacity in SANBI and in other 
institutions. 

•	 Develop a framework for reporting on 
GMOs. 

•	 Priority issues requiring research 
identified either by SANBI or other 
institutions and assistance provided in 
the sourcing of funding to support this 
research. 

April 2008 

2008 

June 2008 
Ongoing 

April 2008 

July 2008 
2008 
ongoing 

2008 
ongoing 
2008 
ongoing 

•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	

•	 GMO monitoring 
unit not fully 
established. 

•	 One staff member 
appointed. 
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4.3	 SANBI to 
participate in 
NEPAD activities 
related to 
invasive species 
and GMO 
activities. 

•	 Effective links with NEPAD 
relating to invasive species 
and risk assessments for 
GMOs. 

•	 Engagement with alien invasive species 
programme. 

•	 Processes to secure funding to 
implement priority projects initiated. 

•	 Necessary support provided to DEAT. 

July 2008 

•	 Extensive support 
provided to DEAT. 

4.4 Support 
integration of 
biodiversity 
into policy-
development 
process of 
government. 

•	 Establish SANBI capacity 
to provide the special 
competence required to 
bridge science, development 
and environment policy. 

•	 Advice on appropriate policy 
responses to the findings 
of biodiversity reporting 
delivered.

•	 Produce periodic SANBI 
Policy Briefs on key 
biodiversity policy issues, 
intended primarily for policy 
makers and decision makers 
outside the biodiversity sector. 

•	 Ensure that national biofuels 
strategy takes biodiversity 
considerations and 
environmental sustainability 
into account. 

•	 Ensure that emerging 
agricultural policies 
incorporate biodiversity 
considerations. 

•	 Engage with key ASGISA 
projects that have potential to 
demonstrate biodiversity best 
practice. 

•	 Engage with Treasury’s 
environmental fiscal reform 
process and provide 
biodiversity-related advice. 

•	 Policy unit fully functional (policy 
options analysis, instruments 
development including market-
based instruments, regulatory impact 
assessment and cost-benefit analyses). 

•	 Policy Briefing documents prepared.
•	 Policy Briefing series widely distributed.

•	 Engage with the development and 
implementation of the national biofuels 
strategy.

•	 Develop requirements for the 
development of guidelines on ‘green 
biofuels’ for prospective investors and 
producers of biofuels and for regulators.

•	 Provide input to Department of 
Agriculture on SUPAR Bill, game 
farming policy, and range and forage 
policy emphasising opportunities 
for mutual reinforcement between 
biodiversity and agricultural priorities.

•	 Provide advice and guidance on 
biodiversity best practice to ASGISA 
projects on request.

•	 Participate in Treasury’s environmental 
fiscal reform process and provide 
written inputs. 

April 2008 

Ongoing 
Ongoing 

Ongoing 

June 
2008 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Dec 2008 

•	 Pending outcome 
of the review 
of SANBI’s 
publications 
currently under 
way. This will help 
to determine the 
objectives and 
scope of the Policy 
Brief series.

•	 Biofuels industry 
still in early stages 
and most useful 
form of guidelines 
not yet clear. Some 
environmental 
considerations 
taken into account 
in the Biofuels 
Industrial Strategy, 
finalised in 
December 2007, 
but substantial 
concerns remain.

4.5	 Support 
implementation 
of	Chapter	3	of	
the Biodiversity 
Act. 

•	 Bioregional plans published 
for districts that fall within 
or overlap with national 
biodiversity priority areas 
(NSBA). 

•	 Establish and convene review 
panel for bioregional plans. 

•	 Provide advice to provinces wanting 
to publish bioregional plans, including 
interpretation and application of the 
Guideline for Norms and Standards for 
Publishing Bioregional Plans.

•	 Review panel for bioregional plans 
established, and convened as needed. 

•	 Four	bioregional	plans	reviewed	by	
panel and gazetted by Minister. 

Ongoing 

Oct 2008 
ongoing 

•	 Guideline for 
Publishing 
Bioregional Plans 
only gazetted by 
DEAT in March 
2009. Therefore 
no bioregional 
plans were ready 
to be published in 
2008/9.	However,	
a number have 
been initiated. The 
review panel will 
be established 
when the first 
plans are ready for 
review. 
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4.6 Support listing 
of threatened 
or protected 
ecosystems in 
terms of the 
Biodiversity Act. 

•	 Support DEAT in phased 
development of finalising 
initial published list of 
ecosystems for annual 
publishing. 

•	 Assist provincial conservation 
authorities with the 
application of criteria to 
identify and map ecosystems 
for listing. 

•	 Develop supporting materials 
to accompany list of 
ecosystems.

•	 Hold information-sharing 
workshops or meetings 
on listed ecosystems for 
organised industry and other 
organs of state. 

•	 Investigate options for 
aligning activities of Working 
for Water, Working for 
Wetlands and other relevant 
programme activities with 
listed ecosystems. 

•	 Refine criteria, conduct analysis and 
provide DEAT with regular additions 
to the national list of threatened and 
protected ecosystems for marine, 
freshwater and terrestrial environments. 

•	 Technical support provided to provinces. 

•	

•	

•	 Supporting materials published. 
•	
•	

•	 Workshops or meetings hosted as 
required. 

•	 Meetings held with relevant structures. 

•	

•	 Publish synthesis of species and 
ecosystem research results. 

Annually 
ongoing 

Annually

Nov 2008

Jun 2008- 
Dec 2009

Ongoing 

June 
2009 

4.7 Develop norms 
and standards 
for 
biodiversity 
management 
plans for 
ecosystems in 
terms of the 
Biodiversity Act. 

•	 Support DEAT in developing 
norms and standards for 
development of biodiversity 
management plans for 
ecosystems. 

•	 Publish norms, standards and 
regulations for biodiversity management 
plans for ecosystems. 

March 
2009 

•	 Decision taken in 
consultation with 
DEAT to delay 
development of 
these norms and 
standards until 
2009/10,	as	a	
result of capacity 
constraints.

4.8 Support listing 
of threatened 
or protected 
species in 
terms of the 
Biodiversity Act. 

•	 Provide advice and updates 
to DEAT on gazetted list of 
threatened and protected 
species. 

•	 Regular database extracts as required. 2008 
ongoing

•	 DEAT has not 
requested SANBI’s 
assistance with 
updating the list 
of threatened and 
protected species.

4.9 Support for 
other DEAT 
policy initiatives 
and cooperative 
governance 
structures. 

•	 Establish SANBI’s role and 
relevant activities regarding 
hunting quotas. 

•	 Establish SANBI’s role and 
implement relevant activities 
regarding Invasive Alien 
Species regulations. 

•	 Establish SANBI’s role and 
implement relevant activities 
regarding GMO policy. 

•	 Provide biodiversity input 
on environmental legislation 
as required by Integrated 
Coastal Management Bill. 

•	 Provide ad hoc advice and 
input as requested by DEAT.

•	 Participate in environment 
cooperative governance 
structures. 

•	 Deliver relevant advisory services as 
identified by DEAT.

•	

•	 Relevant SANBI capacity in place as 
required. 

•	

•	 Relevant SANBI capacity in place as 
required. 

•	
•	
•	 Participate in meetings and submit 

written comments.

•	

•	 Ongoing advice to DEAT on biodiversity 
matters.

•	 Attend quarterly meetings of 
Biodiversity working group, CEC, 
MinTech and MinMEC. 

April 2008 
ongoing

March 
2009 

Dec 2008 
ongoing

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Quarterly
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4.10 SANBI support 
for international 
environmental 
governance 
is provided 
(including 
MEAs, CBD, 
Ramsar, CCD, 
World Heritage, 
GSPC, GTI, GISP, 
UNFCCC	and	
IUCN). 

•	 SANBI accessed as a 
preferred source of expertise 
and advice on biodiversity- 
related issues. 

•	Attend	specialist	meetings/workshops	as	
required. 

•	Technical input and guidance to 
government negotiating teams provided 
as required. 

•	Participation in relevant MEA meetings.
•	Attend quarterly meetings of DEAT 

international coordinating committee. 

2008 
ongoing 
2008 
ongoing 

2008 
ongoing 
Quarterly

5	 Goal:  Develop and manage a system of national botanical gardens representative of the South African flora. 

5.1	 Provide 
necessary 
facilities and 
programmes 
for National 
Botanical 
Gardens (NBGs) 
to serve as 
key nature- 
based tourism 
destinations. 

•	 Increased	income	(10%	per	
annum) through new tourism- 
related infrastructure and 
programmes in NBGs. 

•	 Improved security systems 
within NBGs. 

•	 At	least	two	social/cultural	
events held in each NBG per 
annum. 

•	 NBGs widely recognised as 
key local tourist destinations. 

•	 Websites regularly updated 
and improved. 

•	Funding	sourced	to	develop	required	
tourism-related	facilities	in	NBGs.	R30m	
application made to EPWP from 2008 
to 2010. 

•	New facilities commissioned in NBGs. 
•	Appropriate security systems in place in 

each NBG. 
•	Representative infrastructure, 

demonstration gardens and interpretive 
signage present in Gardens. 

•	Regular updates and contribution of 
Gardens to SANBI website and Garden 
information on BGCI website. 

•	Gardens promoted as local tourist 
destinations. 

•	Social and cultural events in the NBGs 
relevant to South Africa’s diverse cultures. 

2008-
2010 

Ongoing 
Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing

•	 Funding	
applications made 
to EPWP for new 
tourism-related 
facilities but no 
new project funds 
committed by DEAT 
towards SANBI’s 
NBGs.

5.2 Expansion of 
existing	NBG/
biodiversity 
reserve network. 

•	 New	Gardens/biodiversity	
reserves established in the 
Northern Cape, Eastern Cape 
and Limpopo provinces. 

•	 Expansion of existing NBGs, 
where relevant. 

•	Possible	sites	for	new	Gardens/
biodiversity reserves in the Northern 
Cape, Eastern Cape and Limpopo 
Province identified and evaluated. 

•	Feasibility	studies	commissioned	on	
proposed sites. 

•	Necessary legal requirements for new 
Gardens/reserves	complied	with.	

•	Necessary funding sourced for 
establishment	of	new	Gardens/reserves.	

•	New	Garden/biodiversity	reserve	in	
Northern Cape declared. 

•	New	Garden/biodiversity	reserve	in	
Eastern Cape declared. 

•	Explore opportunities to expand natural 
areas in existing NBGs (Harold Porter & 
Walter Sisulu NBGs). 

2008-
2009 

2008-
2009 
2008-
2009 
2008 
ongoing 
2008-
2009 
2008-
2009 
2008-
2009 

5.3	 Increase ex situ 
collections to 
45%	of	
South Africa’s 
indigenous flora. 

•	 45%	of	South	Africa’s	plant	
taxa represented in NBGs. 

•	 Management plans in place 
for all natural areas included 
in NBGs.

•	 Maintenance or continuance 
programmes in place for all 
conservation collections within 
NBGs. 

•	NBG plant collections computerised. 
•	
•	Electronically map facilities and services 

in all NBGs. 
•	Management plans for associated natural 

areas in NBGs developed. 
•	Gap analysis of plants in cultivation in 

NBGs and South Africa’s flora. 
•	Collecting areas for NBGs reviewed. 
•	Plant taxa to be sourced and added to 

selected ex situ collections. 
•	Maintenance or continuance programmes 

developed and updated for all key 
conservation collections within NBGs. 

March 
2009 
2008 

2008 

2008 

Oct 2008 
2008 
ongoing 
April 2008 

•	Garden Records 
Database still 
being completed 
by SANBI’s K&IM 
section. 

•	Facilities	and	
services in NBGs 
not electronically 
mapped due to lack 
of required funds.

•	Management plans 
developed for 
Hantam	and	Free	
State NBGs as 
models for other 
NBGs.
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5.4	 Play a key role 
in supporting 
the initiation and 
development of 
other African 
botanical gardens 
and international 
networks. 

•	Representation and 
participation in continental 
and international botanical 
garden meetings. 

•	Coordination and monitoring 
of southern African botanical 
gardens. 

•	Support provided, when requested, to 
other African botanical gardens and 
the African Botanic Gardens Network 
Secretariat. 

•	Represent southern Africa on the African 
Botanic Gardens Network Steering 
Committee. 

•	NBGs represented at relevant African 
and international botanical garden 
meetings and congresses. 

•	Progress with the implementation of 
the African Botanic Gardens Network. 
Targets monitored and evaluated on an 
annual basis. 

•	Contributions made in African 
and international botanical garden 
publications. 

2008 
ongoing 

2008 
ongoing 

Annually 

Annually 

Biannually, 
quarterly 

5.5	 Achieve a 
significant 
improvement of 
quality of 
horticultural 
collections. 

•	Horticultural training 
programmes continually 
evaluated, implemented and 
improved. 

•	Standard of horticultural 
collections improved. 

•	Horticultural skills training implemented 
across NBGs. 

•	Horticultural staff supported, where 
appropriate, for National Diplomas 
in Horticulture and relevant higher 
degrees. 

•	Regular review of NBGs’ horticultural 
and conservation collections. 

•	Horticultural internships and training 
programmes continued in all NBGs. 

•	Plantspeople skilled in the cultivation 
and propagation of South Africa’s 
indigenous plants sourced and 
developed. 

2008 
ongoing 

2008 
ongoing 

2008 
ongoing 

Annually 

2008 
ongoing 

5.6	 Expand ex situ 
collections 
to	50%	of	
South Africa’s 
threatened plants 
and support 
integrated 
conservation 
programmes. 

•	Plant Conservation Strategy 
(2008-2010) for the NBGs 
in place. 

•	50%	of	South	Africa’s	
threatened plants in NBG 
collections	and/or	the	
Millennium Seed Bank (MSB) 
(UK). 

•	
•	90%	of	Critically	Endangered	

South African plant taxa in 
NBG	collections	and/or	the	
MSB (UK). 

•	100%	of	Extinct	in	the	Wild	
South African plants held in 
NBGs	and/or	the	MSB	(UK).	

•	Regular monitoring and 
evaluation of progress 
with implementation of 
the International Agenda 
for Botanic Gardens in 
Conservation. 

•	Back-up collections of 
threatened plants in other 
NBGs and the MSB. 

•	Plant Conservation Strategy for NBGs 
(2008-2010) developed and approved. 

•	Comprehensive inventory of the status 
and collections of threatened plants held 
in NBGs. 

•	Threatened plants to be incorporated into 
NBG collections targeted and sourced. 

•	Information on the propagation and 
cultivation of threatened South African 
plant taxa published and exchanged. 

•	
•	
•	

•	Review the implementation of the 
International Agenda for Botanic 
Gardens in Conservation within NBGs. 

•	Back-up collections of threatened 
plants cultivated in NBGs stored in the 
MSB. 

•	Continued implementation of 
integrated threatened plant 
programmes in each NBG. 

October 
2008 

December 
2008 

2008 
ongoing 

2008 
ongoing 

Annually 

2008 
ongoing 

2008 
ongoing 

•	Draft Plant 
Conservation 
Strategy in place. 
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6 
Goal:  Monitor and report on the status of biodiversity in South Africa and be the preferred national resource for guidelines, tools and 
           information on best practices relating to the identification and conservation of threatened species and ecosystems, the 
           sustainable use of biodiversity and marine living resources, and the impact of invasive alien species. 

6.1 Establish 
a rigorous 
monitoring 
and reporting 
framework to 
provide regular 
reports on 
the state of 
biodiversity and 
biodiversity 
management in 
South Africa as 
interpreted from 
the Biodiversity 
Act. 

•	Provide a summary report on 
the state of biodiversity, based 
on headline indicators, for the 
Minister. 

•	Determine reporting protocols 
(formats, timeframes, due 
dates) for monitoring and 
reporting outlined in the 
Biodiversity Act. 

•	Produce an up-to-date 
and well maintained set 
of biodiversity headline 
indicators. 

•	Produce annual biodiversity 
indicator reports. 

•	Biodiversity status 
incorporated into the national 
State of Environment 
reports, CBD COP, 
biodiversity management 
plans, bioregional plans and 
programme strategies and 
other reports and strategies 
as required. 

•	Support StatsSA on the 
National Resource Accounts. 

•	Summary report delivered to Minister. 
•	
•	Refine headline indicator sets, populate 

progressively and update indicators 
annually. 

•	Populate indicators where possible. 
•	Indicators incorporated to address 

monitoring gaps and strategy developed 
to collect data for data gaps. 

•	

•	

•	Annual indicator reports. 

•	Provide information for reports on 
biodiversity as required. 

•	4th Country Report to the CBD produced 
and submitted to DEAT. 

•	Attend Technical Task Team Meetings 
and provide ad hoc technical support as 
requested on Biodiversity and Land Account.

April 2008 
annually 
April 2008 
ongoing 

April 2008 
ongoing 

 Sept 2008 
ongoing 
Ongoing 

March/
June 2009 

Ongoing

•	 Re-assessment 
of reporting 
requirements and 
most appropriate 
reporting vehicle 
under way, including 
alignment with 
NSBA 2010. 

6.2 Strengthen the 
Threatened 
Species 
Programme. 

•	Conduct Red List assessment 
for plants and major animal 
groups. 

•	Provide liaison and lesson 
sharing on threatened species 
within SADC region through 
the Southern African Red List 
Authority. 

•	Expand civil society 
involvement in species 
monitoring and sustainable 
use programmes (especially 
traditional healers). 

•	Plant Red List assessment updated 
regularly. 

•	Reptiles Red List assessment completed 
(through managed network partner UCT). 

•	Marine Red List assessment scope 
defined and initiated. 

•	Fungi	and	lower	plants	assessments	
initiated. 

•	Additional animal groups for Red Listing 
assessments identified. 

•	Workshops held as required. 

Dec 2008 
ongoing 
Dec 2009 

June 2008 

June 2009 

June 2009 

Ongoing 

6.3.	 Formalise	
linkages with 
SAEON and 
BIOTA, and set 
up on long-term 
sites as part of 
a programme 
of long-term 
monitoring and 
research. 

•	Relationship with SAEON 
formalised. 

•	
•	SANBI role in BIOTA 

confirmed.
•	Monitoring sites established. 

•	SAEON	Fynbos	node	operational.	
•	SAEON	Fynbos	node	partnerships	

established and effective. 
•	BIOTA projects deliver final results. 

April 2008 
June 2009 

Dec 2009 

7. 
Goal:  Implement rehabilitation programmes that systematically target threatened ecosystems while supporting the goals of  
           the Expanded Public Works Programme. 

7.1 Rehabilitation 
interventions 
conducted in 
sites identified 
using strategic 
and systematic 
approaches 
reflecting 
biodiversity and 
social development 
priorities. 

•	National spatial framework for 
wetland rehabilitation in place. 

•	Integrated (ecological, 
hydrological, social and 
institutional) planning process 
for wetland rehabilitation 
projects in place. 

•	Provincial-scale spatial plans for wetland 
rehabilitation in place. 

•	Systematic rehabilitation planning process 
for 2009-2010 completed. 

July 2008 

January 
2009 
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7.2 Multifaceted 
programmes 
for ecosystem 
rehabilitation, 
greening and 
combating land 
degradation 
will maximise 
employment 
creation, skills 
transfer and 
SMME creation 
and comply 
with Expanded 
Public Works 
Programme 
requirements. 

•	
•	
•	
•	

•	 At least one comprehensive 
large-scale ecosystem 
rehabilitation programme 
operational. 

•	 DEAT contribution to the 
Expanded Public Works 
Programme significantly 
boosted through operation of 
rehabilitation programmes. 

•	 Labour-intensive approaches 
used wherever appropriate. 

•	 Working for Wetlands budget secured 
for a three-year period and increased by 
10%	annually	for	2008–2009	and	by	
R30m	by	2010.	

•	 105	wetlands	rehabilitated	in	2008-
2009.	340,000	person	days	of	
employment	provided,	including	34,000	
training days. 

April 2008 

March 
2009 

•	 Targets scaled 
down to fit 
available budget 
of	R75	million.	
Some projects 
did not complete 
all deliverables 
due to adverse 
weather conditions 
and capacity 
constraints. 

7.3	 SANBI is 
established as 
an economical, 
efficient and 
effective 
implementer 
of ecosystem 
rehabilitation 
projects. 

•	 Diverse portfolio of 
rehabilitation projects and 
programmes successfully 
implemented by SANBI. 

•	 All ecosystem rehabilitation projects 
implemented on time and within 
brief and budget while maximising 
employment and training opportunities. 

•	 SANBI’s portfolio of rehabilitation 
projects and programmes expanded by 
50%.	

By end 
of each 
financial 
year 

March 
2009 

7.4 In partnership 
with DEAT, 
substantially 
expand SANBI’s 
outreach 
greening 
programme into 
the Integrated 
Sustainable 
Rural 
Development 
Programme and 
Urban Renewal 
nodes. 

•	 Coherent multifaceted 
greening programme 
operational in nodes. 

•	 All greening projects 
implemented on time, within 
brief and budget. 

•	 SANBI appointed to implement 
systematic greening programmes in 
ISRD and UR nodes. 

•	 Node	specific	greening/rehabilitation	
plans complete. 

Jan 2008 

July 2008 

7.5	 Sustainable 
biodiversity-
based livelihoods 
established using 
rehabilitation 
programmes. 

•	 Permanent jobs created 
through integration of 
opportunities for biodiversity-
based livelihoods into 
rehabilitation projects. 

•	 Opportunities to link rehabilitation 
projects to biodiversity-based livelihoods 
identified. 

•	 Projects externally evaluated as 
sustainable and successful. 

June 2008 

March 
2009

•	 Partnership with 
WESSA for wise-
use not yet fully 
established. As 
a result enabling 
conditions are 
not in place for 
implementation of 
pilot projects.
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8 Goal: Inspire and empower people to take responsibility for conservation and sustainable use of our biodiversity. 

Marketing 

8.1 Marketing and 
communication 
strategies will be 
implemented to 
address target 
market segments 
in rural and urban 
communities. 

•	
•	 A professionally formulated 

and implemented marketing 
strategy with offerings to 
relevant key target market 
segments. 

•	 SANBI recognised by key 
strategic partners and target 
market segments as a key 
role-player in SA biodiversity. 

•	 Improved interest levels among 
target publics about the 
activities of SANBI and about 
the importance of biodiversity 
as part of our natural heritage. 

•	 Coordinated communication 
activities. 

Marketing strategy 
•	Key market segments prioritised and 

served optimally with appropriate market 
offerings	using	appropriate	channels/
tools. 

•	Finalisation	of	marketing	strategy	and	
implementation. 

•	Strategic partnerships and cooperations 
entered into to achieve the marketing 
objectives. 

•	The human resources and financial 
capacity of the Directorate: Marketing 
and Communications increased to be 
better positioned to implement strategies. 

•	Corporate communication strategy 
including crisis communication protocol 
developed and implemented. 

•	Event management capacity developed. 

April 2008 
reviewed 
annually 

July 2008 

May 2008 
ongoing 

April 2008 
and as 
needed 

April 
2008 and 
annually

•	Marketing Director 
only appointed 
in July 2008. 
An extensive 
familiarisation 
process took 
place. Marketing 
strategic framework 
developed in March 
2009.

•	Communications 
strategic framework 
developed in March 
2009.

•	Event management 
capacity still being 
developed.

8.2 Conceptualise 
and implement 
promotional 
programmes 
targeting 
prioritised market 
segments with 
a view to raising 
awareness, 
interest and 
action. 

•	 Raised levels of active 
participation and positive 
response by prioritised target 
markets in promotional 
activities during enviro-tour 
calendar days. 

•	 At least one sponsor per 
promotional campaign. 

•	 Promotional programmes and 
promotional material developed based 
on enviro-tour calendar. 

•	 Sponsorships for promotional activities 
sourced. 

•	 Promotional programme for internal staff 
implemented. 

•	 Linkages with key government activities 
established. 

August 
2008 and 
annually 
Aug 2008 - 
2009 
As per 
calendar;  
2008-
2010

 

8.3	 Existing and 
new tourism 
products in NBGs 
marketed. 

•	 20%	increase	in	NBG	visits	
by 2010.

•	 Increase of visitors per NBG. 
•	 Improved visitor and client 

services. 

•	 Marketing strategy and action plans 
developed and implemented (with 
appropriate resources) for each NBG. 

•	 Marketing audit completed. 
•	 Marketing nodal points established 

in NBGs to implement marketing 
strategies. 

•	 Up-to-date facilities and customer 
service training implemented for frontline 
staff. 

Annual 

April 2008 

Ongoing

•	Total visitor numbers 
received during the 
2008/9	financial	
year were  
1,188,847, an overall 
4.5%	decrease	on	
the	2007/8	financial	
year. Largely 
influenced by the 
8.5%	decrease	in	
visitor numbers to 
Kirstenbosch. Visitor 
numbers impacted 
at Kirstenbosch by 
20%	reduction	in	
international visitors, 
no international 
concerts, no Easter 
weekend and the 
wettest winter 
experienced in the 
past 20 years.

8.4 SANBI brand 
recognition 
established 
amongst key 
stakeholders. 

•	 SANBI style guide delivered 
and used internally. 

•	 SANBI brand successfully 
positioned in the minds of 
target markets. 

•	 Corporate	identity	manual/style	guide	
and templates for SANBI developed. 

•	 Generic corporate identity collateral 
developed. 

•	 Use of brand in all points-of-contact with 
public. 

June 2008 

Oct 2008 
ongoing 
Ongoing 
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8.5	 Positive 
stakeholder 
relations are 
maintained and 
expanded. 

•	 Positive image of SANBI 
among its key target publics 
translated into support of 
SANBI activities. 

•	 Internal SANBI staff fully 
aware of promotional activities 
and taking part in them. 

•	 Stakeholder	relationship	programme/
Customer Relationship Programme 
(CRM) established. 

•	 Events held targeting: 
•	media, government, tourism authorities 
•	science, research fraternity, 

environmental conservation 
organisations 

•	donors, sponsors, funders, local rural 
and urban communities, business, 
internal staff members.

•	 Newsletters, newsflashes, annual review, 
notice boards prepared. 

June 2008 
ongoing 

June 2008 
ongoing 

Quarterly/
annually/as	
required. 

Education

8.6 Biodiversity 
Education and 
Empowerment 
(BEE) strategy 
implemented 
that addresses 
priority sectors 
of government 
and civil society 
(municipalities 
and local 
communities). 

•	 Appropriate BEE programmes 
delivered to identified target 
groups. 

•	 The developed BEE strategy translated 
into an implementation plan.

•	 Key target groups identified. 
•	 Needs identified through a needs 

analysis. 
•	 Resource materials developed. 
•	 Existing BEE programmes reviewed and 

revised where necessary. 

2008 
ongoing 

8.7 There will be 
indigenous 
gardens in at 
least 100 schools 
and at least 
five community 
gardens e.g. 
in households, 
churches, police 
stations, etc., 
around each 
school within a 
30	km	radius	
of each of the 
existing NBGs 
and in areas 
where there are 
no NBGs. 

•	 Indigenous gardens in at 
least 60 schools and at least 
five	community	structures/
households around each 
school.  

•	 An implementation plan developed. 
•	 Selection criteria identified. 
•	 Schools identified. 
•	 Households identified. 
•	 Greening activities in selected schools 

and households initiated. 
•	 Strong partnerships developed with 

district, provincial, national and local 
government structures as well as with 
international structures. 

•	 Through the Expanded Public Works 
Programme initiate Outreach Greening 
and Education Programmes in Limpopo, 
North West, KwaZulu-Natal and 
strengthen such programmes in the 
Eastern and Northern Cape.  

2008 
ongoing 
 

8.8 State-of-the-art 
interpretation 
programmes 
support the 
strategic 
objectives of 
SANBI, especially 
the value of 
biodiversity to 
people. 

•	 Interpretation activities that 
will be used to raise public 
awareness and to market 
SANBI programmes and 
educate around general 
biodiversity issues.

•	 Structure and content of the 
interpretation boards is in line with the 
BEE activities done in schools and 
communities. 

•	 Interpretation boards for indigenous 
gardens developed through the SANBI 
Outreach Greening Programme.

2008 
ongoing

8.9 At	least	60%	
of school visits 
to NBGs result 
in measurable 
action in school 
and communities. 

•	 A	monitoring	and	evaluation/
tracking (M&E) system to 
evaluate SANBI’s BEE 
programmes. 

•	 M&E system to be developed.
•	 M&E system to be tested and 

implemented throughout the existing 
outreach and education programmes.

•	 Gaps identified in the M&E system 
reviewed and filled.

•	 Continuous implementation of the M&E 
system.

April 2008 
April 2008 
- Mar 2010 

2008 - Mar 
2010 

•	 M&E tracking 
system not 
developed due 
to lack of funds. 
Dependent on 
mobilising of funds. 
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8.10 Initiate greening 
initiatives in 
provinces 
where there are 
no botanical 
gardens and 
where there 
are botanical 
gardens but 
with no BEE 
programmes. 

•	 Schools and community 
greening projects identified 
and initiated in Northern 
Cape, Eastern Cape, 
KwaZulu-Natal, North West 
and Limpopo Provinces. 

•	 Identification of potential greening 
projects. 

•	 Stakeholder liaison. 
•	 Ensure sufficient resources and that 

these resources are allocated as per 
need. 

•	 Initiation of greening activities in 
identified areas. 

•	 Lobbying active involvement of the 
Department of Education in the 
monitoring and support of the schools’ 
greening programmes. 

2009-
2010 

8.11 Initiate BEE in 
the KZN, Karoo 
Desert and 
Harold Porter 
NBGs. •	 BEE programmes that 

address the needs of the 
KZN and Western Cape 
Departments of Education, 
educators and learners. 

•	 Stakeholder liaison. 

•	 Fundraising.

•	 Initiation of education programmes 
through the Expanded Public Works 
Programmes and other means as 
identified. 

•	 Monitoring and evaluation of 
programmes. 

•	 Increase the capacity of the Education 
Directorate to implement these 
programmes. 

2008-
2010 
2008-
2010 
2008-
2009 

April 2008 
-March 
2010 

•	 Programme 
initiated but not 
on  sustained 
basis due to lack 
of funding for 
permanent staff 
in KZN and Karoo 
Desert NBGs. 

9. 
Goal:  Be a vibrant organisation, building national professional capacity in biodiversity that closely reflects the demography of South 
           Africa. 

9.1 An 
organisational 
culture of 
innovation 
and learning 
establishes 
SANBI as an 
employer of 
choice. 

•	 Competent and motivated 
staff. 

•	 Best practices implemented. 
•	 Informed staff. 
•	 High quality service delivery.
•	 Low staff turnover. 
•	 Shared vision and values. 

•	 Attract, develop and retain a new 
generation of biodiversity professionals. 
Review existing employee attraction 
practices. 

•	 Review organisational establishment 
and design. 

•	 Conduct job profiling and workforce 
planning. 

•	 Develop a culture of lifelong learning 
through career development practices 
and staff bursary schemes. 

•	 Ensure multiple communication 
channels. 

•	 Alignment of organisational values to 
individual contributions. 

•	 Benchmark best practices. 
•	 Improve service delivery. 

April 2008 
ongoing 
June 
2008 

2008-
2009 
April 2008 
ongoing 
June 
2008 
ongoing 

Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 

•	 Lower intake 
than target for 
experiential 
learning students 
due to budget 
constraints. 

9.2 SANBI will 
be a model 
biodiversity 
institution as 
a result of 
successful 
change, 
transformation 
and 
programmes. 

•	 Improved	relations/
communication.

•	 Empowered workforce. 
•	 Workforce reflects 

demographic profile. 
•	 Improved diversity 

management. 

•	 Obtain buy-in, participation and 
commitment for change management 
programmes from all stakeholders. 

•	 Develop a representative leadership 
profile by fast-tracking future leaders. 

•	 Review the Employment Equity Plan. 
•	
•	 Set Employment Equity Targets.
•	 Link Employment Equity plan to Skills 

Development Plan. 

2008–
2009 

April 2008 
ongoing
2008-
2009 
April 2008 
April 2008 

•	 Employment equity 
barriers identified 
and solutions 
implemented. 

9.3	 SANBI 
compliant with 
all relevant 
legislation. 

•	 Operational best practice. 
•	 Compliance achieved. 
•	 Policies communicated and 

enforced. 

•	 Evaluate existing compliance. 
•	 Align all practices and procedures with 

national legislation. 
•	 Implement control mechanisms.
•	 Monitor corporate compliance. 
•	 Promote healthy employment 

relationship within SANBI. 

April 2008 
June 
2008 

Oct 2008 
Quarterly 
Ongoing 
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Key Performance Indicators 

(KPIs)
Targets

Time 
Frame

Variance and 
Reason for Variance

9.4 A skilled, 
motivated and 
productive 
workforce 
delivering quality 
products and 
services. 

•	 Competent workforce. 
•	 Accelerated access to further 

learning. 
•	 Improved service delivery. 
•	 Employer risk minimised. 
•	 Employee rights protected. 
•	 Decline in disciplinary cases. 

•	 Encourage delivery of results by 
providing fair and competitive 
performance management practices. 

•	 Review performance management 
practices in SANBI. 

•	 Implement an improved reward system. 

•	 Develop core competencies. 

•	 Support line management on LR 
processes. 

•	 Implement and revive the EAP 
throughout the organisation. 

•	 Manage employee well being. 
•	 Manage	employer	risk	(OHAS,	HIV/

AIDS etc). 

June 
2008 

July 2008 

Annual 
review 
Annual 
review 
2008-
2010 
2008-
2010 
Biannual 
review 

9.5	 Comprehensive 
strategy in place 
for building 
capacity both 
internally and 
externally. 

•	 New generation of 
biodiversity professionals 
trained. 

•	 Individual development plans 
in place for all staff. 

•	 Succession management 
programme in place. 

•	 Mentoring programme in 
place. 

•	 Increase in professional 
qualifications obtained. 

•	 Lower staff turnover. 

•	 Implement collaborative partnerships 
with	HE	and	FE	institutions.	

•	 Develop capacity among young 
graduates through exposure to 
experiential learning opportunities and 
bursaries. 

•	 Develop capacity of staff by providing 
access to learning opportunities. 

•	 Implement talent management 
programme. 

•	 Implement mentoring programme. 
•	 Implement Management Development 

and Leadership Programme. 

November 
2008 
Bi-annual 
review 

Annual 
review 
April 2008 

April 2008 
April 2008 

9.6 An 
organisational 
structure in 
place that 
enables the 
implementation 
of multi-partner 
programmes. 

•	 Shared knowledge and 
resources. 

•	 Improved Human Resources 
Information System. 

•	 Shared HR best practices. 

•	 Establish linkage with partner 
programmes. 

•	 Develop an effective HR Information 
System. 

•	 Provide leadership in terms of human 
resource management practices. 

November 
2008 
Annual 
review 

10. 
Goal:  Be financially sustainable with an expanding diversity and volume of income streams and increased cost efficiency  
           and effectiveness, to meet the expanded institutional mandate. 

10.1 Addition of 
current 
budgets of units 
incorporated into 
SANBI (MCM 
research	R50m;	
SABIF	R3m;	
SABI R1m; 
WCNCB R10m). 

•	 Incorporate MCM research 
into SANBI. 

•	 Transfer	of	SABIF	and	SABI.	

•	 Signature of transfer agreement. 
•	
•	 Transfer of resources and staff. 

July 2008 

July 2008 

10.2 Expanded	MTEF	
grant to meet 
requirements of 
new mandate 
(GMOs R4m; IT 
systems R2m; 
Bioregional 
planning	R3m;	
CITES scientific 
authority R2m; 
Threatened 
species and 
ecosystems 
monitoring 
R5m).	

•	 MTEF	budget	increased	by	
R20 million. 

•	 Line budget expanded by DEAT. March 
2009 

•	 No	further	MTEF	
funds received. 
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Variance and 
Reason for Variance

10.3.	 New project 
funding 
anticipated: 
SAEON	R5mil;	
Norway R10mil; 
DST	SABIF	
R7mil; BIOTA 
R2mil; Mellon 
Foundation	
R2mil;	GEF	
Grasslands 
R30mil.	

•	 Transfer of resources. •	 Agreements signed. Ongoing 

10.4 DEAT Elephants 
Research 
Project	(R5m).	

•	 Transfer of resources. •	 Project Elephant Assessment 
completed. 

•	 New research programme accepted. 

July 2008 

10.5	 Expansion of 
Working for 
Wetlands and 
ecosystem 
rehabilitation 
programme 
budgets. 

•	 Increase	in	MTEF	budget.	 •	 Expanded works programme approved. April 2008 

10.6 Increased own 
income revenue 
from 
Garden 
admissions, 
restaurants, 
shops, etc. 
(R40m). 

•	 Launch of new restaurants 
and tourism facilities. 

•	 KwaZulu-Natal. 
•	
•	
•	
•	
•	 Karoo Desert. 
•	 Harold Porter. 
•	 Walter Sisulu. 

April 2008 

Dec 2008 
Dec 2008 
Dec 2008 

•	 KwaZulu-Natal 
NBG tenant 
appointed; 
operational from 
April 2009. 

10.7 Development 
of ecotourism 
facilities in 
existing and 
new Gardens 
(R30m).	

•	 Nieuwoudtville NBG 
operational. 

•	 Purchase and transfer of land. 
•	 Business plan developed. 
•	 Opening of garden. 

April 2008 
Jun 2008 
Dec 2008 

Note: The target 
was achieved but the 
name Nieuwoudtville 
was changed to 
Hantam NBG. It was 
formally gazetted by 
DEAT Minister on 12 
December 2008. 

10.8 Project 
management, 
product 
development 
and consultancy 
fees:	R15m.	

•	 SANBI appointed 
management agency for 
expanded	GEF	portfolio.	

•	 Marine programmes launched. 
•	 NEPAD projects launched. 

Dec 2008 
Jan 2009 

10.9 Evaluate and 
expand existing 
strategic 
alliances 
and funding 
partnerships. 

•	 Pretoria becomes base for 
multi-partner facility. 

•	 Develop five new strategic partners per 
year based in Pretoria. 

•	 Build new resource facility. 

2008-
2010 

Dec 2008 
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11 Goal: Maintain effective accounting, financial, risk and governance systems and make changes where appropriate

 Finance 

11.1 Financial	plans,	budgets	and	
reports: 
•	 Reliable reports to the Board, 

Management and DEAT. 
Project controls and reports: 
•	 Report to Exco on project 

compliance with NBI 
and	donor	procedures/
requirements.

Provide assistance by exception 
to projects in need. 
Supply Chain Management:
•	 Review existing procedures 

(SANBI and other entities).
Banking and Investments: 
•	 Maintain securely operating 

bank accounts. 
•	 Manage surplus funds.

•	 Report on cash flow. 

•	 Quarterly reports to the Board and DEAT. 

•	 Reports to Exco and Department Heads 
as required. 

•	 Quarterly. 

•	 As	agreed	to	by	CFO.	

•	 Exco approval. 

•	 Control of and supervision of signatories. 

•	 Monthly, quarterly reports to 
management. 

•	 Quarterly and annual reports to DEAT 
and Treasury. 

2008 
ongoing 

2008 
ongoing

Sep 2008

 
 

11.2 Accounting Professionally operating 
Accounts Department
Pay salaries and manage 
employee benefits: 
•	 All payments on time and 

correct. 
•	 Staff informed of events and 

changes. 
Annual	Financial	Statements:	
•	 On time and complete. 

•	 Unqualified audit report. 

Creditors section: 
•	 Creditors paid on time and 

correctly. 
•	 Debts collected efficiently. 

•	 Salaries	paid	last	Friday	each	month.	

•	 As needs arise.

•	 Produce the draft financials and reports.

•	 Audit completed and queries answered. 

•	 Deliver to the Minister.

•	 Monthly follow-ups. 

Ongoing 

31	May	
each year 
31	August	
each year 
31	Aug	
2008 
Ongoing
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The creation of our new 
climate change division was 
prompted by a growing 
national and international 
awareness of climate change 
issues and their relevance to 
biodiversity.
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BIODIVERSITY RESEARCH PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT

The Biodiversity Research Portfolio Management Branch comprises three Divisions: Climate Change and Bio-Adaptation; 
Biosystematics Research and Biodiversity Collections, and Applied Biodiversity Research. The post of Deputy Director-
General for this Division was vacant until March 2009 when Ms Carmel Mbizvo was appointed as Acting Deputy Director 
General Biodiversity Research Portfolio Management. The key programmes and activities of these Divisions for the year 
under review are reported below.

CLIMATE CHANGE AND BIO-ADAPTATION DIVISION
This creation of this Division during the current financial year was prompted by a growing national and international 
awareness of climate change issues and their high degree of relevance for biodiversity in South and southern Africa.  
The Division draws together the various climate change-related projects that SANBI has undertaken as part of its 
research activities since the early 1990s, and now consolidates a stronger platform for translating sound scientific results 
into national policy, planning and management.

The Division currently attracts post-doctoral candidates from around the world, and trains a number of post-graduate 
students with a focus on previously disadvantaged groups, thus contributing to both knowledge generation and capacity 
building in the field of climate change science for South Africa. 

The work in the Division is organised around four major themes: 

• assessing vulnerability, monitoring and projecting impacts of climate change on South African biodiversity (including 
species and ecosystem processes, such as wildfires) 

• communicating key climate change findings to a wide range of stakeholders

• developing guidelines for adaptation to these changes, both for the benefit of society and to conserve biodiversity 
itself

• providing guidance on the policy implications of climate change for sustainable use of ecosystems and human 
livelihoods.

Assessing and monitoring impacts of climate change on species and ecosystems
Division scientists are actively pursuing innovative experiment, modelling and monitoring-based approaches to assessing 
ongoing and future impacts of climate change on species and ecosystems. Several of these approaches engage 
hundreds of volunteer members of the public in gathering and reporting data. Examples of this collaboration between 
scientists and the public include our work on SABAP2, the Southern African Bird Atlas 2 Project, with the Animal 
Demography Unit at UCT and BirdLife South Africa. This nationwide effort uses a live web-based platform that has now 
collected just over a million records, and reports results virtually in real time. 

Our senior scientists and several students are leading the world with our work on the vulnerability of endemic plants 
and ecosystem processes. Our investigations have included the relationship of soil respiration to heat and water stress 
on the west coast of Namaqualand. Our strong links with the well known BIOTA programme help to lend a high level of 
international credibility to this groundbreaking work.

Communicating key climate change findings 
Our commitment to making our findings generally accessible this year included pamphlets, posters, public lectures, 
workshops and seminars for senior provincial and municipal planners, and short courses for postgraduate conservation 
biologists, globalisation and energy studies students. Among our recent popular publications is the booklet entitled 
Quiver trees: A sentinel for climate change, which summarises our recent work on this iconic species of Namaqualand 
and Namibia.

In the scientific community, our publications are widely cited and influential. In the past year, we published almost 50 
papers in top journals, and co-authored an influential book, A climate for life. One of our publications reached the 
milestone of being cited 1,000 times by peer scientists this year, and several have now been cited more than 100 times, 
indicating the high impact and value of our work.

Developing guidelines on adaptation to climate changes
Division scientists hold leadership positions in national and international science and policy-related bodies relevant to 
developing adaptation guidelines. We co-chair the Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group on Climate Change and Biodiversity of 
the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), which currently provides key inputs to both the Conventions on Biological 
Diversity and the Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). We have also participated actively in national  
climate change adaptation science planning through steering committee involvement in the Global Change Grand 
Challenge process and African Centre for Earth System Science of the Department of Science and Technology.
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Providing guidance on the policy implications 
of climate change 

Division scientists hold several leadership positions in national 
and international science bodies, such as the Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), and the Global Carbon Project 
(GCP), which assesses the vulnerability of the global carbon cycle 
to various climate and global changes. The GCP has recently 
published influential assessments, lending urgency to the political 
negotiations which aim to achieve a positive and equitable 
international outcome in negotiations on climate change solutions. 

Our scientists also serve on the South African negotiating team 
for the UNFCCC, and provide key support in developing policy 
positions. Through our membership of the GCP and other similar 
bodies, we have access to cutting-edge findings on issues such 
as the role of land-use change in the African carbon budget 
– an important information set that informs policy positions in 
international negotiations. 

The Division is currently leading the development of South 
Africa’s Second National Communication to the UNFCCC, which 
comprises an assessment of climate change vulnerability and 
adaptation across a wide range of affected sectors. This work is 
being undertaken by a team of over 50 scientists, led by roughly 
20 lead authors from across South Africa. A first draft is due in 
September 2009, and will provide additional key information in 
assisting South African policy makers to refine policy positions in 
the lead-up to critical negotiations in Copenhagen in December 
as the world defines a new international approach to dealing with 
climate change. 

Our work is integrated with a reassessment of climate change 
impacts, vulnerability and adaptation responses to climate 
change in the conservation sector. In addition to our collaboration 
with scientists in other SANBI Divisions, particularly Biodiversity 
Mainstreaming and Applied Biodiversity Research we also work 
with key players in other national conservation bodies such as 
SANParks.

30



BIOSYSTEMATICS RESEARCH & BIODIVERSITY COLLECTIONS DIVISION 
This Division has a distinguished and long record in researching and recording the indigenous, naturalised and alien flora 
of South Africa and beyond. The Division’s work in the year under review focused on:

• undertaking and coordinating research in biosystematics 

• maintaining herbarium collections, and 

• supplying related products and services that support SANBI’s strategic objectives relating to the systematics, 
collections, and sustainable use of the exceptionally rich biodiversity of South Africa. 

Collections activities
Our three herbaria, situated in Durban, Pretoria and Cape Town, house over two million preserved plant specimens and 
associated natural history artefacts. Once again, herbarium staff dedicated themselves to identifying plant specimens 
using the material housed within the herbaria as a reference. Plant specimens identified in the last year numbered  
12,338.

In early 2009, we started a collaborative project with the National Research Foundation (NRF) to carry out an assessment 
of the natural history collections in South Africa. This project assesses a wide range of aspects of the collections 
including their size and composition, potential and existing threats to their future integrity, their accessibility and extent 
of use, policies, and funding. The final outcome of this assessment will be a report which includes the presentation of 
several scenarios that will ensure that this vital research resource is well maintained and widely used.

Data management
Information associated with the herbarium specimens has been captured into the enormous Precis database, which is an 
invaluable resource not only to researchers, but also to consultants and land-use planners. Staff used this database, as 
well as the collections, to respond to 19,494 queries from a variety of stakeholders. 

Research and publications activities 

The research output of our scientists in the year under review was both numerous and of excellent quality: our Division 
published five books and 70 papers and articles. 

The flora of Angola was documented for the first time through a collaborative project involving 32 botanists, including 
nine from SANBI. The product of this research was a hardcover book which is also available in electronic format on the 
SANBI website.

Research carried out by the Biosystematics and Collections Division involves carrying out surveys in poorly explored 
areas to document the plants and broaden the herbarium collections. In the last year a survey in southern Angola was 
carried out, which also involved capacity development of Angolan students who participated in the survey.

The appointment of a Director of Zoological Systematics in January 2009 makes it possible for the research and 
documentation of animal diversity to be coordinated for the first time, so fulfilling one of SANBI’s mandates. The Director 
has consulted with researchers in museums and universities on information needed, challenges and potential strategies 
and potential priorities for research. The outcome of these consultations will be the production and later implementation 
of a national strategy for zoological systematics.

Coordination and accessibility of biodiversity data
We continue to develop electronic products that facilitate access to information on South Africa’s biodiversity, and to 
provide information to other larger national and international projects. This is in addition to our Flora of Angola online. 
We captured and submitted 1,603 maps; 1,318 images and 49,793 medicinal use records covering 6,503 ailments and 
submitted them to Aluka, a resource that provides electronic access to scholarly resources linked to the plant diversity of 
Africa. 

Our Division initiated a major project to coordinate an annotated, online catalogue of South Africa’s biodiversity, the South 
African Tree of Life, in collaboration with the SABIF programme in SANBI. Funding for this project was provided by the 
NRF and Department of Science and Technology. This is a long-term project which will eventually provide information on 
approximately 100,000 species of plants and animals that occur in South Africa.

Conservation of South African plants

The Millennium Seed Bank Project (MSBP) is a nine-year international plant conservation programme (2001–2010). It was 
conceived, developed and is being managed by the Seed Conservation Department at the Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, 
in the UK. The aims of the MSBP are to collect and conserve the seed of 10% of the world’s seed-bearing flora (some  
24,000 species) by the year 2010 and to develop bilateral research, training and capacity-building partnerships 
worldwide to support and advance the seed conservation effort. 
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During the last year, the MSBP team in our Division added 403 seed collections to the seed bank, of which 290 were new species 
for the project. The total number of seed collections made from South Africa is currently 3,464, which we estimate to represent 
approximately 2,475 species. From the next financial year, the MSBP will be managed under the Conservation Gardens and Tourism 
Division.

Capacity development programmes

To continue to develop the skills of our Division, several staff participated in training programmes for junior or middle managers. A 
researcher in the National Herbarium was awarded an MSc in plant systematics from the University of Stellenbosch. Fifteen interns were 
based in the Division in the different herbaria or in the data management section.
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APPLIED BIODIVERSITY RESEARCH DIVISION
The Applied Biodiversity Research Division (ABRD) was established in 2008 and comprises a diverse portfolio of research 
and monitoring programmes dealing with the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity and the contribution of 
biodiversity to sustainable development. The Division focuses on meeting the research needs of the National Biodiversity 
Strategy and Action Plan (NBSAP) and the Biodiversity Act.

Our research is organised around three main themes:

• risks to biodiversity, focusing on invasive species, the impacts of genetically modified organisms released into the 
environment, and global change drivers

• the value and use of species and ecosystem services, and 

• understanding the dynamics of species and ecosystems of special concern. 

There are also three important crosscutting functions that contribute to all the research areas in SANBI. These are long-
term research and monitoring, molecular ecology, and population ecology.

APPLIED BIODIVERSITY RESEARCH PROGRAMMES AND ACTIVITIES

Increasing our research capability 
A primary objective has been to grow the Division from a small team of scientists in 2008 to a unit that has the capacity 
to lead, coordinate, and undertake applied biodiversity research projects. To achieve this, we have appointed several 
new staff, including a new director to manage components of research, programme leaders for research and monitoring 
relating to the impact of GMOs and the early detection and response to invasive species, and a scientist to strengthen 
capacity in statistical population ecology. We also appointed staff to strengthen a new programme on invasive species and 
the SAEON Fynbos Node within SANBI.

With this team of scientists and managers, our aim is to generate new knowledge for decision-making through the 
programmes of the Division.

Risks and responses
In 2008, we launched two major projects regarding environmental risks. The first was the Early Detection and Rapid 
Response Programme for Invasive Alien Plants. This exciting new SANBI initiative aims to reduce the impact and cost 
of managing invasive alien plants by putting in place monitoring systems for early detection, improving capacity for 
identifying weedy species, undertaking research on emerging invasive species, and testing protocols for rapid response. 
The programme receives generous funding from the Working for Water Programme of the Department of Water and 
Environmental Affairs. 

The second was a programme on the impact of GMOs, focusing on insect-resistant maize as a test case for identifying 
research and monitoring priorities. The work is being undertaken in collaboration with the Department of Water and 
Environmental Affairs, university partners and partners in Norway, and is generously funded through the South African-
Norwegian Agreement for Cooperation on Biosafety. One of the main outputs during 2008 was the use of a risk analysis 
framework to identify monitoring priorities.

Our research programmes contribute substantially to SANBI’s work on global change, especially understanding the 
impacts of climate change. We have been exploring the use of molecular (genetic) tools to understand the impacts of 
climate change, habitat fragmentation and biological invasions. We are involved in innovative research that incorporates 
genetic data into climate modelling and our fine-scale genetic data on reptiles and frogs has enabled us to undertake 
exploratory research in this area.

We have also been developing statistical methods for estimating reproduction and survival, which is a key requirement for 
understanding species range shifts in response to global change. One of the most noticeable recent range expansions 
was that of the hadeda ibis (Bostrychia hagedash), which has expanded its range over the past three decades, and we are 
using this as a model species for testing new methods.

The value and sustainable use of species and ecosystem services 

The sustainable use of natural resources is an important policy issue and we are developing capacity and partnerships to 
provide a knowledge base for decision making. This year, our scientists participated in an international meeting to improve 
the methods of assessing sustainable use of species in international trade.

Our research on ecosystem services focuses on the nature and value of ecosystem services for agriculture and food 
security. In 2008, we initiated studies of pollination services on sunflowers in Limpopo province, mangoes in Mpumalanga, 
and apples in the Western Cape together with partners in the Agricultural Research Council, CSIR, universities, industry, 
and provincial departments.



Species and ecosystems of special 
concern

We work closely with the Gardens and the Threatened 
Species Programme and this year we worked 
towards developing protocols for restoring threatened 
plant species. We also supported 15 postgraduate 
student projects on threatened species; developed a 
biodiversity management plan for the Albany cycad 
(Encephalartos latifrons); continued our research on the 
leopard toad and started a project together with the 
Mammal Research Institute on dolphins to understand 
the impact of threatening processes.

Our research on ecosystems focused on ways to 
quantify the impacts of degradation on biodiversity. 
Most of the measures that are used are based on an 
agricultural definition of degradation that is not always 
appropriate for measuring biodiversity impacts.

The SAEON Fynbos node
The SAEON Fynbos node became operational during 
2008. Our activities have concentrated on networking, 
identifying partners, communicating SAEON’s 
programme and scoping the range of research under 
way in the fynbos biome.

Influencing decision making 
the Division is committed to making sure that research 
findings influence policy and decision making. One 
way that we do this is to participate in decision and 
policy-making processes. The head of the Division 
was appointed as the Chair of the national Scientific 
Authority, which was established in November 2008 
as the key scientific body for species in trade and 
had its first meeting at Kirstenbosch in March 2009. 
He was also appointed to the Steering Committee of 
the IUCN Species Survival Commission, an important 
international conservation body. Our scientists manage 
the working of the National Vegetation Map Committee, 
which is responsible for updating the national 
vegetation map, and we serve on the national elephant 
management steering committee. In 2008, we played 
a lead role in the redrafting of the Alien and Invasive 
Species regulations for South Africa.

We additionally contribute to policy and decision 
making through specific products. In 2008, we 
contracted CSIR to publish a book on elephant 
management, which includes a summary document  
for decision makers. One of our staff  
was an editor and an author of the  
Department of Science and  
Technology’s Global Change  
Grand Challenge Science Plan.

We completed a 
groundbreaking 
analysis for the 
identification of the 
Biodiversity Act’s 
list of threatened 
terrestrial 
ecosystems.
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BIOIVERSITY KNOWLEDGE, POLICY & NETWORK MANAGEMENT

The Biodiversity Knowledge, Policy and Network Branch comprises the Division Biodiversity Planning & Mainstreaming 
as well as the Directorates Biodiversity Policy, Biodiversity Information Management, International Liaison & Research 
Services and Biodiversity Education & Empowerment.

The Human Capital Development Division is dependent on external funding and is not yet operational. SANBI, with 
funding from the Tony and Lisette Lewis Foundation, is leading a stakeholder-based process to develop a human capital 
development strategy for the biodiversity sector in South Africa. The Biodiversity Sector Human Capital Development 
Strategy aims to increase the pool of biodiversity professionals and conservation managers, particularly from 
disadvantaged groups, through strategic interventions. 

Ms Carmel Mbizvo was appointed Deputy Director-General of this Branch on 1 March 2009.

BIODIVERSITY PLANNING AND MAINSTREAMING DIVISION
The Biodiversity Planning and Mainstreaming Division focuses on:

•	 identifying priority areas for biodiversity conservation through spatial biodiversity planning

•	 assessing and monitoring the status of biodiversity

•	 mainstreaming biodiversity in municipalities and land-use decision making 

•	 establishing and implementing multi-partner bioregional and ecosystem programmes 

•	 piloting innovative biodiversity management approaches, and

•	 developing scarce skills in the biodiversity sector. 

As part of our commitment to developing skills, the Division supported the completion of two PhDs and one MSc degree; 
funded	11	student	projects	on	threatened	species	conservation;	appointed	12	interns	(five	at	SANBI	and	seven	based	in	
partner organisations); initiated an internship programme in partnership with the National Research Foundation and the 
Department of Science and Technology; and conducted a Stewardship and Extension Course, a Mentorship Training 
Course	and	the	Rhodes	University/Gold	Fields	Certificate	Course	in	Environmental	Education.



Biodiversity Planning
The Division organised the 6th annual Biodiversity Planning 
Forum, which was held in KwaZulu-Natal and co-hosted 
with Ezemvelo KwaZulu-Natal Wildlife. A record number of 
participants attended, including representatives from national 
government, provincial environmental departments and 
conservation agencies, NGOs, research institutes and universities 
and SANParks. The Forum included presentation sessions 
and discussions on topics such as marine and estuarine 
biodiversity planning, freshwater biodiversity planning, planning 
for ecosystem services and provincial biodiversity planning. A 
two-day training session on systematic biodiversity planning, 
attended by over 80 participants, was held prior to the Forum.  

The Division provided technical support to DEAT on the National 
Protected Area Expansion Strategy (NPAES), which was 
completed, submitted to DEAT and approved by MINMEC. 
The	NPAES	is	the	first	comprehensive	strategy	for	expanding	
protected areas throughout South Africa’s territory, including 
marine and land-based protected areas. It emphasises the role 
of protected areas in climate change adaptation and the delivery 
of	ecosystem	services,	provides	ecosystem-specific	targets	for	
protected	area	expansion,	and	identifies	geographic	focus	areas	
for protected area expansion.

Our	groundbreaking	analysis	for	the	identification	of	the	
Biodiversity Act’s list of threatened terrestrial ecosystems was 
completed and submitted to DEAT. The ecosystems proposed 
for listing make up 9.5% of the country, with critically endangered 
and endangered ecosystems together accounting for 2.7% and 
vulnerable ecosystems a further 6.8%. The work was presented 
at the IUCN World Conservation Congress in Barcelona, and we 
were invited to be part of the international task team initiating a 
process to list threatened ecosystems globally.

Building capacity remains a key focus of our Division. We helped 
initiate and develop provincial biodiversity plans by hosting three 
provincial planning work sessions. We also supported the North 
West province on the development of the North West Biodiversity 
Conservation Assessment. 

An expert in remote sensing was seconded to SANBI for three 
years from the German Aerospace Centre, facilitated by the 
Centre for International Migration. This secondment is a result of 
the bilateral negotiations on development cooperation between 
South Africa and Germany, whose purpose is to assist with 
the development of remote sensing capacity and technology in 
SANBI.   

The Threatened Species Programme
Threatened plants component

We completed the Red List assessment for all of the 20,476 
plant taxa in South Africa. Internationally, only 4% of the 
world’s plant species have been assessed. The vast task of 
assessing South Africa’s plants has resulted in an additional 
6%	of	the	world’s	flora	being	assessed,	bringing	the	total	
global assessments to over 10%. We showcased the lessons 
learnt from the South African experience at the IUCN World 
Conservation Congress in Barcelona. 

In collaboration with the Lesotho government, we initiated work 
on a management plan for the medicinal plant Pelargonium 
sidoides.	This	includes	extensive	field	work	in	both	countries.	
We	hosted	a	five-day	workshop	with	representatives	with	
Lesotho and TRAFFIC to model the distribution of this species to 
determine if it is currently harvested sustainably.  

The threatened plant monitoring project, Custodians of Rare 
and	Endangered	Wildflowers	(CREW),	which	involves	volunteers	
from a range of socio-economic and cultural backgrounds in 
monitoring and conserving our threatened plants, has expanded 
to 22 groups operating across South Africa. Two fruitful regional 
workshops were attended by over 400 volunteers from a range 
of backgrounds. A CREW operations manual was developed 
to assist volunteers with monitoring plants. We involved over 
200 learners in Plant Monitoring Day, where they learnt about 
monitoring threatened plants in the Fynbos region.

Threatened animals component

The threatened animal component coordinates several atlasing 
projects which aim to capture species occurrence records for 
groups of animals through the participation of members of the 
public. These include: 

•	 the	Southern	African	Butterfly	Conservation	Assessment	
(SABCA), a four-year partnership project between SANBI, 
the Lepidopterists’ Society of Africa (LepSoc) and the Animal 
Demography Unit (ADU) at the University of Cape Town. Red 
List assessments were conducted on 674 species and 17,300 
records were digitised from the Natural History Museum, and 
a new virtual museum was launched with over 5,300 records 
having been received to date (www.sabca.adu.org.za). 

•	 the South African National Survey of Arachnida (SANSA), a 
partnership	project	between	SANBI	and	the	ARC,	identified	
approximately 11,800 spider and 4,000 scorpion specimens. 
The virtual museum has over 880 entries with about 1,700 
images (www.arc.agric.za). 

•	 the Southern African Reptile Conservation Assessment 
(SARCA),	the	first	of	the	atlasing	projects	launched,	has	a	total	
of 6,100 records in the virtual museum representing 300 taxa. 
A new improved version of the virtual museum was launched 
which includes new mapping features and improved search 
functions (http://vmus.adu.org.za).

•	 the second South African Bird Atlas Project (SABAP2), 
a partnership project between SANBI and the ADU at 
the University of Cape Town, was transferred to SANBI’s 
Threatened Species Programme (www.sabap2.adu.org.za).

In collaboration with TRAFFIC, the wildlife trade monitoring 
network, we hosted a decision support tool workshop for 
law enforcers from provincial environmental departments and 
conservation agencies. This decision support tool will help South 
Africa improve CITES implementation. 

We also hosted an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 
Data Collection System scoping workshop with provincial 
conservation agencies. The aim of the workshop was to 
investigate opportunities for collecting threatened species data 
through EIAs.

BIODIVERSITY PLANNING AND ASSESSMENT PROGRAMMES AND ACTIVITIES
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 A new project that the Division initiated is the Land Reform 
and	Biodiversity	project,	which	this	year	included	field	visits	and	
identifying pilot projects in KwaZulu-Natal, Mpumalanga and 
Northern Cape. The programme aims to deliver both socio-
economic	and	conservation	benefits	at	the	project	level,	and	to	
demonstrate the scope for synergies between land reform and 
conservation. 

We have established a relationship with Eskom around the 
integration of biodiversity spatial priorities in their current and 
future expansion plans. We also provided input on biodiversity 
considerations to the Department of Minerals and Energy’s 
project on developing indicators that can help monitor the mining 
sector’s contribution to sustainable development. 

We initiated collaboration with DEAT’s Environmental Impact 
Management section to explore better alignment of biodiversity 
information and EIA processes. 

The National Municipal Biodiversity Programme, a partnership 
programme with the Department of Local Government (DPLG)
and DEAT, moved from a design phase to an implementation 
phase. This programme aims to ensure that biodiversity and 
ecosystem services are effectively managed and contribute 
to sustainable economic growth and human well-being in 
municipalities. We formed part of a municipal environmental task 
team, together with DPLG, DEAT and DWAF, and held bilateral 
meetings with DEAT to explore better alignment of biodiversity 
and local governance processes. 

The Urban Conservation Programme expanded its reach from 

being Cape Town based to becoming a national programme for 

biodiversity conservation in urban landscapes.  

The programme is a partner in the international Local Action for 

Biodiversity (LAB) project headed by ICLEI (Local Governments 

for Sustainability) and convened a successful Urban Nature 2008 

workshop in Durban, following the LAB International workshop.

The Cape Flats Nature project supported the community-based 

organisation ‘Ilitha Lomso’ in their community campaign to raise 

awareness and build support to protect the Macassar Dunes 

conservation area.

 

MAINSTREAMING AND LAND-USE PROGRAMMES AND ACTIVITIES
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SANBI coordinates several bioregional and ecosystem 
programmes including:

•	 the Grasslands Programme

•	 the Fynbos Programme

•	 the Succulent Karoo Ecosystem Programme

•	 the Eastern Cape Bioregional Programmes

•	 the Marine Ecosystem Programme, and

•	 the Freshwater Ecosystem Programme. 

The programmes focus on priority actions for biodiversity 
in South Africa’s most threatened biomes and 
ecosystems,	which	have	been	identified	through	science	
and stakeholder consultation. They are based on multi-
sectoral partnerships of government and civil society. 
All our programmes aim at conserving biodiversity and 
making links with socio-economic development through 
pilot projects and demonstration models and by testing 
and pioneering innovative approaches. 

The Grasslands Programme

The Grasslands Programme was launched on International 
Biodiversity Day on 22 May 2008. The Grasslands 
Declaration was signed by the Deputy Minister of DEAT. 
Funding to the value of US$ 8.3 million was secured 
for the implementation of the programme and the grant 
agreement between the Government of South Africa, UNDP 
and GEF was signed. 

Potential sites for a Grassland National Park have been 
identified	as	a	result	of	our	collaboration	with	SANParks	

and DEAT. The programme developed a research strategy 
that	identifies	research	priorities	in	the	biome	in	order	
to guide the research needs that hinder biodiversity 
management in the grasslands biome. The programme 
extended support to provinces to improve biodiversity 
management. In Gauteng, it is developing a biodiversity 
stewardship programme with GDACE, and in Mpumalanga, 
it has supported the development of a provincial protected 
area expansion strategy. 

The	programme	developed	a	fine-scale	conservation	
planning tool for the forestry industry to improve the 
management of biodiversity assets on forestry-owned 
land; a partnership between the programme, Forestry 
SA and ASGISA-EC to achieve the exclusion of critical 
biodiversity areas from future afforestation in the Eastern 
Cape has been established; and the programme has 
provided input into the development of national standards 
for	Forest	Stewardship	Council	certification	resulting	
in major changes to improve the accessibility of this 
certification	for	small	and	medium	growers.

A Livestock Forum, co-hosted with GreenChoice, resulted 
in a clear way forward to partner with the red meat 
sector to support better biodiversity practices in the red 
meat supply chain. We co-hosted a workshop with the 
Sustainable Cities Network to identify opportunities to 
implement ecosystem goods and services in city planning 
and management. We also convened a successful 
stakeholder workshop on wetland mitigation banking, 
which aimed to receive input on the design of the 
programme’s interventions in the coal mining sector.

BIOREGIONAL AND ECOSYSTEM PROGRAMMES
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The Fynbos Programme
The Fynbos Programme, which includes the coordination unit for 
Cape Action for People and the Environment (C.A.P.E.), hosted 
joint World Bank and UNDP supervision missions and received 
support for an in-principle agreement for a no-cost extension 
of the Biodiversity Conservation and Sustainable Development 
project. 

In closing out the Critical Ecosystem Partnership Fund (CEPF) 
grant, the Africa Grants Director rated the C.A.P.E. Coordination 
Unit as the most successful, reliable and strategic coordination 
unit in the entire global CEPF portfolio. CEPF awarded new 
consolidation funds totalling $1.65 million to nine projects in 
the	region	that	will	build	on	the	successes	of	a	prior	five-year	
investment of $6 million to sustain conservation gains.

We developed a management-effectiveness tracking tool for 
protected areas, which has been endorsed by all conservation 
management agencies in the Cape Floristic Region (CFR). 
The C.A.P.E. draft Monitoring and Evaluation Framework was 
developed with partner organisations. The Project Developers 
Forum was held with 30 representatives from partner 
organisations participating. The Learning Network programme 
supported	the	first	CFR	learning	exchange	between	two	
community groups on matters relating to community participation 
in biodiversity conservation. We launched the new C.A.P.E. 
website, which contains information on biodiversity efforts within 
the CFR, and published a brochure showcasing Business and 
Biodiversity Initiatives in the region. 

Three school leavers were selected for bursaries to pursue 
careers in conservation through the capacity development 
programme.  

The Succulent Karoo Ecosystem Programme
The Succulent Karoo Ecosystem Programme (SKEP) produced 
the	SKEP	CEPF	five-year	assessment	report.	The	impacts	of	this	
programme	included	a	significant	increase	in	the	amount	of	land	
in the conservation estate, improved land management, funding 
for conservation and livelihood projects, the development of best 
practice guidelines, and a contribution to poverty alleviation and 
improved livelihoods. A strategic plan was developed for SKEP 
for the period 2009–2014 based on a rapid appraisal of the 
programme, which included a strategic planning workshop. 

An assessment on the ecosystem services in the Succulent 
Karoo and the valuation of these ecosystem services was 
commissioned and a draft report developed. The research 
strategy for the South African region of SKEP was completed 
and the SKEP monitoring and evaluation framework was 
approved by its partners. We also produced a publication 
highlighting	the	achievements	of	SKEP	over	the	last	five	years.

The Eastern Cape Bioregional Programmes

The Division continued to coordinate the Eastern Cape 
Implementation Committee for Bioregional Programmes (ECIC), 
a multi-stakeholder committee through which participating 
agencies can manage biodiversity-related activities and align 
environmental, social and economic development goals. 
The Chris Hani District Municipality and Alfred Nzo District 
Municipality both became signatories of the Memorandum of 
Understanding between agencies participating in the ECIC. 
Our training workshops in four district municipalities in the 
Eastern Cape aimed to guide the municipalities on how to use 
the Eastern Cape Biodiversity Conservation Plan in municipal 
planning processes so as to support sustainable economic 
growth. 
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The Marine Ecosystem Programme

The	Marine	Ecosystem	Programme	engaged	with	commercial	fishing,	diamond	mining,	petroleum	and	scuba	diving	
stakeholders to discuss marine biodiversity issues. Our discussions have resulted in collaborative offshore biodiversity 
projects with the marine petroleum and diamond mining sectors. 

Excellent progress was made on the Offshore Marine Protected Area project with the completion of a number of data 
layers and mapping of offshore marine features and activities. The Reef Atlas Project was developed and launched with 
support from WWF. Our User Profiles for the South African Offshore Environment was published as part of the SANBI 
Biodiversity Series. We held a threatened marine species and ecosystems workshop to determine how threatened 
marine	species	and	ecosystems	could	be	identified	and	prioritised	within	the	marine	environment.	

41
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The Freshwater Ecosystem Programme
The Freshwater Ecosystem Programme, incorporating Working 
for Wetlands, was established this year. An inception workshop 
was held for the National Freshwater Ecosystem Priority Areas 
(NFEPA) project, a two-year partnership project to identify a 
network of national freshwater conservation areas and to explore 
institutional mechanisms for protecting these priority areas. 

The	National	Wetland	Classification	System	was	finalised	and	will	
be incorporated into the NFEPA project. The second version of 
the	National	Wetland	Inventory,	containing	significant	additions	
and improvements, was uploaded onto BGIS, followed by the 
completion of the third version of the inventory for review. 

Working for Wetlands rehabilitated 88 wetlands, employing 
1,681 people for 220,498 job days and providing 15,208 training 
days. We coordinated the World Wetlands Day national event 
in Mpumalanga, which had over 650 people attending. The 
Working for Wetlands Maputaland project won the Kamoso 
award for best national project in the Environment and Culture 
Cluster of the Expanded Public Works Programme for 2007/8. 
The	other	two	finalists	in	the	category	were	also	Working	for	
Wetlands projects.

Photo: KARA VON MALTITZ
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BIODIVERSITY POLICY DIRECTORATE
A Biodiversity Policy Directorate was established in July 2008. The Directorate supports DEAT in policy development 
and implementation, especially related to the Biodiversity Act. Our aim is to ensure that policy is informed by sound 
biodiversity science as well as the realities of implementation. 

The National Biodiversity Framework (NBF), which is required in terms of the Biodiversity Act and which DEAT requested 
SANBI	to	develop,	was	approved	by	MINMEC	for	publication	in	the	Government	Gazette.	The	NBF	identifies	top	priority	
actions	for	biodiversity	conservation	over	the	next	five	years,	and	facilitates	coordinated	action	by	multiple	role-players	in	the	
biodiversity sector.

The Biodiversity Act introduced two important new tools: threatened ecosystems and bioregional plans. We developed 
and submitted a draft list of threatened terrestrial ecosystems to DEAT, which has been approved by MINMEC for 
publication for comment in the Government Gazette. Once public comments have been incorporated, the list of 
threatened ecosystems will be published by the Minister, with a view to minimising habitat loss in these ecosystems. 

A Guideline for Bioregional Plans was published in the Government Gazette. Bioregional plans are spatial plans that map 
critical biodiversity areas at the district or metro level. Their purpose is to inform planning and decision making in a wide 
range of sectors and avoid loss of natural habitat in critical biodiversity areas.

On behalf of DEAT and in consultation with a range of stakeholders, we prepared South Africa’s Fourth National Report 
to the Convention on Biological Diversity. The report provides an overview of progress in implementing the NBSAP, and 
highlights key challenges ahead.
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BIODIVERSITY EDUCATION AND EMPOWERMENT DIRECTORATE
The Biodiversity Education and Empowerment (BEE) Directorate strengthened its work on various levels as it positions itself as the home 
of biodiversity education in the country. Chief among our successes has been the growth of our programmes in areas where there are no 
botanical gardens, such as Limpopo, the Eastern Cape and KwaZulu-Natal. The Greening of the Nation projects in the Vhembe region 
(Limpopo) and the Northern Cape were concluded.  

A total of 25,523 learners from previously disadvantaged backgrounds were given an opportunity to visit SANBI’s Gardens countrywide 
following a structured, curriculum-linked, Garden-based programme through the National Lotteries funded programme. They learned 
about biodiversity, sustainable living and climate change, among other topics.  

Our	environmental	education	programme	was	attended	by	34,100	learners.	The	programme	operated	in	five	of	the	Gardens.	An	
additional 8,177 visited on a self-guide basis. The number of indigenous gardens we have now developed stands at 143. These were 
developed through the National Lotteries Outreach programme in the Free State, Lowveld and Gauteng (Pretoria and Walter Sisulu 
NBGs)	and	five	new	schools	on	the	Cape	Flats.

As part of our mandate to develop capacity in the sector, we participated in local conferences and organised workshops for thousands 
of teachers and curriculum advisors nationally. Learners in General and Further Education and Training attended the International Year 
of Planet Earth launch in Arusha, Tanzania, and the International Geosphere Biosphere Programme congress as part of our efforts to 
enhance	learners’	exposure	to	the	field.	

In terms of job creation, we have created opportunities for many unemployed youth through the DEAT learnerships and internships. 

Going forward, we have developed a new strategy that will see SANBI playing a major strategic role in biodiversity education in the 
country. 

Our strategy focuses on four key areas:  
•	 supporting the curriculum at the level of General Education and Training, Further Education and Training  and Higher Education and 

Training 
•	 promoting professional development for the biodiversity sector
•	 engaging stakeholder groups in biodiversity conservation, and
•	 promoting careers in conservation.
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INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS AND 
RESEARCH SERVICES DIRECTORATE
The International Relations and Research Services 
Directorate focuses on:

•	 coordinating SANBI’s technical support to DEAT in 
the preparation of position papers and the negotiation 
and implementation of multilateral environmental 
agreements

•	 facilitating	access	to	scientific	information	generated	
by SANBI staff and their network partners through 
the production and distribution of publications and 
through the SANBI libraries, and 

•	 identifying regional and international partners, funders 
and donors.

Our contribution to DEAT this year includes advising on 
the assessment of the bioprospecting permit applications 
as part of the Interim Expert Group on Access and 
Benefit-sharing.	In	this	regard,	the	Head	of	the	Directorate	
attended the expert group meeting for legal and technical 
experts	on	Concepts,	Terms,	Working	Definitions	and	
Sectoral	approaches	to	Access	and	Benefit-sharing	
in Namibia organised by the Convention on Biological 
Diversity and the Namibian government. The Directorate 
participated in a workshop held in Kenya to help develop 
regulations	to	implement	the	Kenyan	Access	and	Benefit-
sharing legislation.

We	facilitated	access	to	scientific	information	through	our	
extensive publication output in the year under review. The 
publications section produced four editions of the SANBI 
Biodiversity Series; three editions of Strelitzia; a reprint of 
the wall map for Strelitzia 9, and Bothalia 38 volumes 1 
and 2. The Mary Gunn Library, which supports libraries in 
the Pretoria, Walter Sisulu, Lowveld, KZN and Free State 
NBGs and the KZN Herbarium, added 444 new books to 
the Online Library Catalogue to broaden the biodiversity 
scope of publications available to stakeholders.

BIODIVERSITY INFORMATION 
MANAGEMENT DIRECTORATE
The Biodiversity Information Management Directorate was 
established to collectively manage biodiversity information 
as a strategic organisational resource. This involves 
managing and disseminating numerous datasets belonging 
to partner organisations, such as the South African 
Biodiversity Information Facility (SABIF) programme, which 
has made over R1 million available in data digitisation 
grants to enhance available information collections.

As access to information is a constitutional right, SANBI 
has embarked on developing a Biodiversity Information 
Policy Framework to proactively manage access to 
biodiversity information. The Directorate’s achievements in 
terms of access to information in the period under review 
included:

•	 the internal release of SANBI’s Integrated Information 
Biodiversity Information System (SIBIS)

•	 the redevelopment of the SABIF website

•	 the data and tool enhancement of the Biodiversity GIS 
website, and

•	 the Species Status database.

The	first	Biodiversity	Information	Management	Forum,	
whose intention is to harmonise biodiversity management 
practices so as to ensure free and easy access to relevant 
information, took place in June 2008. 

In	the	next	financial	year,	we	will	develop	a	biodiversity	
information architecture to help understand how best 
to manage our datasets. Our focus will be on data 
mobilisation, tools development, and user training and 
support, so that the opportunities to use biodiversity 
information in research, policy formulation, decision 
making and monitoring are maximised.  
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Our ninth National 
Botanical Garden 
– Hantam – was 
formally gazetted in 
December 2008.
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CONSERVATION ESTATE MANAGEMENT & CORPORATE SERVICES

The Conservation Estate Management and Corporate Services Branch comprises two Divisions and two Directorates: 
the Conservation Gardens and Tourism Division, the Human Resources Development and Training Division, the 
Marketing and Communications Directorate and the Information Technology (IT) Directorate. The Director: Marketing and 
Communications and Director: IT were appointed in 2008. 

Ms Yolisa Koyo was appointed Deputy Director-General of the Conservation Estate Management and Corporate Services 
Branch in January 2009. Following her appointment, key priorities for the Branch’s five-year Strategic Plan were identified 
as: 

• Strategic coordination of the organisation’s business operations.  

• Business Performance Management, such as the establishment of Corporate Governance, Monitoring and 
Evaluation, Project Oversight, and Tourism Development units. Infrastructure development support and co-ordination 
will also be priorities.

• A new business model for the Conversation Estate Management Branch will be developed to include an Income 
Generation Strategy that will ensure that the Gardens are self-sustaining. 

CONSERVATION GARDENS AND TOURISM DIVISION
This Division manages nine National Botanical Gardens (NBGs) spread across six provinces as directed to do so in the 
Biodiversity Act. ‘Conservation Gardens’ is the international term for botanical gardens that include both landscaped and 
natural areas within their boundaries.

Expanding SANBI’s national footprint
The Hantam National Botanical Garden, comprising an area of 6,200 ha near Nieuwoudtville in the Northern Cape, was 
formally gazetted by the Minister on 12 December 2008. We reviewed various potential sites in the Eastern Cape to 
identify a site suitable for the future establishment of a national botanical garden in this province. 

Tourism, cultural and educational programmes
Visitor numbers reached 1,188,847 for the 2008/9 financial year. The Walter Sisulu Garden experienced its best year in 
its 26-year history with 187,781 visitors. Visitor numbers also increased in the Karoo Desert Garden (50,100 visitors) and 
Harold Porter Garden in Betty’s Bay (51,681 visitors). The Gardens generated a combined income of R31.8 million during 
the report period, a 34% increase on the previous year. 

SANBI’s exhibition entitled ‘The Heat is On’ at the Chelsea Flower Show in London, UK, in May received its 29th 
Gold Medal in 33 years of exhibiting at this prestigious flower show. The exhibit also received the ‘President’s Most 
Creative Award’, the first year this award was presented. Sponsored by First National Bank, this exhibit was recreated 
in Kirstenbosch and extended by a week due to public demand. Various donations were received from the Botanical 
Society of South Africa (BotSoc) for infrastructural developments and securing valuable plant collections in the Gardens. 
The 22nd Garden Curators’ Week was held in the Pretoria Garden in October as part of the Garden’s 50-year anniversary 
celebrations. The Ball Agreement was formally closed in September 2008.
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The Gardens hosted a variety of events, many of them 
sponsored, during the year. Sponsored Biodiversity Day Expos 
were successfully hosted in Kirstenbosch in May 2008 and 
March 2009, the latter in conjunction with the Earth Hour 
celebrations of WWF-SA. 

The Gardens embraced their expanded role of educating and 
informing the broader public on the value and importance of 
South Africa’s rich biodiversity and the ecosystem services they 
provide through various programmes and events. 

The Gardens continued work on documenting their biodiversity 
through consultation with professional biologists and amateur 
organisations. With financial support from Sappi, a consolidated 
bird checklist for the nine Gardens was published in the SANBI 
Biodiversity Series, with 440 birds recorded in the Gardens so far. 

New Garden maps for all nine Gardens were completed and 
virtual tours for the upgraded website reviewed. The Gardens 
continued to offer natural history courses on a diverse range 
of subjects to interested members of the public. Nocturnal 
stargazing events were also very well attended. A visitors’ 
survey was conducted by Rhodes University students in several 
Gardens.

Interpretation
Good interpretation tools offer visitors a meaningful and 
enjoyable experience in the Gardens. The SANBI Interpretation 
Team continued to develop its interpretation section through 
guided walks, trails, signs, and other interpretive products. In 
addition to providing information on the amazing natural world 
around us, interpretation tools can also be used to prompt 
visitors into action, especially concerning environmental issues. 
This year, for example, a recycling campaign was implemented in 
most Gardens.

Interpretation Officers have daily contact with visitors and play a 
vital part in marketing the Gardens. Liaison with the media also 
takes place on a regular basis. Advertising events via a visitor 
email database has proved to be very successful in the Pretoria 
and Walter Sisulu Gardens.

Interpretation Officers of all Gardens were involved in developing 
and populating the Gardens’ web pages with information and 

images for the new SANBI website. Detailed pictorial maps of all 
nine Gardens were prepared for the website and are also used 
for marketing purposes.

A new Interpretation Officer was appointed in the Free State 
Garden and three Interpretation Officers successfully completed 
the Junior and Middle Management Development Programmes 
presented by USBEd. SANBI’s Interpretation Officers will attend 
the BGCI 7th International Congress on Education in Botanic 
Gardens in Durban in November 2009.

Staff capacity development 
A wide range of training courses were completed by Garden 
staff, and a total of 13 in-service horticultural students, six interns 
and one Kirstenbosch Scholar were hosted, all from designated 
groups and 63% female. A number of staff from various Gardens 
completed the junior and middle management development 
programmes through the University of Stellenbosch Business 
School’s Executive Development.

The programme for horticultural staff to develop their professional 
and personal growth and to provide greater job satisfaction was 
continued, with staff spending time in other Gardens on a short-
term basis. Staff from several Gardens attended a horticulture 
and landscaping training course at the Durban University of 
Technology, as well as a two-week herbarium management 
course at the National Herbarium. Several staff participated in 
SANBI’s successful Angolan Biodiversity Expedition to south-
western Angola in January 2009. Staff attended various national 
and international conferences and workshops. 

Infrastructural progress
New tourism infrastructural developments were completed 
in the Harold Porter and KwaZulu-Natal Gardens with funds 
received from DEAT and their Social Responsibility Programme. 
Upgrading of the Grahamstown Botanical Garden continued, 
with additional funds from DEAT to support the construction 
of a new environmental education centre in the Grahamstown 
Botanical Garden.
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WESTERN CAPE

KIRSTENBOSCH NATIONAL BOTANICAL GARDEN, CAPE TOWN, Est. 1913

This magnificent and world-famous Garden received 699,813 visitors and increased overall income by 8.7% to reach 
R25 million, mainly as a result of improved income from concerts, sculpture sales and rentals from commercial tenants.

Attendance of the Summer Sunset Concerts sponsored by Old Mutual was up by 16% on the previous year. The new 
online booking system encouraged early purchasing of tickets, with seven of the most popular concerts selling out. The 
Concerts all hosted various biodiversity exhibits, from climate change to butterflies. The sponsored 2008 Kirstenbosch 
Botanical Art Biennale Exhibition was held in September. 

Capital developments included enlarging and raising the concert stage and extending the concert ablutions facility. 
The access road to the concert area was resurfaced and a new wheelchair ramp was constructed. The last of the old 
asphalt roads in the Garden was also resurfaced with the financial support of BotSoc. The Pelargonium Kopje area was 
redeveloped. Kirstenbosch continued to provide support to the Harold Porter and Karoo Desert Gardens through the 
supply of compost and mulching materials, among others.

Numerous plant collecting trips ensured that the Garden continues to study and display new collections. The Alpine 
corner unit in the Conservatory was converted into a Welwitschia House with the approval of the original funder, Ian 
Reddihough, who contributed additional funding for the redevelopment.

The world-renowned Irish landscape designer Daimund Gavin and well-known TV personality Charlie Dimmock of 
‘Ground Force’ fame gave slide presentations attended by hundreds of garden enthusiasts.

KAROO DESERT NATIONAL BOTANICAL GARDEN, WORCESTER, Est. 1921

The only truly succulent Garden in the southern hemisphere and on the African continent, famous for its multicoloured 
displays of annuals and vygies in spring, the Garden recorded 50,100 visitors, an 8% increase on the previous year. This 
last year saw the wettest winter in 50 years, with rainfall of 200 mm over two days in November causing damage to 
roads as well as landslides. But the spring flower display was exceptionally brightly coloured. 

The new Kokerboom restaurant contributed significantly to the increased visitor numbers and income, and continues to 
be a popular birthday function venue. Foreign visitors visit often, and it is also used as a location for international fashion 
and film shoots. 

To strengthen the marketing of the Garden, a strategic partnership was established with the nearby Fairy Glen Private 
Game Reserve.

A new Interpretation Officer was appointed. Garden staff gave numerous talks and guided tours to local schools, clubs 
and foreign visitors. A new initiative through the Western Cape Education Department and Parmalat SA was launched in 
May 2008 to attract more learners to the Garden.

Collaborative plant and seed collecting trips were made, improving the representation of the region’s plant diversity held 
within the Garden’s ex situ collections. The Braille Trail was upgraded during the year. Staff participated in the annual 
Kirstenbosch Plant Fair in March 2009.
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HAROLD PORTER NATIONAL BOTANICAL 
GARDEN, BETTY’S BAY, Est. 1959

Located in the heart of the Fynbos area, this magical garden is 
backgrounded by sweeping mountain slopes and deep gorges. 

The Garden hosted 51,681 visitors, representing a 2% increase 
compared with the previous year. 

A major achievement this year was the completion of the new 
restaurant and conference centre. Additional developments 
included a new pedestrian bridge in Disa Kloof sponsored by 
BotSoc and a new irrigation system jointly sponsored by the 
Rowland & Leta Hill Trust and BotSoc.The new developments 
provided temporary jobs for 165 people as well as 27,327 
person days of employment and close to 1,000 accredited 
training days for previously unemployed local people.

A permanent Education Officer was appointed in the Garden 
for the first time. Various schools and learners from the greater 
Overberg area used the Garden and many guided tours and talks 
were presented. 

Saturday guided walks were held monthly. Other events included 
the successful annual Christmas Carols Concert and two 
Summer Sunset Concerts. The Garden participated in several 
exhibitions and festivals.

A new Limestone Fynbos Demonstration Garden was 
established and a range of collaborative plant-collecting trips 
were undertaken. The Garden hosted horticultural interns from 
the Cape Peninsula University of Technology completing their 
six-month in-service training. Three students from Green Futures 
completed their two-week in-service training in the Garden. 

Negotiations with the Overstrand Municipality continued to 
facilitate the expansion of the Garden and the development of a 
joint management agreement for adjacent municipal erven.

NORTHERN CAPE

HANTAM NATIONAL BOTANICAL GARDEN, 
NIEUWOUDTVILLE, Est. 2008

The name ‘Hantam’ is derived from the Nama word heyntama, 
the name for the edible tubers of certain pelargonium species. 
World-famous for its incredible diversity of bulbous plants, 
the Hantam Garden produces spectacular displays in autumn 
and spring each year. The Garden also comprises large 
natural patches of Renosterveld, Fynbos and Succulent Karoo 
vegetation. Even though the 6,200 ha property of this beautiful 
new Garden was transferred to SANBI on 9 October 2007, it was 
only formally gazetted by the DEAT Minister on 12 December 
2008. 

During its first year of operation, the Garden hosted 1,763 
visitors, 89% of them during August and September. Garden bus 
tours will be offered during spring 2009 and should result in a 
significant increase in visitor numbers and income.

Much of the first year was spent on upgrading existing 
infrastructure. This included improvements to the public ablutions 
and installation of a water purification system. A series of day-
walking trails were laid out. Three of the four schools in the 
Hantam district visited the Garden for educational purposes. 
Staff received training in first aid, GIS, fire extinguishing and 
tourist guiding.

Various biodiversity monitoring and research projects were 
conducted in the Garden by both national and international 
researchers. Over 150 birds have so far been recorded.

A Management Plan was developed for the Hantam Garden. A 
workshop that included both commercial and emerging farmers 
from the area was held in Nieuwoudtville to discuss a Grazing 
Management Strategy for the Garden.
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MPUMALANGA

LOWVELD NATIONAL BOTANICAL GARDEN, NELSPRUIT, Est. 1969

The Garden’s 42,600 visitors attest to its position as an important nature-based tourism attraction, function venue and 
biodiversity haven in the greater Nelspruit area. Dominated by its rugged, rocky river scenery, it is not surprising that the 
Garden is a sought-after venue, which this year hosted several local and provincial government-sponsored events as well 
as private and corporate functions. Visitors to the Garden enjoyed various biodiversity presentations and guided walks.

Halls Properties formally alienated to SANBI an area of 3,000 m² of land for the purposes of the current entrance to the 
Garden, which is now a public access road managed by the Mbombela Local Municipality. A dedicated irrigation system 
was supplied to the Riverside section of the landscaped Garden, and the installation of a security system to the cycad 
gene banks was completed. The Garden hosted the annual SANBI Interpreters’ Week in October.

Close working relationships were developed with the Riverside Precinct Association, Mpumalanga Tourism and Parks 
Agency, SANBI’s CREW Programme and the MSB Project. A three-year Mpumalanga Medicinal Plant Project was 
implemented in collaboration with Kew’s MSB Project.

The Garden participated in the annual Innibos Arts Festival, and hosted a music concert featuring the Soweto String 
Quartet and various courses, talks, workshops and functions, including the annual Plant Fair.

Garden staff participated in several training courses, while horticultural staff undertook a number of plant-collecting 
excursions to various parts of Mpumalanga and the Limpopo Province.

FREE STATE

FREE STATE NATIONAL BOTANICAL GARDEN, BLOEMFONTEIN, Est. 1967

With upgraded visitor facilities and the added attraction of the Environmental Education Centre and restaurant, 25,724 
visitors were received at this Garden, which spans a valley between picturesque dolerite koppies, and whose natural 
vegetation is tall grassland, karroid and evergreen shrublands that include magnificent wild olive and karee trees. 

Local schools and community groups enjoyed guided tours and lectures on indigenous gardening topics. The Garden 
hosted the National Science Week in the Free State Province for the third consecutive year. Concerts were held and 
special environmental days celebrated in the Garden. 

A new marquee lawn was established near the Education Centre. An Environmental Management Plan was developed 
for the Garden.

Collaboration with the Free State Branch of BotSoc continued, with various events and celebrations held through the 
year. Close relations were continued with various sections of the Mangaung Municipality.

Staff participated in several plant rescue and collaborative collecting trips. Working relations with the Katse Botanical 
Garden in Lesotho were renewed.
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KWAZULU-NATAL

KWAZULU-NATAL NATIONAL BOTANICAL 
GARDEN, PIETERMARITZBURG, Est. 1874

The oldest of all the Gardens received 56,902 visitors this year. 
With its extensive collection of plants from the eastern region of 
South Africa, its magnificent trees and its echoes of our Victorian 
past, the Garden continued to provide a popular venue for 
wedding photographs. 

The Plane Tree Avenue Centenary tea party held in the avenue in 
July was a great success, with the formal Centenary dinner held 
in November.

Major accomplishments included the completion of the new 
DEAT Social Responsibility Programme-sponsored restaurant, 
upgraded parking area and access road as well as related 
visitors’ centre tourism infrastructure. The project has thus far 
provided 128 temporary jobs for previously unemployed people, 
20,347 person days and over 500 training days. 57% of staff 
employed on contract were female. The new pathway around the 
upgraded wetland area was successfully completed, together 
with colourful landscaping and new interpretive wetland display 
boards.

The Garden participated in various tourism exhibitions and 
hosted a range of shows, functions, events and concerts. 

Close collaboration continued with Ezemvelo KZN Wildlife, Hilton 
College, the University of KwaZulu-Natal and SANBI’s CREW 
Programme. The Garden was supported by the KwaZulu-Natal 
Inland Branch of BotSoc and numerous regular volunteers. The 
Administration Offices were extended. Garden staff attended 
various training courses and workshops, and conducted 
plant-collecting trips to various areas in KwaZulu-Natal and 
Mpumalanga. Staff continued to clear invasive alien plants.

GAUTENG
PRETORIA NATIONAL BOTANICAL GARDEN, 
PRETORIA, Est. 1958

This Garden, an urban nature retreat with a wooded quartzitic 
sandstone ridge and a unique combination of grasslands, 
succulents and savanna vegetation, is a birding haven. The 
Pretoria Garden received 72,483 visitors during the year, hosting 
many guided tours for local and international visitors as well as a 
range of workshops and walks. 

The popular Tea Garden was upgraded as part of the Garden’s 
50th anniversary celebrations, which included a range of 
sponsored events, from a Garden Clean-up Day, Run/Walk 
for Wellness and Tree Planting Ceremony to a very successful 
Photographic Competition. Garden staff participated in the 2008 
Gardenex Exhibition, where they won a silver medal. Athletics SA 
held a Run/Walk for Life in the Garden.

The Medicinal Plants Garden and Useful Plants Garden were 
upgraded. The Garden held several successful Pick ‘n Pay-
sponsored concerts during winter, as well as the annual Carols 
by Candlelight concert. The Hard Rain Exhibition, an Art & Wine 
Stroll, a Green Market and indigenous plant sale were hosted in 
the Garden. 

Funds were received from Working for Wetlands for new wetland 
pathways and a stream bed to be developed between the 
waterfall and wetlands areas. The Pretoria and Walter Sisulu 
Gardens were promoted at the Getaway Show.  

Photo: MADELENE KRUGER
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WALTER SISULU NATIONAL BOTANICAL 
GARDEN, ROODEPOORT/MOGALE CITY, Est. 1982

A mosaic of grassland and savanna, with dense bush in 
kloofs and along streams, this Garden has become one 
of the most sought-after places to visit in the area, as 
attested by the record 187,781 visitors, an 8% increase 
on the previous year. For the fourth time, the Garden won 
the ‘Best Spot to Get Back to Nature/Best Picnic Venue’ in 
the 2008 Leisure Options Best of Johannesburg Readers’ 
Choice Awards. 

The Garden hosted the Sappi-sponsored Sunday Picnic 
Concert season, Pick ‘n Pay-sponsored Teddy Bears’ 
Picnic and the Hard Rain Exhibition, and was used for a 
range of photo, film and music video shoots and television 
commercials. A very successful Valentine’s Evening Picnic 
event was hosted.

Generous sponsorship was received from Sasol to upgrade 
the Sasol Dam and Bird Hide. Paving of the road to the 
concert stage was completed, and work started on the new 
Bird and Butterfly Garden. Refurbishment and revamping of 
the Forest Walk and Dell sections of the Garden continued.

BotSoc continued to provide support to the Garden 
through sponsorships and regular natural history and 
biodiversity talks, walks and courses both inside and 
outside the Garden. Garden staff undertook several 
collaborative collecting expeditions to the Eastern Cape, 
KwaZulu-Natal and Mpumalanga. The Garden participated 
in the annual Getaway Show, Gardenex, Indaba Tourism 
Exhibition, and Garden World’s Spring Festival. The Garden 
hosted SANBI’s annual Educators’ Week in November.

Photo: GLYN WILLIAMS

Photo: MADELENE KRUGER
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HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION
The Human Resources Division manages the employment of SANBI’s 719 employees. The Division deals with the entire spectrum 
of employment issues, with a special focus on recruitment and selection, performance management, training and development, 
transformation, labour relations and employee wellness.

In support of our transformation process, SANBI is continuing with the implementation of a Diversity Management Programme (launched 
in 2005). The programme aims to increase employee productivity by:

•	 utilising employees’ talents

•	 creating a work environment that allows everyone to reach their full potential

•	 attracting a diverse population to SANBI, and 

•	 increasing job satisfaction. 

At present SANBI is aligning its systems and practices to foster diversity.

Two Management Development Programmes (junior and middle management) that aim to improve performance and management 
effectiveness and prepare staff for managerial succession were launched. A pleasing 26 junior managers and 17 middle managers 
graduated from the programmes. 

We continue to acknowledge the seriousness of the HIV/AIDS epidemic and to be committed to providing support for employees who 
are infected or affected. Through the employee wellness programme, we participated in the national STI/Condom week in February 
2009. The theme was ‘Lead and Unite, Strengthen Sexual Reproductive Health’. Part of the aim of the campaign was to remind staff to 
take responsibility for their health by having regular health checks.  

Profile of staff members
SANBI	continued	to	attract	suitably	qualified	and	experienced	staff	reflecting	South	Africa’s	demographics.	The	table	below	reflects	the	
profile	of	permanent	and	contract	staff	by	Occupational	Levels,	Gender	and	Race	as	at	31	March	2009.	 		 		
   

Occupational 
Level Level Male Status Total 

Male Female Status Total 
Female

Total 
Filled

Total 
Designated 

Groups 
filled

Total Non-
Designated 

Group 
filled

Designated 
Group

Non-
Designated 

Group

  A C I W  A C I W       

Top 
Management F 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 3 3 3 0 100.0% 0.0%

Senior 
Management E 5 2 0 7 14 2 1 0 6 9 23 16 7 69.5% 30.5%

Professionally 
Qualified and 
Experienced 
Specialists 
and Middle 
Management

D 22 7 3 37 69 19 11 5 49 84 153 116 37 75.8% 24.2%

Skilled 
Technical and  
Academically 
Qualified 
Workers, Junior 
Management, 
Supervisors, 
Foremen and 
Superintendents

C 23 10 0 6 39 19 26 2 24 71 110 104 6 94.5% 5.5%

Semi-skilled and 
Discretionary 
Decision-making 

B 119 79 1 2 201 35 28 3 15 81 282 280 2 99.3% 0.7%

Unskilled and 
Defined Decision-
making

A 85 18 2 0 105 34 9 0 0 43 148 148 0 100.0% 0.0%

 TOTAL  254 116 6 52 428 110 77 10 94 291 719 667 52 92.8% 7.2%
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Staff training and development
The Division continued to build national professional capacity in biodiversity, with staff attending training workshops 
ranging from Health and Safety, Management Development, Project Management, Herbarium Management, Performance 
Management,	Finance	and	Budgets,	Web	Design,	ArcView	BGIS,	Tourist	Guiding,	and	Horticultural	Skills	to	Environmental	
Management.	The	table	below	reflects	the	Number	of	Staff	Trained:

Staff bursary programme

Developing capacity among young graduates
Another aspect of building professional capacity in the biodiversity sector that represents South Africa’s demography 
is providing young students with opportunities to gain hands-on experience and to improve their employability upon 
qualification.	Experiential	learning	opportunities	are	offered	to	students	doing	their	National	Diplomas	in	Horticulture	and	
Nature Conservation. 

SANBI makes internship opportunities available to students thinking of a career in biodiversity research or science. These 
internships	provide	SANBI	with	the	specific	skills	we	require	and	give	students	the	opportunity	to	work	on	research	
projects.
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Qualification Level
Male Status Female Status Total

A C I W A C I W  

Undergraduate 4 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 14

BTech, Honours 1 1 0 0 3 1 0 2 8

Master’s 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 5

Doctorate 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 TOTAL 6 3 0 0 10 4 0 4 27

Occupational Level
Male Status Female Status Total

A C I W A C I W  

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 0 1 0 5 1 0 0 2 9

Professionally Qualified and Experienced Specialists and Middle 
Management

9 5 2 12 11 5 2 28 74

Skilled Technical and  Academically Qualified Workers, Junior 
Management, Supervisors, Foremen and Superintendents

17 7 0 3 13 12 0 14 66

Semi-skilled and Discretionary Decision-making 43 27 1 0 13 14 0 0 98

Unskilled and Defined Decision-making 5 2 0 0 7 1 0 0 15

 TOTAL 74 42 3 20 45 32 2 44 262
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The	table	below	reflects	the	number	of	students	and	interns	supported	during	the	year	under	review:

Division/Directorate Programme Male Status Female Status Total

A C I W A C I W

Conservation Gardens & Tourism Experiential Learning 4 0 0 0 8 0 0 3 15

Internship 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 1 4

Kirstenbosch Scholarship 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

Applied Biodiversity Research Internship 2 0 0 0 2 2 0 3 9

MSc bursary 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

PhD bursary 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2

Biosystematics Research & 
Collections

Internship 6 1 0 0 8 0 4 0 19

MSc bursary 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Climate Change & Bio-Adaptation Short-term PhD bursary 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2

MSc bursary 0 4 0 1 0 0 0 1 6

PhD bursary 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Biodiversity Mainstreaming & 
Planning

Internship 0 0 0 0 4 2 0 0 6

MSc bursary 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

PhD bursary 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

Biodiversity Education & 
Empowerment

Internship 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 2

TOTAL 14 8 0 1 22 8 6 13 71

MARKETING	AND	COMMUNICATIONS	DIRECTORATE
The appointment of a Director: Marketing and Communications in July 2008 presented an opportunity to identify prospects and chart 
a	way	forward,	especially	as	SANBI	had	been	without	a	marketing	director	the	previous	financial	year	and	during	the	first	quarter	of	the	
financial	year	under	review.	The	Directorate	prepared	a	framework	for	a	brand	redevelopment	plan,	which	includes	a	marketing	strategy	
and concepts for a more relevant and representative corporate identity.

Internal communications have been revived. The Directorate was also involved in a number of key tactical interventions which received 
good media coverage, including the Reef Atlas Programme and Marine Week, Arbor Week, the Angola Expedition, Wetlands Day, and 
the Pretoria 50th Anniversary. We played a leading role in developing corporate projects, including the redeveloped website and a new 
corporate	leaflet.

The main challenge going forward is to ensure integrated marketing efforts within SANBI.

INFORMATION	TECHNOLOGY	DIRECTORATE
The Information Technology Department is in the process of positioning itself as a strategic service delivery vehicle. The Directorate’s 
mission	statement	–	‘to	be	an	excellent	business	enabler’	–	reflects	our	shift	in	focus	to	customer	and	service	delivery.

The	Directorate	is	leading	the	way	with	‘Green	IT’,	providing	cost-effective	and	efficient	technology	services	that	are	environmentally	
friendly.	We	also	have	simplified	our	communications,	consolidated	our	office	automation,	and	unified	our	messaging	facilities	to	SANBI’s	
clients worldwide. 
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One of our key 
highlights was the 
appointment of 
our Chief Financial 
Officer.

Photo: VERONIQUE WOLFAARDT
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The South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) was established in terms of the National Environmental 
Management: Biodiversity Act of 2004 (No. 10 of 2004) and is subject to the provisions of the PFMA 1999.

The members of the SANBI Board are responsible for the presentation of Annual Financial Statements in compliance with 
generally accepted accounting practices, the maintenance of accounting records, internal control and risk management, 
and the consistent use of appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable judgements and estimates.

The Board believes that the Institute is a going concern for the foreseeable future.

The Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 were approved by the Board on 29 June 2009 and 
are signed on its behalf by:

Mr Tami Sokutu  Dr Tanya Abrahamse
Chairperson of the SANBI Board Chief Executive Officer

One of the highlights of the year under review was the appointment of a new Chief Financial Officer in August, following 
on the appointment of a new Director: Finance in July. The new leadership has motivated the finance team generally. In 
October, a finance strategic and team-building session was held.

SANBI remains committed to delivering service and operational excellence in a way that adds value to the fiscal grants 
received from government and the various sponsors and donors of the Institute. In the current economic climate, 
providing guidance and support has been more important than ever before for the Finance Division. 

As in previous years, compliance with the robust regulatory framework provided by DEAT and National Treasury is of 
critical importance. The Finance Division continues to ensure that SANBI’s operations remain streamlined to enable good 
governance.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD
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South African National Biodiversity Institute Annual Financial Statements

REPORT BY THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY
to the Executive Authority and Parliament of the Republic of South Africa.

Preparation and presentation of the Annual Financial Statements

The South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) has early adopted all the standards of GRAP that have been issued and were 
effective from 1 April 2009. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with Standards of 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board and approved by the Minister of Finance.  

Implementation of GRAP

On initial application of the GRAP Framework, it was noted that IAS20 does not form part of the Framework. When IAS20 was applied, 
SANBI deferred the income on government grants received for assets. The deferred income was recognised as the asset was used so 
as to match the revenue to the expense. When the GRAP Framework was adopted, SANBI developed a new accounting policy for these 
grants. In terms of the new policy, government grants are recognised as income to the extent that there is no further obligation arising from 
the receipt of the transfer payment. SANBI is of the opinion that this treatment is more appropriate and provides more reliable and relevant 
effects of transactions on the Institute’s financial position, financial performance or cash flow than applying the treatment of IAS20. This 
change in accounting policy was applied retrospectively.

General review of the state of affairs

The financial position of the business and activities of SANBI is clearly indicated in the attached financial statements.

In the current financial year, the net deficit for SANBI amounted to R8.476 million for the year, despite the increase in cash and cash 
equivalents by R5.0 million, which includes the increase in monies received for projects. This increase is a result of revenue received 
for projects and government grants, which should be deferred and recognised in the same period that the related expense is incurred. 
Increased unspent committed funds of R47.5 million (2008: R16.5 million) is a reflection of the organisation’s success in attracting sponsors 
and funders for specific projects. These projects are a mix of operating and capital funding.

Notwithstanding certain challenges facing the Institute, as indicated in the main part of this Annual Report, SANBI continues to perform 
well. The results for the period under review are:

Income

Total income increased by 11.5% (R34.3 million) from R296.8 million (2008) to R331.1 million (2009).

The increase was attributed to:

The Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism (DEAT) increased its MTEF grant by 17.4% for the year under review.

Other grants, sponsorships and donations increased by R11.9 million. This is mainly due to an increase of R54 million in project funding 
from DEAT via its Expanded Public Works Programme. (See project funding below for more detail.)

Income from investments increased by 88.3% from R3,6 million (2008) to R6,8 million (2009) as a result of higher interest rates. The 
investment call account decreased from R16,3 million (2008) to R9,1 million (2009). 

 

Statement of financial performance
2009
R’000

2008
R’000

Increase / (Decrease)

R'000 %

Government grant  128,831  109,696  19,135 17.4%

Other grants, sponsorships and donations  160,749 148,843 11,906 8.0%

Investment income  6,807  3,614  3,193 88.3%

Sales  1,554  2,305  (752) (32.6%)

Admission fees  21,877  20,876  1,002 4.8%

Rent received  7,456  8,031  (574) (7.2%)

Disposal of property, plant and equipment  545  266  279 100.0%

Foreign exchange gain  359  1  359 57696.1%

Other income  2,909  3,184  (275) -8.6%

Total  331,087  296,814  34,273 11.5%
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Sales consisted of plants, seeds and publications and decreased by 32.6% from R2,3 million (2008) to R1,6 million (2009), 
mainly as a result of the poor economy.

Admission fees are generated through gate takings by the National Botanical Gardens (NBGs). The increase of 4.8% from 
R20.9 million (2008) to R21.9 million (2009) is mainly the result of a small price increase and not volume growth.

The income from rent received decreased by R0.6 million or 7.2% (R8,0 million : 2008; R7.5 million : 2009) from the previous 
year, mainly as a result of the general slowdown in the economy, higher than usual numbers of rainy days and fewer people 
renting conference facilities, all resulting in reduced numbers of visitors to several Gardens as well as decreased income 
derived from restaurant operations. These facilities are outsourced and the rent is based on a % of turnover.

The profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment increased from R0.3 million (2008) to R0.5 million. The disposals 
consist of Insurance pay-outs due to an increase in burglaries.

Other income consisted of professional services rendered, guided tours conducted, commissions, and seminars and 
workshops hosted. The decrease of 8.6% (R0.2 million) is mainly attributable to lower fees generated in 2009 for professional 
services rendered.  Other income amounted to R3.2 million in 2008 and decreased to R2.9 million in 2009.

DEAT remains a significant contributor to SANBI’s operations:       
           2009                 2008

DEAT income as % of total income     67.3%  68.4%

Other income as % of total income     32.7%  31.6%   

                   100.0%              100.0%   

Expenses

The total expenses, increased by 19.7% (R55.9 million) from R283.7 million (2008) to R339.6 million (2009). Total 
increase was attributed to:

Expenses
2009
R'000

2008
R'000

Increase / (Decrease)

R'000 %

Personnel costs  133,267  112,731  20,535 18.2%

Operating expenses  92,247  69,168  23,079 33.4%

Audit fees: Regulatory audit (AG-SA)  867  571  296 51.8%

Audit fees: Internal audit  738  550  188 34.2%

Irrecoverable debt and other losses  -    87  (87) 100.0%

Finance costs  21  66  (45) (67.8%)

Depreciation and amortisation  11,710  9,976  1,734 17.4%

Direct project expenditure  100,713  90,501  10,212 11.3%

Total  339,563  283,652  55,911 19.7%



The most significant expenses were:

Personnel costs

Personnel costs increased by 18.2% from R112.7 million (2008) to R133.3 million (2009). This increase was mainly attributed to a 10.5% 
salary increase given by the DPSA.  This, as well as a DPSA directive on Senior Management Staff (SMS) increases, resulted in the high 
increase. Both these increases had a knock on effect on SANBI’s contribution to pension and medical aid.

The inherited back log on job evaluations conducted, resulted in promotions to higher salary levels for certain staff (much needed for 
retention of staff) and so contributed to increased personnel costs.

A new staff establishment, approved by the Board and aimed at improving the human capital and skills base of the Institute (as well as 
for transformation purposes) to enable SANBI to retain and attract personnel to deliver on its expanded mandate as set out in NEMBA, 
had a higher than expected increased expenditure also related to DPSA directives above.

Employee costs constituted 39.2% (2008: 39.7%) of the total expenses of SANBI.

Leave pay expenses

Leave pay expense (R1.9 million) has remained the same as 2008.

Operating expenses

• Operating expenses increased by 33.4% from R69.2 million (2008) to R92.2 million (2009). The increase of R23.1 million was 
mainly due to the following:

• Professional services – R7.4 million compared to R1.1 million in 2008.

• Consulting fees (Project implementation, information technology and other fees – R18.7 million (R12 million : 2008) -  55.5% 
increase. 

• Travel costs – R10.1 million (2008: R6.8 million) – 42% increase.

Depreciation

Depreciation increased by 17.4% from R10.0 million (2008) to R11.7 million (2009). The increase is a direct result of the full year impact 
of the previous years and current years capital expenditure programme of R29.6 million (2008: R42.2 million).

Direct project expenditure 

Direct project expenditure (R100.7 million : 2009; R90.5 million : 2008)  increased by 11.3% (R10.2 million). These expenses are 
dependent on the timing of completion of projects over the life of a project.  
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
2009 2008 Increase / (Decrease)

R'000 R'000 R'000 %

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment  208,883 191,707 17,176 9%

Intangible assets 2,547  814  1,733 213%

Retirement benefits 1,107 - 1,107 100%

212,537 192,521 20,016 10%

Current assets 44,368 40,003 4,365 11%

Inventories  633  518  114 22%

Trade and other receivables  2,243  3,019  (776) (26%)

Cash and cash equivalents 41,492  36,465 5,026 14%

Total assets 256,904 232,523 24,381 10%

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves 134,765 143,241  (8,476) (6%)

Income fund 134,765 143,241  (8,476) (6%)

Non-current liabilities 28,020 25,280 2,740 11%

Retirement benefit obligation  28,020  25,280  2,740 11%

Current liabilities 94,119 64,002 30,117 47%

Projects fund: unspent committed 47,482  16,502 30,980 188%

Trade and other payables 46,637  47,132  (495) (1%)

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings  -    368  (368) 0%

Total equity and liabilities 256,904 232,523 24,381 10%
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Non-current assets

Non-current assets increased by 10% (R20.0 million). The increase was mainly due to the acquisition of assets of R30.7 million. Land and 
buildings amounted to R18.2 million, equipment to R8.4 million, vehicles to R1.9 million and intangible assets to R2.2 million. Depreciation 
and amortisation amounted to R11.7 million. The Defined Benefit asset of R1.1 million was recognised for the first time in 2009. 

Current assets

Current assets increased by R4.4 million (11%), cash and cash equivalents increased by R5.1 million (14%) as a direct result of the higher 
project funds received. Inventories increased by R0.1 million (22.0%) and Trade and other receivables decreased by R0.8 million (26%). 

Capital and reserves

The decrease of 6% in the Income Fund by R8.5 million was mainly due to increased expenditure.

Non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities increased by R2.7 million (11%).

The reasons for the increase are:

• A R2.7 million (11%) increase in post-retirement medical aid benefit. This is a direct result of the increase in medical aid benefit costs 
and SANBI’s employees with exceptionally long service histories.

Current liabilities

Current liabilities increased by R30.1 million (47%).

The increase is due to the net effect of:

• Unspent project funds to the amount of R31.0 million (+188%). Unspent project funds transferred amounted to R28.9 million for 
externally funded projects and R2.1 million for MTEF projects, compared to R24.6 million released in the prior year. The utilisation of 
project funding received in advance is continuing year-on-year.

• Decrease in trade and other payables of R0.5 million (1%).

Project funding

Total funds received from external donors for the year under review increased by 54.3% from 2008. Total funds received amounted to 
R191.7 million (R124.2 million – 2008). Over and above the MTEF Grant, DEAT continues to be our biggest funder of external projects 
(67.3%). We received R128.9 million (R74.8 million – 2008) via its Expanded Public Works Programme, being the Working for Wetlands, 
Greening of the Nation and Capital Development Programmes that are implemented by SANBI, as well as the annual Capital Development 
Grant of R10 million. The Gauteng Department of Agriculture Conservation & Environment also contributed R1 million towards the Working 
for Wetlands Programme and the Independent Development Trust contributed R2.3 million towards the Greening of the Nation Project.  
Significant new project funds amounted to R6.8 million (3.6%) which include Department of Water Affairs (R2.9 million) and Forestry for 
the Early Detection and Rapid Response of Invasive Alien Species project, Department of Science & Technology for the SA Biodiversity 
Information Framework Project (R2.7 million) and NRF for the South African Environmental Observation Network project (R1.3 million).

Total funds received from foreign donors also increased significantly year on year by 78.7%. The total funds received amounted to R46.7 
million (24.3% of the total) (R26.1 million – 2008). The largest contribution was received from the World Bank (R20.6 million) for the C.A.P.E. 
Programme, United Nations Development Programme (R8.7 million) for the C.A.P.E. and Grasslands Programmes, CEPF via Conservation 
International (R6.2 million), the most significant of which was for the SKEP project. Other significant funds received from foreign donors 
include: the Andrew Mellon Foundation (R2.1 million) for the 5th African Plants Initiative (API) Meeting, the Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, 
(R1.9 million) for the Millennium Seed Bank Project and the Norwegian Government via DEAT (R1.3 million) for the Threatened Species 
Programme.

Detailed information on these projects is given under the Key Performance Indicators and Overview of Programme Performance reports 
in the narrative of this Annual Report.

Services rendered by the South African National Biodiversity Institute

The services that are rendered by SANBI are discussed in detail under Key Performance Indicators and Overview of Programme 
Performance in the narrative of this Annual Report.

Capacity and other constraints

A new staff establishment, approved by the Board and aimed at improving the human capital and skills base of the Institute (as well as for 
transformation purposes) to enable SANBI to retain and attract personnel to deliver on its expanded mandate as set out in NEMBA, has 
been appointed.

As a major concern last year, the SANBI Finance Division welcomed the appointment of three senior positions during the financial year. The 
Chief Financial Officer, Director Finance as well as the Deputy Director Finance positions has been filled. 
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Corporate governance arrangements

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Statement which appears elsewhere (Corporate Review) in this Annual Report.

Performance information

Performance targets for SANBI are set on an annual basis. Full disclosure of these targets and performance against them 
is disclosed in this Annual Report. Quarterly performance reports are prepared by SANBI and submitted to DEAT and other 
stakeholders, reflecting achievements during the various reporting periods. Throughout, results obtained are assessed 
against targets set.

Events subsequent to year end

The results of a forensic investigation undertaken during the year indicated that certain irregular expenditure may have 
been incurred by SANBI in prior years on the Greening of the Nation Project contract period between January 2005 and 
December 2007. The final report has been issued and the matter reported to the South African Police Services to recover 
the costs from the parties involved. The outcome of the case will be reported accordingly in the next financial year.

Address

Registered office:  South African National Biodiversity Institute
   2 Cussonia Avenue, Brummeria, Pretoria, 0002
   Private Bag X101, Pretoria, 0001

Auditors

The South African National Biodiversity Institute, as a Public Entity, is audited by the Auditor-General or its nominees.

Approval

The Annual Financial Statements set out on pages 74 to 111 have been approved by the Accounting Authority. 

Mr Tami Sokuto
Chairperson of the SANBI Board
29 June 2009
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) 
subscribes to and is committed to complying with the principles 
and standards of integrity and accountability expressed in 
the Public Finance Management Act No.1 of 1999 (PMFA), 
relevant Treasury Regulations and the King Report on Corporate 
Governance. The Board is committed to providing timeous and 
meaningful information on all its activities.

Composition of the Board
Members of the SANBI Board are appointed in terms of Section 
15 of the National Environmental Management Biodiversity Act 
No. 10 of 2004.

The Board consists of not fewer than seven and not more 
than nine members who are appointed by the Minister of 
Environmental Affairs and Tourism. The Board further includes 
the Director-General, or an official of the Department of 
Environmental Affairs and Tourism (DEAT) designated by the 
Director-General, and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of 
SANBI. The Minister must appoint a member of the Board as 
Chairperson. Board members are appointed for a term of three 
years.

The Board has adopted formal terms of reference regulating its 
functions. The Board fulfils the same function as the Board of 
Directors of any other organisation on behalf of its stakeholders, 
with responsibility and accountability for all decisions of 
SANBI. The Board meets quarterly and monitors the executive 
management by ensuring that all material matters are subject 
to Board approval. The CEO is a member of the Board. Other 
members of the executive management attend Board meetings 
by invitation.

The members of the Board for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 April 
2009 comprised:

Mr T Sokutu (Chairperson)    

Dr T Abrahamse (CEO)    

Ms T Dingaan 

Mr T Frost

Dr P Hanekom     

Mr F Mketeni    

Ms K Montgomery    

Prof. P Omara-Ojungu

Ms M Pyoos

Mr S Somyo 

The roles of the Chairperson and CEO do not vest in the same 
person and the Chairperson is a non-executive member of the 
organisation. The Chairperson and CEO provide leadership and 
guidance to the Board. All advisory committees of the Board are 
chaired by non-executive members of the Board.

The Board’s duty is to submit, as soon as is practically possible 
after the end of each financial year:

• an Annual Report for the Minister’s approval and tabling in 
Parliament, and

• any other matter that the Minister requests the Board to deal 
with.

The effective functioning of the Board is largely dependent on the 
preparation, for its consideration, of SANBI’s Corporate Strategic 
Plan, its annual Business Plan, policy proposals, Medium Term 
Expenditure Framework (MTEF), and other such documents that 
require the Board’s approval.

All Board members are subject to and accept the provisions of 
the Biodiversity Act and the PFMA in terms of responsibility and 
accountability.

Composition of the Executive Management 
Committee

The Executive Management Committee comprises the CEO as 
Chairperson, Branch and Unit Managers and the Unit Heads of 
the functional areas of SANBI. This Committee meets bimonthly 
or more frequently if necessary. The role of the Committee is 
to ensure that all functions delegated to it by the Board are 
implemented in a coordinated and efficient manner. This refers in 
particular to the Board’s decisions, strategies and objectives. The 
Executive Management retains full and executive control over the 
organisation. This Committee adopted the terms of reference of 
the previous SANBI Operations Committee (OPCOM). 

The members of the Executive Management Committee for the 
period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009 were:

Dr T Abrahamse Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Ms Y Koyo Head: Conservation Management and 
Corporate Services

Ms C Mbizvo Head: Biodiversity Knowledge, Policy 
Network Management

Prof. G Smith Chief Director: Biosystematics and 
Collections

Prof. J Donaldson Chief Director: Applied Biodiversity 
Research

Dr G Midgely Chief Director: Climate Change and Bio-
adaptation

Ms KE Maze Chief Director: Biodiversity Planning and 
Mainstreaming

Mr C K Willis Chief Director: Conservation Gardens and 
Tourism 

Mr MJ Netshiombo Chief Director: Human Resources

Mr M Khoahli Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Dr MM Wolfson Director: Research Services and 
International Relations

Mr A Smith Director: Financial Management

Composition of the Audit Committee

An Audit Committee assists the Board by reviewing and reporting 
on the governance responsibilities of the Board and SANBI. The 
appointment of an Audit Committee is provided for in Treasury 
Regulation 27 of the PFMA.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, its duties and functions, its composition and its modus operandi, have 
been approved by the Board. The committee meets three times a year. 

Members of the Audit Committee for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009 comprised:

Dr PE Hanekom Chairperson

Dr T Abrahamse  ex officio

Mr T Bouwer  Independent Member

Mr GJ Dladla  Independent Member

Mr M Khoahli (CFO) ex officio

Ms M Pyoos  Member

Composition of the Advisory Committees of the Board

For operational effectiveness, the Board has instituted Advisory Committees for each of the functional areas of SANBI. 
The Advisory Committees comprise one or more members of the Board and several additional members who are 
recognised leaders in the functional areas. Members are appointed for a term concurrent with that of the Board. Any 
Board member may request or be requested to attend an Advisory Committee meeting.

The role of the Advisory Committees is to advise the Board on:

• the mandate given to SANBI by Parliament

• the strategic direction and emphasis of SANBI

• the efficient implementation of those facets of the Corporate Strategic Plan relevant to the functional area

• the evaluation of individual activities, personnel, budgeting requirements and the initiation of new activities of the 
termination of existing activities

• budget and infrastructure needs, and

• service to the community.

The Advisory Committees and their members are given below:

Committees 1 April 2008 – 31 March 2009

Strategy and Governance Advisory Committee

Mr T Frost                 Chairperson

Dr T Abrahamse

Mr M Khoahli            ex officio

Ms Y Koyo                ex officio

Ms K Montgomery

Mr S Somyo

Remuneration and Human Resource Advisory 
Committee

Ms T Dingaan           Chairperson

Dr T Abrahamse

Mr T Frost

Ms Y Koyo                ex officio

Mr M Netshiombo     ex officio

Management structure of SANBI

The management structure of SANBI is geographically decentralised because of the wide geographical spread and 
activities of its various units. The head of each unit is called a Head of Cost Centre.

Implicit in this structure is a substantial measure of delegation of both responsibility and authority, which in turn requires 
effective control and evaluation systems. Both financial and management responsibilities are delegated and clearly 
communicated to the Heads of Cost Centres. These officers are actively involved in the budget development cycle and 
must assume responsibility for the disciplined management of their budgets within clearly defined policies, procedures 
and delegations of authority. C
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GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
Framework
Corporate governance is a system that directs and controls 
organisations. It is a set of checks and balances that give 
assurance to stakeholders that the organisation is run according 
to sound corporate governance standards and principles. 
These standards and principles are based on international best 
practice. SANBI’s Board and the Operations Committee believe 
that SANBI has complied with these principles.

Financial Statements
SANBI’s Board and Operations Committee confirm that proper 
records are kept and that they fairly represent the financial state 
of affairs of SANBI. The financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practice (GAAP). 
External auditing is conducted by the office of the Auditor-
General.

Risk Management
Effective risk management is integral to SANBI’s objective 
of consistently adding value. Management is continuously 
developing and enhancing its risk and control procedures to 
improve the mechanisms for identifying and monitoring risks. 
Risk assessments are conducted on a regular basis and 
SANBI has a risk management strategy, which includes a fraud 
prevention plan. These assessments are used to direct the 
internal audit effort.

Key policies and procedures that are in place to manage 
operating risks include segregation of duties; transaction 
authorisation; supervision and monitoring, and financial and 
managerial reporting. Weaknesses identified in the systems of 
SANBI have been addressed.

SANBI’s fraud prevention policy and plan incorporates a whistle-
blowing system and procedures. The whistle-blowing hotline is 
administered by the South African Corporate Fraud Management 
Institute. Information on hotline disclosures are assessed in 
terms of warranting further investigation (forensic or other) and 
the necessary steps are taken to ensure that fraudulent and 
corruptive misdemeanours are adequately addressed and that 
stolen assets are recovered.

The insurance and risk management policies adopted are aimed 
at obtaining sufficient cover to protect SANBI’s asset base, 
its earning capacity and its legal obligations against possible 
insurable losses.

All buildings are insured. The following, inter alia, are not insured: 
roads, bridges, fencing (perimeter and other), dam walls and 
contents, driveways, pavements, outdoor recreation surfaces, 
outdoor parking surfaces, animals and plants of whatever nature.

SANBI has an active Risk Management and Fraud Prevention 
Committee that meets regularly and effectively deals with matters 
pertaining to its terms of reference. This committee is chaired by 
the CFO.

Internal Control Systems
To meet its responsibility with respect to providing reliable 
financial information, SANBI maintains internal control of its 
financial and operational systems. These controls are designed to 
provide reasonable assurances that transactions are concluded 
in accordance with management authority and recording, and 

that assets are protected against material loss or unauthorised 
acquisition, use or disposition.

The system includes a documented organisational structure 
showing division of responsibilities; established policies and 
procedures, and the careful selection, training and development 
of people.

Internal auditors monitor the operation of the internal 
control system and report findings and recommendations to 
Management and Executive Management. Corrective actions are 
taken to address control deficiencies. Opportunities to improve 
the systems are explored. The Board, operating through its Audit 
Committee, provides oversight of the financial reporting process 
and internal control system.

SANBI has a comprehensive network of compliance officers 
who submit quarterly reports on cost centre/project compliance 
in terms of recommendations made by the internal auditors. 
All compliance officers have a duty to ensure that controls 
and systems are put in place to mitigate possible risks from 
materialising.

The accounting policies and procedures have been presented 
and approved by the Board. All other operational policies have 
been revised, edited and approved by the Board during this 
financial year.

SANBI has an effective loss management system to report 
on losses and damages. These are entered in a Loss Control 
Register and appropriately and adequately adjudicated. Liability 
for these losses or damages is determined and necessary 
disciplinary procedures are instituted as needed. Assets are 
recovered where possible, or written off according to the relevant 
regulations and policies. 

Employment Equity and Transformation 
SANBI is committed to building an inclusive workforce, fostering 
an environment that respects the individual and offering the 
opportunity for all staff to develop to their full potential in the 
pursuit of SANBI’s goals. In support of the organisation’s 
transformation process, SANBI is continuing with the 
implementation of a diversity management programme (launched 
in 2005). The programme aims to increase employee productivity 
by utilising talents, creating a work environment that allows 
everyone to reach his or her full potential, attracting a diverse 
population to SANBI and increasing job satisfaction. At present 
SANBI is aligning organisational systems and practices to foster 
diversity.

The focus of the newly formed committee is to monitor 
employment equity and training matters in order to facilitate and 
support SANBI’s transformation programme. The employment 
equity policy seeks to:

• successfully execute the employment equity strategy and 
attain specific employment equity targets

• ensure compliance with the provisions of the Employment 
Equity Act No. 55 of 1998

• promote diversity

• modify and adjust physical working environments to 
accommodate disabled people, and

• attract, develop and retain staff that are representative of 
South Africa’s population.
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SANBI is committed to building an inclusive workforce, 
fostering an environment that respects the individual and 
offering the opportunity for all staff to develop to their 
full potential in the pursuit of SANBI goals. In support of 
SANBI’s transformation process, a Diversity Management 
Programme was launched in 2005. 

Safety, Occupational Health and 
Environmental Management

SANBI acknowledges its obligation to its employees 
and stakeholders to comply with safety, health and 
environmental laws and internationally accepted standards 
and practices. All National Botanical Gardens and centres 
have established Safety Committees to ensure compliance 
with the Occupational Health and Safety Act No. 85 of 
1993. Safety Committees meet once a quarter or more 
frequently if required.

Legal compliance audits are also conducted on an 
ongoing basis to identify gaps and training needs in the 
Health and Safety Programme to ensure the investigation 
of all time-loss incidents due to accidents or injuries.

HIV/AIDS Support
SANBI acknowledges the seriousness of the HIV/AIDS 
epidemic and commits itself to providing support for 
employees who are infected or affected. The Workplace 
HIV/AIDS Programme has been integrated with 
other workplace health-related programmes such as 
Occupational Health and Safety, the Employee Assistance 
Programme and Incapacity Management.

Employee Assistance Programme

An Employee Assistance Programme is a workplace-
based programme aimed at identifying and resolving the 
personal and productivity problems that may adversely 
affect employee performance and general wellbeing. This 
programme has been successfully rolled out to all SANBI’s 
National Botanical Gardens and Centres and is closely 
monitored.

Employee Participation

Employee participation is encouraged by putting best 
practices in place to foster good and cooperative 
relationships and employee participation at all levels. Union 
representation, leadership development programmes, 
focus groups, task teams and surveys are all instrumental 
in facilitating participation. 

Code of Conduct

SANBI has a Code of Conduct that applies to all staff 
and has been translated into the various languages that 
are used in SANBI. All staff members were consulted 
and given the opportunity to make comments and 
recommendations on the Code. 

The Code facilitates sound business ethics in SANBI 
and plays an important role in defining the organisational 
culture and in governing effective discipline within the 
organisation. It is a standard annexure to all letters of 
appointment to ensure that new staff are adequately 
informed on commencing duty.

A Code of Conduct for Board members has also been 
developed, approved and implemented and all Board 
members are subject to these prescripts.

Conflict of Interest
As part of the appointment protocol, all staff members of 
SANBI are obliged to complete a Declaration on Conflict of 
Interest when they are appointed. All Board members are 
required to complete a Disclosure of Interest declaration in 
terms of the PFMA.

Delegation of Authority
The Board approved the Delegation of Authority for 
effective operational purposes. These are contained in 
the Finance and Accounting: Policies, Procedures and 
Delegations Manual.

Supply Chain Management
During this financial year, SANBI aligned all procurement 
systems, policies, processes and practices with PFMA 
and Treasury requirements concerning supply chain 
management. Compliance with these requirements was 
reported on a regular basis to DEAT and National Treasury.

Legislative Framework
As a Section 3A Public Entity, SANBI complies with the 
following legislation:

• National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act 
No. 10 of 2004

• Labour Relations Act No. 66 of 1995
• Basic Conditions of Employment Act No. 75 of 1997
• Employment Equity Act No. 55 of 1998
• Public Service Act No. 103 of 1994 (together with its 

regulations) – subject to ministerial approval
• Decisions reached at the Central Bargaining Chamber 

— subject to ministerial approval
• Public Finance Management Act No.1 of 1999 

(PFMA).
• Occupational Health and Safety Act No. 85 of 1993
• Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP)
• Compensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases 

Act No. 180 of 1993
• Promotion of Access to Information Act No. 2 of 

2000.
• Skills Dedvelopment Act No. 97 of 1998.

Dr Tanya Abrahamse
Chief Executive Officer: SANBI
23 June 2009  
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
for the year ended 31 March 2009

1. Report of the Audit Committee

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2009.

1. Audit Committee Members and Attendance

The Audit Committee consisted of five external members listed below and held three meetings for the financial year 
under review:

Membership of the Audit Committee from 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Name of Member Meetings Attended

Dr PE Hanekom (Chairperson) 5

Dr T Abrahamse (Board member) 4

Ms M Pyoos (Board Member) 2 

Mr GJ Dladla (Non-Board member) 3

Mr T Bouwer (Non-Board member) 4

Mr M Khoahli (Ex Officio) 3

1. Audit Committee responsibility

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 38(1)(a) of the PFMA 
and Treasury Regulation 3.1.13. The Audit Committee has adopted appropriate formal Terms of Reference as its Audit 
Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this Charter and has discharged all its responsibilities 
as contained therein.

1. The effectiveness of internal control

The system of internal controls is designed to provide cost-effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and that 
liabilities and working capital are efficiently managed. The Audit Committee has evaluated all significant and material 
issues raised in reports issued by the Internal Audit Function, the Audit Report on the Annual Financial Statements, 
and the management letter of the Auditor-General, and is satisfied that they have all been, or are being, appropriately 
resolved. In line with the PFMA and the King II Report on Corporate Governance, the Internal Audit Function and other 
assurance providers provided the Audit Committee and management with assurance that the internal controls are 
appropriate and effective for those areas included in the annual operational plan. This is achieved by means of the risk 
management process, as well as the identification of corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the controls 
and processes. The Audit Committee has evaluated the work performed by the Internal Audit Function and other 
assurance service providers. Based upon this evaluation, the Committee reports that the systems of internal controls 
for the period under review were effective and efficient.

1. Evaluation of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared and issued by 
the Accounting Officer and entity during the year under review.

The Audit Committee has:
1. reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual report with the 

Office of the Auditor-General and the Accounting Officer
2. reviewed the Auditor-General’s management letter and management’s response thereto
3. reviewed accounting policies, and
4. reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.

The Audit Committee concurs with and accepts the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the annual financial statements and 
is of the opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-
General.

Dr Patricia Hanekom, Chairperson: Audit Committee                                                                                                           
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL
TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION OF THE
SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL BIODIVERSITY INSTITUTE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

Introduction 

1. I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2009, and the statement of financial performance, the statement of changes in net 
assets and the cash flow statement for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes 
as set out on pages 74 to 111. 

The accounting authority's responsibility for the financial statements 

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) Reporting Framework, as set out in accounting policy note 1.1 to the financial 
statements and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) and the National 
Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act No.1 0 2004) and for such internal control as the accounting authority 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

The Auditor-General's responsibility 

3.  As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 
(Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

4.  I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing read with General Notice 616 of 2008, issued in 
Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

5.  An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

Opinion 

6.  In my opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of SANBI as at 31 March 2009 and 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the GRAP Reporting Framework, as set out in 
accounting policy note 1.1 to the financial statements and in the manner required by the PFMA. 

Emphasis of matters 

Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to the following matters: 

Amendments to the applicable basis of accounting 

7.  The public entity's policy is to prepare financial statements in accordance with the GRAP Reporting Framework, as set out in accounting 
policy note 1.1 to the financial statements. The public entity has adopted Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
which are effective from 1 April 2009 and has developed its accounting policies in accordance with the Accounting Standards Board 
Directive 5. 

Revision of the previously issued financial statements 

8.  As disclosed in the note 24 to the financial statements, the previously issued financial statements were amended and revised to include 
a note on biological assets. 

 The financial statements were also substantially amended from the initial version submitted on 31 May 2009 due to the adoption and 
implementation of the GRAP Reporting Framework and material corrections made to the financial statements arising from the audit. 

Other matters 

I draw attention to the following matters that relate to my responsibilities in the audit of the financial statements: 

Governance framework 

9.  The governance principles that impact the auditor's opInion on the financial statements are related to the responsibilities and practices 
exercised by the accounting authority and executive management and are reflected in the key governance responsibilities addressed 
below: 
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Key governance responsibilities

No. Matter Y N

Clear trail of supporting documentation that is easily available and provided in a timely manner 

1. No significant difficulties were experienced during the audit concerning delays or the availability of requested 
information.

√

Quality of financial statements and related management information 

2. The financial statements were not subject to any material amendments resulting from the audit. √

3. The annual report was submitted for consideration prior to the tabling of the auditor's report. √

Timeliness of financial statements and management information 

4. The annual financial statements were submitted for auditing as per the legislated deadlines in section 55 of the 
PFMA.

√

Availability of key officials during audit

5. Key officials were available throughout the audit process. √

Development and compliance with risk management, effective internal control and governance practices

6. Audit committee

• The public entity had an audit committee in operation throughout the financial year. √

• The audit committee operates in accordance with approved, written terms of reference. √

• The audit committee substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in section 77 of the PFMA 
and Treasury Regulation 27.1.8.

√

7.  Internal audit

• The public entity had an internal audit function in operation throughout the financial year.
√

• The internal audit function operates in terms of an approved internal audit plan.
√

• The internal audit function substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in Treasury Regulation 
27.2.

√

8. There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in respect of financial 
and risk management.

√

9. There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in respect of compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations.

√

10. The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of the financial statements.
√

11. A risk assessment was conducted on a regular basis and a risk management strategy, which includes a fraud 
prevention plan, is documented and used as set out in Treasury Regulation 27.2.

√

12. Powers and duties have been assigned, as set out in section 56 of the PFMA.
√

Follow-up of audit findings

13. The prior year audit findings have been substantially addressed.
√

14. SCOPA resolutions have been substantially implemented. 
No  applicable 

resolutions

Issues relating to the reporting of performance information 

15. The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of a performance report that is accurate 
and complete.

√

16. Adequate control processes and procedures are designed and implemented to ensure the accuracy and 
completeness of reported performance information.

√

17. A strategic plan was prepared and approved for the financial year under review for purposes of monitoring the 
performance in relation to the budget and delivery by the [entity name] against its mandate, predetermined 
objectives, outputs, indicators and targets [Treasury Regulation 29.1/30.1]. 

√

18. There is a functioning performance management system and performance bonuses are only paid after proper 
assessment and approval by those charged with governance. 

√
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10. While the public entity received an unqualified audit opinion, the shortcomings in respect of certain key governance 
responsibilities in the table above require attention. The main issues driving these findings include a lack of control 
activities (operational controls) and monitoring (ongoing monitoring) by the leadership and information and communication 
(pertinent information has not been identified and captured to support financial reporting).

11. Over and above the observations above, key issues that should receive the attention of those charged with governance 
were highlighted in the final management report of the public entity. Those deficiencies are indicative of a situation where 
there is a lack of control activities (operational controls), monitoring (ongoing monitoring) by the relevant leadership and 
a lack of compliance with defined control activities.

Investigations

12. As disclosed in the accounting authority's report under the post balance sheet event paragraph, a forensic investigation 
undertaken during the year indicated that certain irregular and/or fraudulent expenditure may have been incurred by 
SANBI on the Greening the Nation Project during the period 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2008. The final report has 
been issued and the matter has been reported to the South African Police Service to recover the costs from the parties 
involved.

Delay in finalisation of the audit

13. In terms of section 55(1)(d)(iii) of the PFMA, I am required to submit my report to the accounting officer within two months 
of the receipt of the financial statements. Due to internal processes to ensure that quality standards are maintained, 
as well as the late finalisation of the financial statements resulting from the adoption and implementation of the GRAP 
Reporting Framework and consequent material corrections to the financial statements, I have delayed the finalisation of 
my report, although the financial statements were received on 31 May 2009.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Report on performance information

14.1. I have reviewed the performance information as set out on pages 9 to 26. 

The accounting authority's responsibility for the performance information 

15. The accounting authority has additional responsibilities as required by section 55(2)(a) of the PFMA to ensure that the 
annual report and audited financial statements fairly present the performance against predetermined objectives of the 
public entity. 

The Auditor-General's responsibility 

16. I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 of the PAA read with General Notice 616 of 2008, issued 
in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008.

17. In terms of the foregoing my engagement included performing procedures of a review nature to obtain sufficient 
appropriate evidence about the performance information and related systems, processes and procedures. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement.

18. I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the findings reported below.

Audit findings (performance information)

Reported performance information not relevant

19. Key performance indicators and targets with regard to the biodiversity policy and conservation of Gardens performance 
objectives were not specific in clearly identifying the nature and the required level of performance, as well as measurable 
in identifying the required performance. 

APRECIATION

20. The assistance rendered by the staff of SANBI during the audit is sincerely appreciated. 

Cape Town 
21 August 2009

Audi t ing to  bu i ld  pub l ic  conf idence
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2009
STATEMENT 1

 
 
 
 

Notes
March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

ASSETS

 

Non-current assets

 Property, plant and equipment 5.  208,882,904   191,706,513 

 Intangible assets 6.  2,547,030   814,207 

 Defined Benefit asset 11.1  1,106,695   - 

   212,536,629   192,520,720 

   

Current assets   44,367,520   40,002,707 

   

 Inventories   632,816   518,347 

 Trade and other receivables 7.  2,242,836   3,018,897 

 Cash and cash equivalents 8.  41,491,868   36,465,463 

  

Total assets   256,904,149  232,523,427 

  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  

  

Capital and reserves   134,765,007  143,241,006 

  

 Income fund   134,765,007  143,241,006 

  

Non-current liabilities   28,020,000  25,280,000 

  

 Retirement benefit obligation 11.2  28,020,000  25,280,000 

  

  

Current liabilities   94,119,142  64,002,421 

  

 Projects Fund : Unspent committed 2.2  47,482,405  16,502,188 

 Trade and other payables 4.  46,636,737  47,132,233 
 Current portion of interest bearing 
borrowings

3.  -  368,000 

 

Total equity and liabilities  256,904,149  232,523,427 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009 
STATEMENT 2

 
 
 
 

Notes
March
2009

R
 

Restated
March
2008

R

INCOME  

Government grant  128,831,000   109,696,000 

Other grants, sponsorships and donations 15.  160,749,034   148,842,907 

Investment income 17.  6,807,075   3,614,130 

Sales  1,553,555   2,305,075 

Admission fees  21,877,463   20,875,677 

Rent received  7,456,241   8,030,692 

Disposal of property, plant and equipment  544,597   265,866 

Foreign exchange gain  359,492   622 

Other income  2,908,660   3,183,504 

  331,087,117   296,814,473 

  

EXPENDITURE  

Personnel costs 18.  133,266,900   112,731,430 

Operating expenses   92,247,246  69,168,278 

Audit fees: Regulatory audit 16.  867,271  571,451 

Audit fees: Internal audit 16.  738,194  550,155 

Irrecoverable debt and other losses   -  87,037 

Finance costs 12.  21,390  66,343 

Depreciation and amortisation 5&6  11,709,570  9,976,017 

Direct project expenditure   100,712,545  90,500,974 

  339,563,116  283,651,685 

 

Net surplus / (deficit)  for the year    (8,475,999)   13,162,788 

Accumulated fund at beginning of year    143,241,006   130,078,218 

Accumulated fund at the end of the year    134,765,007   143,241,006 

  Annual Financial Statements as at 31 March 2009 
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 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009 
 STATEMENT 3

 
 
 
 
 

Notes

Restated
Income 
Fund

R

 

Balance at 31 March 2007 - as previously reported  (25,289,869)

 

Effect of prior year error 21&23  2,893,398 

  

Implementation of GRAP 22&23  152,474,689 

  

Balance at 31 March 2007 - restated  130,078,218 

  
Net surplus / (deficit)  for the year  - as previously 
reported

 (13,647,877)

  

Income  269,636,319 

  

Expenditure  (283,284,196)

  

Effect of prior year error  21&23  (1,367,489)

   

Implementation of GRAP 22&23  28,178,154 

Balance at 31 March 2008 - restated 143,241,006

    

   

Income  331,087,117 

  

Expenditure  (339,563,116)

  

Balance at 31 March 2009  134,765,007 

  Annual Financial Statements as at 31 March 2009 
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 CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009 
STATEMENT 4

 
 
 
 

Notes
March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts  324,511,506  292,292,023 

Government grant  128,831,000  109,696,000 
Other grants, sponsorships and 
donations

  160,749,034  148,842,907 

Commercial and other income   34,931,472  33,753,116 

  

Payments   295,828,599  274,715,163 

Employee benefits   129,220,729  106,500,117 

Suppliers and other payments   166,607,870  168,215,046 

    

Cash inflow from operating activities 19.  28,682,907  17,576,860 

  

   6,785,685  3,547,787 

Investment income 17.  6,807,075  3,614,130 

Finance costs 12.  (21,390)  (66,343)

  

Net cash inflow from operating activities   35,468,592  21,124,647 

  

Cash flows from investing activities   (30,074,187)  (41,648,153)

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment

5.  (28,525,991)  (41,583,596)

Purchase of intangible assets 6.  (2,237,848)  (583,938)

Proceeds from sale/disposal of property, 
plant and equipment

  689,652  519,381 

  

Cash flows from financing activities (368,000)  (432,000)

Repayment of loan  (368,000)  (432,000)

  
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

 5,026,405  (20,955,506)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
year

 36,465,463  57,420,969 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8.  41,491,868  36,465,463 

  Annual Financial Statements as at 31 March 2009 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICY

During the year, SANBI adopted all the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) that have been issued and 
are effective from 1 April 2009. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with GRAP 
issued by the Accounting Standards Board and approved by the Minister of Finance. The following Standards of GRAP have been 
issued and are effective. The equivalent South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practices (GAAP) have  also 
been provided.

In the absence of a Standard of GRAP that deals with a particular transaction or event, management used judgement in developing 
and applying an accounting policy.  To this end, the standards of the following standard setters should be used in descending order, 
to the extent that these do not conflict with the Standards of GRAP or the framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements:

a. International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB).
b. International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the Framework.
c. Accounting Practices Board (APB)
d. Accounting Practices Committee (APC) of the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

The recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ or result in material differences 
in  items presented and disclosed  in the financial statements. The  implementation of GRAP 1, 2 & 3 has resulted  in the following 
significant changes in the presentation of the financial statements:

Terminology Differences:

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

Standard of GRAP Replaced Statements of GAAP
Statement of financial performance Income statement

Statement of financial position Balance sheet

Statement of changes in net assets Statement of changes in equity 

Net assets

Surplus/deficit Profit/loss for the period

Accumulated surplus/deficit Retained earnings

Reporting date Balance sheet date

GRAP Statement of GAAP IAS Statement Description Effective date
GRAP 1 AC101 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 April 2005

GRAP 2 AC118 IAS 7 Cash Flow Statements 1 April 2005

GRAP 3 AC103 IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 1 April 2005

GRAP 4 AC112 IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 1 April 2009

GRAP 5 AC 114 IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 1 April 2009

GRAP 6 AC132 IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 1 April 2009

GRAP 7 AC110 IAS 28 Investments in Associates 1 April 2009

GRAP 8 AC119 IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures 1 April 2009

GRAP 9 AC111 IAS 18 Revenue from Exchange Transactions 1 April 2009

GRAP 10 AC124 IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 1 April 2009

GRAP 11 AC109 IAS 11 Construction Contracts 1 April 2009

GRAP 12 AC108 IAS 2 Inventories 1 April 2009

GRAP 13 AC105 IAS 17 Leases 1 April 2009

GRAP 14 AC107 IAS 10 Events After the Reporting Date 1 April 2009

GRAP 16 AC135 IAS 40 Investment Property 1 April 2009

GRAP 17 AC123 IAS 16 Property, Plants and Equipment 1 April 2009

GRAP 19 AC130 IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 1 April 2009

GRAP 100 AC142 IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 1 April 2009

GRAP 101 AC137 IAS 41 Agriculture 1 April 2009

GRAP 102 AC129 IAS 38 Intangible Assets 1 April 2009
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Paragraphs 11 – 15 of GRAP 1 have not been implemented due to the fact that the local and international budget reporting standard 
is not effective for this financial year.
The cash flow statement can only be prepared in accordance with the direct method. 

1.1 Income fund

This Fund relates to the accumulated surplus or deficit of income over expenditure.

1.2 Project Fund

This Fund comprises temporary funds, which are project specific in terms of agreed terms between the Institute and funders as 
well as funds earmarked for major capital projects and also for projects of a non-capital nature. Funding is derived from donations, 
grants, transfers from the Income fund, and interest on the investment of temporary surpluses in this fund. The balance in the project 
fund at the end of the year is reflected under Unspent committed project funds as these funds are expected to be spent during the 
course of the next year. 

1.3 Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions is recognised as income to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits associated 
with the transaction will flow to the Institute and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue from exchange transactions  is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes or duty. The following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Admission fees

Admission fees are recognised on a daily basis as and when they become due. 

Donations and Sponsorships

Ad hoc donations and sponsorships are recognised as income when received.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the 
buyer, usually on delivery of the goods.

Investment income

Investment is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate method.

Rental income

Rental income arising from operating leases is accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease terms. Contingent rental 
payments are recognised as income in the period in which they accrue.

1.4 Government grants

Government grants are recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Institute and when the amount 
of the grant can be measured reliably. Government grants recognised as revenue to the extent that there is no further obligation 
arising from the receipt of the transfer payment. A liability is recognised to the extent that the grant is conditional. The liability is 
transferred to revenue as and when the conditions attached to the grant are met.

1.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
- it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Institute; and
- the cost or fair value of the item can be measured reliably.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently 
to add or replace part of an asset, when such costs meet the recognition criteria. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying 
amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or fair value of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line 
method, on the following basis:

Item
Motor vehicles
Equipment
  -   Office equipment, furniture and fittings, art, etc.
  -   Computer equipment
Buildings

Useful life
5 - 10 years

5 years
3 years
40 years

Buildings reflect improvements to property occupied on long-term leases or on state-owned land managed by the Institute.
The residual value and the useful life of each asset are reviewed at each financial period-end.
Each part of  an  item of property, plant  and equipment with a cost  that  is  significant  in  relation  to  the  total  cost of  the  item  is 
depreciated separately.

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when the item 
is derecognised and is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.
Repairs and maintenance are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance during the year in which they are incurred.

1.6 Intangible assets 

An intangible asset is recognised when:
 - it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Institute; and
 - the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.
Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item Useful life

Computer software 3 years

1.7 Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Institute assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, the Institute estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the 
individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined. The recoverable 
amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. That reduction is an impairment loss, which is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.
A reversal of an impairment loss of assets other than goodwill  is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. Any reversal of an 
impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.8 Inventories 

Inventories consist of plants, publications and clothing.
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the first-in,first-out basis.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition.
The cost of inventories is assigned using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) formula. The same cost formula is used for all inventories having 
a similar nature and use to the Institute. 
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are 
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, 
arising from an increase in net realisable value, are recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense 
in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.9 Financial Instruments 

Initial recognition
The Institute classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or 
an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Institute’s Statement of Financial Position when the Institute becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, including any directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial Assets
The Institute’s financial assets consist of certain Trade and other receivables and Cash and cash equivalents. For measurement 
purposes, all financial assets are categorised as loans and receivables and after initial measurement are carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities consist of Interest-bearing borrowings and certain Trade and other payables. For measurement purposes, all 
financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost subsequent to initial recognition.

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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Amortised cost
Amortised cost  is  computed using  the  effective  interest method  less  any  allowance  for  impairment.  The calculation  takes  into 
account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument to the initial carrying amount of the financial instrument.

Impairment of financial assets
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred (such as the probability 
of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor), the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have 
not been  incurred) discounted at  the  financial  asset’s original  effective  interest  rate  (i.e.  the effective  interest  rate computed at 
initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the 
carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition
A financial asset or a portion thereof is derecognised when the entity realises the contractual rights to the benefits specified in the 
contract, the rights expire, the entity surrenders those rights or otherwise lose control of the contractual rights  that comprise the 
financial asset. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the sum of the proceeds 
receivable and any prior adjustments to reflect the fair value of the asset that were reported in equity is included in net surplus or 
deficit for the year.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or has expired.

1.10 Retirement Fund and other Post Employment Benefits

Retirement  benefits  are  provided  for  employees  through  separate  pension  and  provident  funds  to  which  both  employer  and 
employee contribute. 

The funds are regulated by the Pension Funds Act and operated as defined contribution plans managed by an independent board 
of trustees. The provident fund plan incorporates a defined benefit underpin for members of the plan prior to November 1995. The 
defined benefit  obligation and related fund assets are included in note 11.

Retirement benefits are determined by the contributions to the fund and contributions are charged against income in the year in 
which they become payable. 

Payments made to industry-managed (or state plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined contribution plans where 
the Institute’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised as income or expense when the net cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains and losses 
for each individual plan at the end of the previous reporting period exceeded 10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and 
the fair value of plan assets at that date. These gains or losses are recognised over the expected average remaining working lives 
of the employees participating in the plans.

The past service costs are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the average period until the benefits become 
vested. If the benefits have already vested, immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, a pension plan, past service 
costs are recognised immediately.

The defined benefit asset or  liability comprises  the present value of  the defined benefit obligation  (using a discount  rate based on 
corporate bonds), less past service costs not yet recognised and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligation is to be 
settled. Plan assets are assets  that are held by a  long-term employee benefit  fund or qualifying  insurance policies. Plan assets 
are not available to the creditors of the Institute nor can they be paid directly to the Institute. Fair value is based on market price 
information and in the case of quoted securities it is the published bid price. The value of any plan asset recognised is restricted to 
the sum of any past service costs not yet recognised and the economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or 
reductions in the future contributions to the plan.

The    post-employment  medical  benefits  are  determined  using  actuarial  valuations.  The  actuarial  valuation  involves  making 
assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and pension increases. 
Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such actuarial estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.

1.11 Taxation

No provision has been made for taxation, as the Institute is exempt from income tax in terms of Section 10 of the Income Tax Act, 
1962 (Act no. 58 of 1962).
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1.12 Value Added Tax

The Revenue Laws Amendment Act, 2003 (Act No. 45 of 2003) commenced on 22 December 2003. Previously, the definition of 
enterprise placed SANBI listed in Schedule 3 A within the scope of VAT. The Amendment Act, however, has amended this definition 
of enterprise and effectively places the Institute outside the  scope of VAT. The amended definition of enterprise came into operation 
on 1 April 2005. Notwithstanding this, certain projects are obliged to register for VAT when certain criteria are met.

1.13 Operating leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception 
date and whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys 
a right to use the asset.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. An operating lease 
is a lease other than a finance lease.

SANBI as lessor
Rental income is recognised on a monthly basis as a percentage of the lessees’ turnover is recognised in the period it accrues.

1.14 Fruitless, wasteful and irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a requirement of the Public Audit 
Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004). Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was incurred in vain and would have 
been avoided had reasonable care been exercised. All irregular, fruitless or wasteful expenditure is charged against income in the 
period it was incurred.

1.15 Significant accounting judgements

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement 
is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the 
annual financial statements.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

For the financial period under review, management applied judgement in determining the extended useful lives of fixed assets in 
terms of IAS 16 PPE and the result was that the useful life has changed from the previous financial year for motor vehicles. Refer to 
accounting policy note 1.5.

Retirement benefits

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment medical benefits as well as the present value of the pension 
obligation  is determined using actuarial  valuations.   The actuarial  valuation  involves making assumptions about discount  rates, 
expected rates of return of assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases.  All assumptions are 
reviewed at each reporting date.  In determining the appropriate discount rate management considers the interest rates of corporate 
bonds in the respective country with an AAA or AA rating.  The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the 
specific country.

Future salary increases and pension increases are based on expected future inflation rates for the specific country.

Impairment of Receivables

Impairment of receivables is recognised when the South African National Botanical Institute’s outstanding debtors are above 120 
days and there are debts which on merit appear to be irrecoverable.

1.16 Foreign currencies

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency (Rands) are initially recorded at the rates of exchange ruling on the 
dates of  the transactions. Monetary assets and  liabilities denominated  in such currencies are retranslated at  the rates ruling on 
the Statement of Financial Position date.  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting an 
enterprise’s monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded are recognised as income or expenses 
in the year in which they arise

The South African National Biodiversity Institute did not enter into forward contracts and options in order to hedge its exposure to 
foreign exchange risks during the financial year under review.

1.17 Related parties

All transactions and balances with national departments of Government and state-controlled entities are regarded as related party 
transactions and are disclosed separately in the notes to the annual financial statements  (refer note 20).

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or to exercise significant influence or joint 
control over the other party in making financial and operational decisions.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties, regardless of whether a price 
is charged.

1.18 Events after the reporting period 

The results of a forensic investigation undertaken during the year indicated that certain irregular expenditure may have been incurred 
by SANBI in prior years on the Greening of the Nation Project contract period between January 2005 and December 2007.  The final 
report has been issued and the matter reported to the South African Police Services to recover the costs from the parties involved.  
The outcome of the case will be reported accordingly in the next financial year.

March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

2.1 Projects Fund: Unspent Committed

Income

10,000,000 
 181,729,252 

 
3,695,421 

 75 
 - 
 - 

 359,230 
 51,621 

 

12,500,000 
 110,396,657 

 
1,960,599 

 614,196 
 2,392,471 

 870,136 
 1,080 

 2,314,258 

Government grants
Other grants, sponsorships and 
donations
Investment income
Sales
Admission Fees
Rent received
Foreign exchange gain
Other income

 195,835,599  131,049,397 

Less: Expenditure  

Expenditure capitalised  15,779,224  37,608,195 

Expenditure not capitalised  148,708,158  117,870,373 

 31,348,217  (24,429,171)

Book value of disposed property, plant 
and equipment  -  253,516 

Loan repayments  (368,000)  (432,000)

  30,980,217  (24,607,655)

Unspent committed project funds at beginning             
of the year  16,502,188  41,109,843 

Unspent committed project funds  47,482,405  16,502,188 
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March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

2.2 Total Projects Fund: Unspent Committed  Closing balance  Movement  Opening balance 

MTEF  10,374,161  2,085,254  8,288,907 

External Funded  37,108,244  28,894,963  8,213,281 

Total Projects Fund: Unspent 
Committed as at 31 March 2009  47,482,405  30,980,217  16,502,188 

 -   

Total Projects Fund: Unspent 
Committed  Closing balance  Movement  Opening balance 

MTEF  8,288,907  7,055,710  1,233,197 

External Funded  8,213,281  (31,663,365)  39,876,646 

Total Projects Fund: Unspent 
Committed as at 31 March 2008  16,502,188  (24,607,655)  41,109,843 

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

3. Interest bearing borrowings

Loan was sourced from the Industrial 
Development Corporation (IDC)

Amount reflected under current 
liabilities  -    368,000 

Terms: Repayable over eight years in 
monthly instalments ended January 2009  -  368,000 

4. Trade and other payables

Trade payables    8,184,639  9,279,011 

Other payables    26,726,413  25,508,307 

Leave liability    8,371,281  7,880,178 

Services bonuses    3,277,828  2,575,854 

Performance and related incentives    76,576  1,888,883 

    46,636,737  47,132,233 

    -    -   

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities
  -  Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30 days, as required by Treasury  
     Regulation 8.2.3.
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Notes

5. Property, plant and equipment

March 2009

Total              Land and 
Buildings Vehicles Equipment

Cost R R R R

On hand at start of financial year 236,482,919 194,229,040 10,277,191 31,976,688

Purchases 28,525,991 18,231,360 1,910,165 8,384,466

Demolished / disposals / write-offs (784,996) - (331,441) (453,555)

On hand at end of financial year 264,223,914 212,460,400 11,855,915 39,907,599

Accumulated depreciation

Accumulated depreciation at start of 
financial year 44,776,406 17,710,890 4,468,893 22,596,623

Depreciation for the year 11,204,545 4,316,811 1,706,695 5,181,039

Depreciation on disposals / write-offs (639,941) - (232,071) (407,870)

Accumulated depreciation 55,341,010 22,027,701 5,943,517 27,369,792

Net book value at end of financial year 208,882,904 190,432,699 5,912,398 12,537,807

March 2008

Total              Land and 
Buildings Vehicles Equipment

Cost

On hand at start of financial year

Prior period error

Restated

Purchases

Demolished / disposals / write-offs

21.

R

194,547,955

1,329,058

195,877,013

41,583,596

(977,690)

R

160,046,230

596,535

160,642,765

33,739,810

(153,535)

R

8,045,331

88,613

8,133,944

2,604,281

(461,034)

R

26,456,394

643,910

27,100,304

5,239,505

(363,121)

On hand at end of financial year 236,482,919 194,229,040 10,277,191 31,976,688

Accumulated depreciation

Accumulated depreciation at start of 
financial year

Prior period error

Restated

Depreciation for the year

Depreciation on disposals / write-offs

Accumulated depreciation

Net book value at end of financial year

21.

37,535,291

(1,564,340)

35,970,951

9,529,630

(724,175)

44,776,406

191,706,513

13,857,734

238,932

14,096,666

3,636,937

(22,713)

17,710,890

176,518,150

5,377,490

(1,803,272)

3,574,218

1,302,129

(407,454)

4,468,893

5,808,298

18,300,067

-

18,300,067

4,590,564

(294,008)

22,596,623

9,380,065

In accordance with the mandate as envisaged in the Biodiversity Act, SANBI is responsible  for “managing, control and maintaining all 
National Botanical Gardens.” The majority of the land that is currently utilised as National Botanical Gardens in the Republic belongs 
to government, and the control of the land is thus seconded to SANBI in accordance with its mandate.

A register containing the details of Property, Plant and Equipment is available for inspection at the Institute’s registered office.
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6. Intangibles

March 2009 March 2008

Computer 
Software

Computer 
Software

Cost R R

On hand at start of financial year 1,941,287 1,357,349

Purchases 2,237,848 583,938

Demolished / disposals / write-offs - -

On hand at end of financial year 4,179,135 1,941,287

Accumulated depreciation

Accumulated depreciation at start of 
financial year 1,127,080 680,692

Depreciation for the year 505,025 446,388

Depreciation on disposals / write-offs - -

Accumulated depreciation 1,632,105 1,127,080

Net book value at end of financial year 2,547,030 814,207

March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

7. Trade and other receivables    

  Trade debtors   1,177,269  2,211,890 

  Provision for doubtful debts   (630,660)  (1,189,551)

  Receiver of Revenue (VAT)   139,859  52,742 

  Accrued income   798,745  1,285,717 

  Prepaid expenses   238,368  81,998 

  Other   519,255  576,101 

     2,242,836  3,018,897 

      

 Fair value of trade and other receivables

  Trade and other receivables   2,242,836  3,018,897 

      

 Amounts neither past due nor impaired are considered fully recoverable.  No credit quality issues are noted.

 Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2009, 
R 789,284 (2008: R 1,218,786) was past due, but not impaired.

          The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

 
 
 

 

0 - 1 month past due   9,065  316,446 

1 - 2 month past due   574,926  591,162 

2 - 3 month past due   205,293  311,178 

     789,284  1,218,786 
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March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

 Trade and other receivables impaired

      

 As of 31 March 2009, trade and other receivables of R 630 660 (2008: R 1,189,911) were impaired and provided for.

The ageing of these loans is as follows:

  3 to 6 months   630,660  1,189,911 

      

 Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

      

  Opening balance   1,189,911  161,576 

  Provision for impairment   -    1,115,372 

  Provision reversed in the year   (559,251)  -   

  Amounts written off as uncollectable   -    (87,037)

     630,660  1,189,911 

8. Cash and cash equivalents    

  Short term deposits   9,107,621  16,287,696 

  Cash on hand   621,465  273,937 

  Bank balances   31,762,782  19,903,830 

     41,491,868  36,465,463 

      

  Attributable to Projects fund   37,108,244  8,213,281 

  Attributable to Income fund   4,383,624  28,252,182 

     41,491,868  36,465,463 

      

 
Cash on current accounts at banks earns no interest.  Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and 
three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Institute, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit 
rates.

      

9. Capital commitments    

  Approved and contracted:    

     Poverty Relief Funded Developments   1,437,163  19,736,132 

     1,437,163  19,736,132 

      

10. Contingent Liability    

 Guarantees    

  Staff housing guarantees, estimated maximum   452,072  513,273 

  Recoverable from retirement funds   (452,072)  (513,273)

     -  - 
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The South African National Biodiversity Institute assists qualifying officials to obtain 100% housing loans from financial institutions 

without a cash deposit. For this purpose agreements have been entered into with approved financial institutions to the effect that 

the South African National Biodiversity Institute will guarantee a maximum of 20% of the housing loan for which a person qualifies. 

The maximum amount is based on the official’s basic salary. The South African National Biodiversity Institute guaranteed 30 loans 

in the current year (2008: 36). The maximum contingent liability amounts to  R 452 072 (2008: R 513 273). The guarantees are fully 

recoverable from the employees’ cash portion of their retirement fund.

Labour dispute

The former chief financial officer was suspended on 19 October 2007 and after an independent disciplinary hearing, has been found 

guilty of many of the charges laid against him. He was dismissed on 1 April 2008.  Since the dismissal, he lodged his objection with 

the CCMA.  The case has been resolved in South African National Biodiversity Institute’s favour, without any claims.

Municipal Services

The National Department of Public Works (NDPW) was paid municipal services on Farm 875, Cecil John Rhodes, Western Cape, 

to the City of Cape Town Municipality since September 2003, amounting to R3,3 million. Farm 875 is under the custodianship of 

Kirstenbosch - operated by the South African National Biodiversity  Institute. NDPW wants to recover the services paid from the 

South African National Biodiversity Institute.  The legality of the potential claim is under investigation.

IT Services

SANBI’s previous IT service provider has issued a summons against SANBI in respect of a dispute regarding outstanding fees and 

interest for an amount of R98,399.49.

Accumulated surplus

SANBI has adopted GRAP as its accounting framework.  This has resulted in government grants being recognised as revenue to 

the extent that there are no further obligations arising from the receipt of the transfer payment. This treatment affects specifically 

government grants received for the purchases of fixed assets where in the past SANBI recognised the grant as a deferred income 

and only  recognising  the use of  the asset as  revenue. The new policy adopted by SANBI  recognises  the government grant as 

revenue the moment the asset has been purchased because the condition has been met and no further obligations exist. The effect 

of this change has changed SANBI’s deficit for 2008 to a surplus and the accumulated deficit to an accumulated surplus for prior 

years.  As required by Section 53 (3) of the PFMA, public entity may not accumulate surpluses unless prior approval is obtained from 

National Treasury. SANBI has adopted the GRAP framework for the year ended 31 March 2009, triggering the need to obtain formal 

approval from Treasury to retain the surplus.  SANBI is of the opinion that the basis of retaining it is mainly due to the fact that the 

surplus represents a material part of the net book value of assets financed by transfer payments.

11.    Retirement Funds            

11.1  Post-Retirement Benefits            

The South African Biodiversity Institute Retirement Funds consist of the South African Biodiversity Institute Provident Fund and the 

South African Biodiversity Institute Pension Fund.

 Membership of the Funds are a prerequisite for all permanently employed staff employed as from 1  December 1994.

The  policy  is  to  provide  retirement  benefits  for  employees  by means  of  separate  Pension  and Provident  Funds  to which  both 

employee and employer respectively, contribute in equal proportion.

The Funds are administered by the South African Mutual Life Assurance Society (Old Mutual), which is registered in terms of the 

Pension Fund   Act 24 of 1956.

The Provident Fund is a defined contribution fund, except for members in service on or before 30 November 1995, who qualify for a 

defined benefit from the fund. The Pension Fund is also a defined contribution fund. The employer contributes to the Provident Fund 

while the employees’ contribution is paid to the Pension Fund.

The surplus of the actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2009 has been taken into account in the AC116 as at 31 March 2009 calculation.

The next actuarial valuation will be undertaken in June 2010.



89

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

 
 

 
 

March
2009

 
 

Restated
March
2008

Fund information for the year  R  R

     

Total Employer’s Contribution   5,867,381   4,805,000 

     

Fair Value of Defined Benefit Obligations     

Present value of obligation as at 31 March 2008   (178,218,000)  (152,103,000)

Interest cost   (16,710,928)  (14,207,379)

Current service cost   (5,867,381)  (4,667,340)

Benefits paid   8,696,803  8,269,362 

Present value of obligation as at 31 March 2009   192,588,785  178,218,000 

Actuarial loss   489,279   15,509,643 

Fair Value of Plan Assets     

Fair value plan of assets as at 31 March 2008   183,870,883  160,689,984 

Expected return on plan assets   16,423,798  14,309,560 

Contributions   5,867,381  4,805,000 

Benefits paid   (8,696,803)  (8,269,362)

Fair value of plan assets as at 31 March 2009   (184,897,479)  (183,870,883)

Actuarial (gain) / loss on plan assets   12,567,780  (12,335,701)

Unrecognised Actuarial (Gain) / loss     

Unrecognised actuarial (gain) / loss as at 31 March 2008   (4,259,058)  (8,586,984)

Recognised actuarial (gain) / loss as at 31 March 2008   -    (1,153,984)

Net Unrecognised actuarial (gain) / loss as at 31 March 
2008   (4,259,058)  (7,433,000)

Actuarial (gain) / loss on present value of obligation   489,279  15,509,643 

Actuarial (gain) / loss on fair value of plan assets   12,567,780  (12,335,701)

Unrecognised actuarial (gain) / loss as at 31 March 2009   8,798,001   (4,259,058)

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Position     

Present value of fund obligation   (192,588,785)  (178,218,000)

Fair value of plan of assets  184,897,479  183,870,883

(Deficit) / Surplus in plan  (7,691,306)  5,652,883

Unrecognised actuarial gains / (losses)  8,798,001  (4,259,058)

 1,106,695  1,393,825

Surplus not recognised *  (1,393,825)

Net asset in balance sheet **  1,106,695 -
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Post-Retirement Benefits (Continued}
 

*   In terms of clause 60 of AC116 an asset should not be recognised in the entity’s statement of position unless the entity has control 
of the asset, the asset arises due to past events (e.g. excess contributions) and the entity has beneficial use of the assets (e.g. via a 
contribution holiday or cash refund). A liability must always be recognised.

**    The Employer Surplus Account as at 31 March 2009 was R5,015,520, but according to AC116 only R1,106,695 of the surplus could 
be recognised in the statement of position. (In 2008 no asset has been recognised because the entity had no control over the asset).

       
      

March 
2008 

R

Restated 
March 
2008 

R

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Performance     

Current service cost   5,867,381  4,667,340 

Interest on obligation   16,710,928  14,207,379 

Expected return on plan assets   (16,423,798)  (14,309,560)

Effect of (recognising) / not recognising defined benefit asset   (1,106,695)  239,841 

Net (income) / expense recognised in Statement of       
Performance

  5,047,816   4,805,000 

 

Movement on net (liability) / asset     

Net (liability) / asset at beginning of the year   -     -   

Unrecognised surplus of prior year   287,130   -   

Net expense recognised in the statement of performance   (5,047,816)   (4,805,000)

Contributions   5,867,381   4,805,000 

Surplus not recognised *   -     -   

Net (liability) / asset at end of the year   1,106,695   -   

        

Key Actuarial Assumptions in determining the above 
positions 

    

Discount rate (annualised yield on R157)  8.34%  9.45%

Inflation rate ( difference in annualised yield R186 and R197)   5.90%  6.75%

Expected rate of salary increases (Inflation + 1%)  6.90%  7.75%

Expected rate of return on plan assets (actuarial valuation)  9.00%  9.00%



91

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

11.2 Post-Retirement Medical Aid Benefits 

 
Amounts Recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance

March
2009

R

 Restated
March
2008

R

Post-employment medical benefits:  

Current service cost   1,190,000  1,110,000 

Interest cost   2,500,000  1,890,000 

Net actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in the year  (560,000)  -   

Total included in ‘employee benefits expense’ 3,130,000  3,000,000 

 
Amounts Recognised in the Statement of Financial Position

Post-employment medical benefits:  

Present value of funded obligations   28,020,000  25,280,000 

- Members   26,150,000  23,350,000 

- Non-members   1,870,000  1,930,000 

 

Net Liability in the Statement of Financial Position
  28,020,000  25,280,000 

 

 

Long-term provision   28,020,000  25,280,000 

5-year history
Year ending 31 March 2005 31 March 2006 31 March 2007 31 March 2008 31 March 2009

Present Value of Obligation R100,951,981 R117,556,000 R152,103,000 R178,218,000 R192,588,785

Present Value of Assets R98,413,000 R120,166,465 R160,689,984 R183,870,883 R184,897,479

Surplus / (Shortfall) (R2,538,981) R2,610,465 R8,586,984 R5,652,883 (R7,691,306)

Experience adjustments - 
Liabilities

Interest Cost R8,329,000 R8,940,000 R10,946,525 R14,207,379 R16,710,928

Expected Conts made R2,905,000 R3,843,000 R4,295,312 R4,667,340 R5,867,381

Benefit paid (R2,592,000) (R7,145,000) (R4,028,102) (R8,269,362) (R8,696,803)

Increase in liabilities R8,560,981 R16,604,019 R34,547,000 R26,115,000 R14,370,785

Versus - Experience adjustments 

- Liabilities 
R8,642,000 R5,638,000 R11,213,735 R10,605,357 R13,881,506

Actuarial (gain) / loss on liabilities (R81,019)  -0.1% R10,966,019  9.3% R23,333,265  15.3% R15,509,643  8.7%   R489,279  0.3%

Experience adjustments - Assets

Investment returns R7,414,000 R8,860,000 R11,220,207 R14,309,560 R16,423,798

Contributions made R6,181,000 R7,221,000 R5,175,198 R4,805,000 R5,867,381

Benefits paid (R2,592,000) (R7,145,000) (R4,028,102) (R8,269,362) (R8,696,803)

Increase in assets R17,793,000 R21,753,465 (R40,523,519) R23,180,899 R1,026,596

Versus - Experience adjustments 
- Assets

R11,003,000 R8,926,000 R12,367,263 R10,845,198 R13,594,376

Actuarial (gain) loss on assets R6,790,000  6.9% R12,827,465 10% R28,156,256  17.5% R12,335,701 6.7% (R12,567,780) -6.8%
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Post - Retirement Medical Aid Benefits (Continued)
March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

Movements in the Net Liability in the Statement of Financial 
Position:

Post-employment medical obligation:

Net liability at start of year  25,280,000  22,670,000 

Interest cost  2,500,000  1,890,000 

Current service cost  1,190,000  1,110,000 

Benefit payments  (390,000)  (390,000)

Projected accrued services liability at 
end of year  28,580,000  25,280,000 

Actuarial (gain) loss  (560,000)  -   

Net liability at end of year  28,020,000  25,280,000 

Principal Actuarial Assumptions at Statement of Financial Position Date:

 

Discount rate 31 March (%)  8.80% 9.50%

General increases to medical aid subsidy 
(%)  7.00% 8.00%

Proportion continuing membership at 
retirement (%)  100.00% 100.00%

Proportion of retiring members who are 
married (%)  90.00% 90.00%

   

 

Retirement age (years)   60  60 

Projection of liability to 31 March 2010

      

The projection of the results from 31 March 2009 to 31 March 2010, assuming that the experience follows the assumptions 
exactly, is as follows :

Post-employment medical obligation:     R   

Net liability at start of year     28,020,000   

Interest cost     2,560,000   

Current service cost     1,300,000   

Benefit payments     (430,000)   

Projected accrued services liability at end of year   31,450,000   

       

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)
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Sensitivity Analyses

The results are dependent on the assumptions used.  The table below shows how the past service cost as at 31 March 
2009 would be impacted by changes to these assumptions:

       

In-Service and Continuation Members
Accrued Service 

Liabilities as at 31.3.2009                  
(R million)  

% Increase

Assumptions as above 28.02   

Discount rate - increases by 1% p.a. 24.04  -14%

Discount rate - reduces by 1% p.a. 33.05  18%

Medical Aid subsidy inflation - increases by 1% p.a. 33.02  18%

Medical Aid subsidy inflation - reduces by 1% p.a.  24.01  -14%

Retirement age - 65 for all employees who joined on or before 
13 February 2000; retirement age 60 for all who joined on or 
after 14 February 2000.

25.21  -10%

 
The tables below show how the current service cost and interest cost for the year to 31 March 2010 would be impacted 
by changes to the assumptions:
 

In-Service Members 
Current Service Cost 
1.4.2009 - 31.3.2010               

(R million)  
% Increase

Assumptions as above 1.3   

Discount rate - increases by 1% p.a. 1.04  -20%

Discount rate - reduces by 1% p.a. 1.65  27%

Medical Aid subsidy inflation - increases by 1% p.a 1.65  27%

Medical Aid subsidy inflation - reduces by 1% p.a. 1.03  -21%

Retirement age - 65 for all employees who joined on or before 
13 February 2000; retirement age 60 for all who joined on or 
after 14 February 2000.

1.36  5%

      

Interest Cost 1.4.2009 - 31.3.2010               
(R million)  

% Increase

Assumptions as above 2.56   

Discount rate - increases by 1% p.a. 2.44  -5%

Discount rate - reduces by 1% p.a. 2.69  5%

Medical Aid subsidy inflation - increases by 1% p.a. 3.03  18%

Medical Aid subsidy inflation - reduces by 1% p.a. 2.18  -15%

Retirement age - 65 for all employees who joined on or before 
13 February 2000; retirement age 60 for all who joined on or 
after 14 February 2000.

2.32  -9%

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

 

March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

12. Finance costs  

        

  Interest paid: IDC Loan    21,061   64,703 

  Interest paid: Other   329  1,640 

      21,390   66,343 

13.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk Management

In the course of the Institute’s operations it is exposed to credit, liquidity and market risk. The Institute has developed a comprehensive 
risk strategy in terms of Treasury Regulation 27.2 (require a public entity to have a comprehensive risk management strategy, which 
includes a fraud prevention plan)  in order to monitor and control  these risks. The risk management process relating to each of 
these risks is discussed under the headings below. 

The Institute’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Institute’s financial performance. The Institute does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge risk 
exposures. Risk management is performed by management under policies approved by the executive committee. Management 
identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks in close co-operation with the Institute’s operating units.  
 
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.

The Institute’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Institute manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and obtaining the continued commitment from the Department 
of Environmental Affairs and Tourism for the government grant and related project funding.

Due to the nature of the business, management maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining expenses below budget.

The table below analyses the Institute’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

        

 
 

At 31 March 2009
Total

R

Less than 1 
month

R

Between 1 
and 3 months

R

Between 
4 and 12 
months

R

Later than 1 
year

R

  Trade and other payables  46,636,737  33,380,301  6,297,952  6,958,485  -   

        

 
 

At 31 March 2008
Total

R

Less than 1 
month

R

Between 1 
and 3 months

R

Between 
4 and 12 
months

R

Later than 1 
year

R

  Borrowings  368,000  -    -    368,000  -   

  Trade and other payables  47,132,233  32,948,233  7,683,038  6,500,965  -   
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Market risk 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates.

The Institute obtains competitive rates from approved financial institutions on a monthly basis. The Institute’s exposure to interest 
rate risk and the effective interest rates on financial instruments at the statement of financial position date are as follows:

        

   2009 2008  

 
 

Floating rate Amount
Effective 

interest rate
TOTAL

Effective 
interest rate

 

  YTD 31 March 2009      

 Assets      

  Cash  9,107,621 9.1%  16,287,696 7.3%  

  Accounts receivable  -   0.0%  -   0.0%  

  Total financial assets  9,107,621   16,287,696   

        

     Total financial assets  9,107,621   16,287,696   

     Total financial liabilities  -   368,000   

    9,107,621   16,655,696   

 
 
 

Interest rate risk - Deposits

As the Institute has significant interest-bearing assets, the Institute’s income and operating cash flows are dependent on changes 
in market interest rates.

The Institute reviews its interest rate exposure on a regular basis.  Market rates are compared with stable and credit-rated financial 
institutions. Various institutional rates are simulated taking into consideration term of deposit, availability of cash resources and 
any related risk factors. Based on these scenarios, the impact of a positive 1% shift in deposit interest rates will have R393,518 
(2008: R469,432) on income.

 2009
R

 
 

2008
R

 Sensitivity   

Deposit rate    
1 % higher

 

Deposit rate 
1 % higher

 Investment income    393,518   469,432 

 
 

Interest rate risk - Borrowings

The Institute doesn’t have significant interest-bearing liabilities, as its income and operating cash flows are independent of changes 
in market interest rates.  The impact on the expenditure for a 1% increase in the borrowing rate will increase finance costs by Rnil 
(2008: R 1,680). 

 
 

2009
R

 
 

2008
R

 Sensitivity

Borrowing rate    
1 % higher  

Borrowing rate    
1 % higher

  R  R

 Finance costs  -     1,680 
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Risk Management (Continued)

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge 
an obligation.

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Institute to the risk of non performance by counter parties consist mainly of cash 
and cash equivalents and accounts receivable.   

The  Institute  limits  its  treasury counter-party exposure by only dealing with well-established financial  institutions approved by 
National Treasury through the approval of their cash management policy in terms of Treasury Regulation. The Institute’s exposure 
is continuously monitored by the Accounting Authority.

The Institute does not have any material exposure to any individual or counter-party. The Institute’s largest concentration of credit 
risk is limited mainly to the sale of plants. No events occurred in the industry during the financial year that may have an impact on 
the accounts receivable that have not been adequately provided for.  

The  Institute  assists  qualifying  employees  to  obtain  100%  housing  loans  from  financial  institutions  without  a  cash  deposit.  
However, these guarantees are fully recoverable from the employees’ cash portion of their retirement fund.

 
 
 
 

March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

 
Maximum exposure to credit risk of 
financial assets at year end:     

      

 Trade receivables  2,495,269   2,837,912 

 Cash and cash equivalents  41,491,868   36,465,463 

 Guaranteed loans  452,072   513,273 

     

 Fair value of financial assets at year-end     

 Trade receivables   2,495,269   2,837,912 

 Cash and cash equivalents   41,491,868   36,465,463 

      

 Foreign currency risk     

 

The entity does not operate internationally but undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, and is exposed 
to foreign exchange risk arising from fluctuations in foreign currencies. The entity does not hedge against its exposure to foreign 
exchange risk.

      

 Foreign currency exposure at financial year-end relates to trade payables and is disclosed under note 5.

     2009 2008

    Foreign currency R R

 USD payables   $138 000  1,225,212  -   
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 Sensitivity Analysis     
 

The entity is mainly exposed to the US dollar currencies. 

 

The following table details the entity’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in Rand against the relevant foreign currencies.  
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at 
financial year-end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in surplus where the 
Rand strengthens 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of the Rand against the relevant currency, there would 
be an equal and opposite impact on the surplus and the balances below would be negative. 

  

    USD Impact

    2009 2008

  R R

 Surplus / (deficit)  
 61,261

 -   

     

14.      Capital management policy 

 

The objective of the Institute is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain public sector confidence and to sustain 
future development of the Institute.  The Institute is a schedule 3A public entity and reports to its parent, Department of 
Environmental Affairs and Tourism (DEAT) and the  latter reports to National Treasury.  The Institute is in discussion with DEAT 
and Treasury regarding the Institute’s capital requirements to meet its strategic objectives .

   

 
 

March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

15.
 
 

 
 
 

Donation, Grants and Sponsorships

Government

  Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism   128,911,395   74,795,107 

  Department of Water Affairs and Forestry   2,883,425   17,128,741 

  Department of Science and Technology   2,700,000   250,000 

  National Lotteries Board   2,358,941   -   

  Independent Development Trust   2,341,730   344,650 

  South African Environmental Observation 
Network (NRF)   1,313,000   500,000 

  Gauteng Department of Agriculture Conservation 
& Environment   1,000,000   -   

  Mercury Media   44,640   -   

  Medical Research Council   44,625   12,375 

  National Research Foundation   8,750   967,073 

  Development Bank of South Africa   -     30,000 

     141,606,506   94,027,946 
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Donation, Grants and Sponsorships (Continued)

March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

  Foreign

 Anglo Holdings   161,920   -   

 Ball Horticultural   457,015   228,057 

 BGCI (Botanical Gardens Conservation International)   4,400   -   

 CEPF via Conservation International   6,237,547   2,846,404 

 Conservation International   164,235   4,568,570 

 Fairchild Tropical Botanic Gardens   351,592   133,356 

 Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research (UFZ)   -     198,220 

 ICLEI Africa   -     14,158 

 International Foundation for Science   92,449   -   

 International START Secretariat   86,076    -

 IUCN (The World Conservation Union)   520,589   339,680 

 JRS Biodiversity Foundation   983,407    -

 Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency (Milieu en Nature Plan bureau)  459,399   421,623 

 Norwegian Government (via DEAT)   1,340,758   2,360,799 

 Royal Botanic Gardens Kew   1,878,608   1,490,592 

 Rufford Maurice Laing Foundation   382,836    -

 Smithsonian Institute   151,084   119,561 

 The Andrew W Mellon Foundation   2,120,354   -   

 The Open University   -     221,330 

 The World Bank (International Bank for Reconstruction and Development)  20,626,088   9,463,918 

 UNDP   8,694,300   -   

 UNESCO   -     208,045 

 University of Connecticut   270,923   210,491 

 University of Hamburg   889,856   1,518,923 

 Wildlife Conservation Society (WCS)   7,923   17,241 

 Winterthur Garden and Landscape Society   -     59,891 

 WWF (World Wide Fund for Nature)   780,950   1,695,000 

    46,662,309   26,115,859 

 Corporate

 Afrox   75,000   -   

 First National Bank   -     451,000 

 Old Mutual (Not a Project)   844,400   1,290,900 

 Pick ‘n Pay   -     107,580 

 SAPPI   255,000   250,000 

 SASOL   100,000   -   

    1,274,400   2,099,480 

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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 Donation, Grants and Sponsorships (Continued)  

 March
2009

R  

Restated
March
2008

R 

 Individuals & Organisations     

      

 Association for the Promotion of Scientific Botanical Research  133,013   - 

 Cape Town Routes Unlimited   -   60,000 

 City of Cape Town   141,524   246,318 

 Fred and Linda Daniel   -   25,000 

 Knersvlakte Biodiversity Awareness Raising Project  -   53,580 

 Table Mountain Fund   202,000   108,943 

 The Botanical Society of South Africa   1,148,262   265,000 

 University of  Western Cape   15,000   182,000 

    1,639,799   940,841 

 

 Trusts     

      

 BOE Tr Ltd   -     98,238 

 Dr Sunshine   -     14,031 

 E/L Rupert Rohr   -     46,367 

 Fitzroy Trust   -     50,000 

 HR Hill Trust   -     56,770 

 Joyce Sewrey Masters   -     600,000 

 M.J Hofmeyer   -     500 

 Sundry   201,160   27,349 

 WM De Riszke   -     3,000 

    201,160   896,254 

      

 Other     

      

 Bench Donations   31,077   127,926 

 Sundry Donations   314,000   26,946 

    345,077   154,872 

      

 Total Donation, Grants and Sponsorships for the year received  191,729,251   124,235,252 

      

 Project Income released/(transferred) - Unspent Committed Funds  (30,980,217)   24,607,655 

      

 TOTAL   160,749,034   148,842,907 

           

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

16. Auditors’ remuneration

 Regularity audit - SANBI   867,271   571,451 

 Fees   853,508   557,610 

 Expenses   13,763   13,841 

      

 Internal audits   738,194   550,155 

 Fees   496,550   445,462 

 Expenses   60,834   64,793 

 Other services   180,810   39,900 

      

    1,605,465   1,121,606 

17.    Investment revenue     

     

Interest revenue     

 Bank - call account   3,111,654   1,653,531 

 Bank - call account  :  Project funds   3,695,421   1,960,599 

   6,807,075   3,614,130 

     

18. Personnel costs
    

 Personnel costs and benefits   123,454,451   103,007,715 

 Provident fund   4,760,686   4,805,000 

 Leave and Workmens Compensation   1,921,763   1,918,715 

 Post retirement medical aid   3,130,000   3,000,000 

   133,266,900   112,731,430 

Personnel costs include all amounts paid to employees including payments to retirement funds as disclosed in note 11.

Please note the comprehensive analyses of SANBI’’s Human Resources Profile in the Corporate Review Section of the 
Annual Report.
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March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

19. Cash flows from operating activities

 Net (deficit) / surplus for the year   (8,475,999)   13,162,788 

 Adjustments for:     

  Depreciation and amortisation   11,709,570   9,976,017 

  Investment income   (6,807,075)   (3,614,130)

  Interest paid   21,390   66,343 

  (Profit) / loss on disposal of fixed assets   (544,597)   (265,866)

 Operating (deficit) / surplus before working capital changes  (4,096,711)   19,325,152 

      

 Working capital changes   32,779,618   (1,748,292)

 (Increase) in inventories   (114,469)   (346,040)

 (Decrease) / Increase in trade and other receivables  776,061   (1,113,347)

 (Decrease) / Increase  in trade and other payables  32,118,026   (288,905)

      

 Cash generated from operations   28,682,907   17,576,860 

      

20. Related Parties

 Related Party Relationships

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Parent Department

Other Government Departments

Public Entities

Municipalities

Department of Environmental Affairs and
Tourism 
Department of Science and Technology 
Department of Water Affairs and Forestry 
Development Bank of South Africa 
Independent Development Trust 
Medical Research Council 
National Research Foundation 
South African Environmental Observation 
Network (NRF) 
Government Printing Works 
S.A. Post Office 
SABC 
South African National Parks 
Telkom SA Ltd 
City of Cape Town 
Overstrand Municipality 
Hantam Municipality 
Mbombela Municipality 
Mangaung Municipality 
Ukhahlamba District Municipality 
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March
2009

R

Restated
March
2008

R

20. Related Parties (Continued)

 
Related Party Transactions
Government Grant

 
 
 

 

 

 Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism  128,830,992   109,696,000 

     

 Other Grants, Sponsorships and Donations    

 Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism  129,160,818   74,795,107 

 Department of Science and Technology   2,700,000   250,000 

 Department of Water Affairs and Forestry   2,883,425   17,128,741 

 Development Bank of South Africa   -   30,000 

 Independent Development Trust   2,341,730   344,650 

 Medical Research Council   44,625   12,375 

 National Research Foundation   8,750   788,589 

 South African Environmental Observation Network (NRF)  1,313,000   500,000 

 City of Cape Town  141,524   246,318 

 The Botanical Society of South Africa   1,148,262   265,000 

 Gauteng Deptatment of Agriculture, Conservation and Environment  1,000,000   - 

   140,742,134   94,360,780 

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

 Purchases    

  Agricultural Research Council  -   1,372 

  City of Cape Town  53,866   366,215 

  City of Durban = N/Herbarium  -   41,312 

  CSIR  1,047,377   135,301 

  Department of Agriculture  -   11,622 

  Department of Water & Forestry  6,274   15,274 

  Eskom   485,087   446,468 

  Government Printing Works   560   16,364 

  Overstrand Municipality   63,887   68,748 

  S.A. Post Office   131,347   1,515,256 

  SABC   6,818   9,276 

  South African National Parks   2,330,855   6,017,870 

  Telkom SA Ltd   2,338,596   2,152,809 

  The Botanical Society of S.A.   895,425   545,028 

  Hantam Municipality   2,577   -

  Mangaung Municipality   108,302    -

  Mbombela Municipality   85,466   - 

  Ukhahlamba District Municipality   4,109,621    -

   11,666,058   11,342,915 
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  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

Related Parties (Continued)

 Sales    

  Botanical Society of South Africa   556,861   979,009 

  Cape Nature Conservation  24,782   10,922 

  City of Cape Town  131,669   70,967 

  Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism   165,853   621,004 

  Department of Agriculture  -   2,145 

  South African National Parks   71,247   70,516 

   950,412   1,754,563 

 Accounts payables    

  City of Cape Town  1,488   - 

  CSIR  246,959   50,000 

  Government Printing Works   425   1,870 

  Overstrand Municipality   1,067   4,158 

  S.A. Post Office   7,169   41,347 

  South African National Parks   798,000   557,460 

  Telkom SA Ltd   45,153   41,562 

  The Botanical Society of S.A.   238,686   3,822 

  Hantam Municipality   2,388   - 

  Mangaung Municipality   5,097   - 

  Ukhahlamba District Municipality   355,517   - 

  Department of Water Affairs and Forestry  3,408   - 

  1,705,357   700,219 

 Accounts receivables    

  Botanical Society of South Africa   39,500   145,556 

  Cape Nature Conservation  5,306   16,034 

  City of Cape Town  (2,784)   46,116 

  Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism   23,018   540,361 

  Department of Agriculture  -   1,555 

  National Research Foundation  -   28,585 

  South African National Parks   40,742   (9,789)

  Department of Water Affairs and Forestry  330,884   - 

  Independent Development Trust  416,174  -  

   852,840   768,418 

     

 The transactions with related parties are at normal market prices.   
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  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

21. Prior period errors    

 
Effect of the correction on 2008 results
Government Grant

In 2008 SANBI received R1 million towards the Elephant Project from DEAT. This amount being other grants, sponsorship and 
donations income was incorrectly disclosed as Government grant income in 2008.

     

 Effect of the correction
 

 Prior disclosure 
R

 Movement 
R

 Restated 
R

 

 Government grant  110,696,000  (1,000,000)  109,696,000 

 Net surplus / (deficit)  for the year  -  2008   (13,647,877)  (1,000,000)  (14,647,877)

 Unspent Projects Fund released  25,429,171  (1,000,000)  24,429,171 

 Projects Fund : Unspent committed  15,502,188  1,000,000  16,502,188 

     

Fixed Assets    

SANBI has done an independent, comprehensive asset tagging exercise in the last quarter of 2009. As a result, the existing 
fixed assets register has been analysed, reviewed, updated with various adjustments:

Land & buildings    

The  fixed asset  register  contained adjustments  to capitalised costs  in  terms of buildings which are unallocated and without 
support. These adjustments have now been reversed.

 
 

Effect of the correction on prior periods
 

 Prior disclosure 
R

 Movement 
R

 Restated 
R

 Land & Buildings at cost  (596,535)  596,535  -   

 Accumulated Depreciation  238,932  (238,932)  -   

   (357,603)  357,603  -   

     

 Accumulated fund at beginning of year  -  1 April 2007  (357,603)  357,603  -   

     

Vehicles -  Useful life    

For the financial period under review, management applied judgement in determining the extended useful lives of fixed assets 
in terms of IAS 16 PPE and the results was that the useful life has changed from the previous financial year for motor vehicles.

 
 

Effect of the correction on prior periods
 

 Prior disclosure 
R

 Movement 
R

 Restated 
R

 Accumulated Depreciation  -    (1,803,272)  -1,803,272 

     

 Accumulated fund at beginning of year  -  1 April 2007  -    1,803,272  1,803,272 

 Effect of the correction on 2008 results    

 Accumulated Depreciation  -    257,610  257,610 

 Net surplus / (deficit)  for the year - 2008  -    (257,610)  (257,610)
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  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

Prior period errors (Continued)

Vehicles -  Assets recognised during physical asset tagging
   

A number of vehicles have been identified during the asset tagging exercise that have not been  recognised on the fixed asset 
register. These assets are now recognised at its fair value.

    

 
 

Effect of the correction on prior periods
 

 Prior disclosure 
R

 Movement 
R

 Restated 
R

 Vehicles at cost  -    88,613  88,613 

 Accumulated fund at beginning of year  -  1 April 2007  -    88,613  88,613 

 Effect of the correction on 2008 results    

 Accumulated Depreciation  -    13,292  13,292 

 Net surplus / (deficit)  for the year - 2008  -    (13,292)  (13,292)

Equipment -  Assets recognised during physical asset tagging

A number of equipment, which includes furniture, computers, office and art have been identified during the asset tagging exercise 
that have not been  recognised on the fixed asset register. These assets are now recognised at its fair value.

    
 
Effect of the correction on prior periods

 Prior disclosure 
R

 Movement 
R

 Restated 
R

 Equipment  -    643,910  643,910 

 Accumulated fund at beginning of year  -  1 April 2007  -    643,910  643,910 

 Effect of the correction on 2008 results    

 Accumulated Depreciation  -    96,587  96,587 

 Net surplus / (deficit)  for the year - 2008  -    (96,587)  (96,587)

     

22. Implementation of GRAP 
The following adjustments were made to amounts previously reported in the annual financial statements of SANBI arising from 
the implementation of GRAP Standards:

Government Grants relating to assets
In accordance with GRAP, SANBI recognises government grants for the purchase of fixed assets as revenue to the extent that 
there is no further obligation arising from the receipt of the government grant.  Previously SANBI recognised government grants 
received for the purchase of fixed assets as deferred income, releasing it to profit or loss over the useful life of the assets.

 Effect of the correction on prior periods  Prior disclosure  Movement  Restated 

  R R R

 Deferred income    

    - Long term portion  142,866,161  (142,866,161)  -   

    - Current portion  9,608,528  (9,608,528)  -   

   152,474,689  (152,474,689)  -   

 
Accumulated fund at beginning of year  -  1 April 
2007  -    152,474,689  152,474,689 
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  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

 

 
 

Effect of the correction on 2008 results
 

 Prior disclosure 
R

 Movement 
R

 Restated 
R

 Other grants, sponsorships and donations  85,627,057  63,215,850  148,842,907 

 Unspent Projects Fund released  25,429,171  (25,429,171)  -   

 Deferred income released  9,608,525  (9,608,525)  

 Total other grants, sponsorships and donations  120,664,753  28,178,154  148,842,907 

  Net surplus / (deficit)  for the year - 2008  -    28,178,154  28,178,154 

23.
 Reconciliation of accumulated surplus due to prior period error and change in accounting 

policy  R 

 Accumulated fund at beginning of year  -  1 April 2007 (Previously reported)  (25,289,869)

 Prior Period Error    2,893,398 

 Land & buildings   357,603 

 Vehicles -  Useful life   1,803,272 

 Vehicles -  Assets recognised during physical asset tagging  88,613 

 Equipment -  Assets recognised during physical asset tagging  643,910 

    

 Change in accounting policy  

 Government Grants relating to assets recognised as revenue instead of deferred income  152,474,689 

 Accumulated fund at beginning of year  -  1 April 2007 Restated   130,078,218 

 Effect on 2008 results    

  Net surplus / (deficit)  for the year - 2008 (Previously reported)   (13,647,877)

     

 Adjustments for 2008    (1,367,489)

 Government grants   (1,000,000)

 Vehicles -  Useful life   (257,610)

 Vehicles -  Assets recognised during physical asset tagging  (13,292)

 Equipment -  Assets recognised during physical asset tagging  (96,587)

    

 Change in accounting policy   

 Government Grants relating to assets recognised as revenue instead of deferred income  28,178,154 

    

 Net surplus / (deficit) for the year 2008 -  restated    13,162,788 

     

 Summary    

 Accumulated fund at beginning of year  -  1 April 2007 Restated   130,078,218 

 Net surplus / (deficit) for the year 2008 -  restated    13,162,788 

 Accumulated fund at end of the year  -  31 March 2008 Restated   143,241,006 
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  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

24. Recognition of fauna and flora

As part of its mission, South African National Biodiversity Institute is responsible for managing biodiversity, encompassing fauna, 
flora and unique scenery. The exact quantity and value of these assets cannot be measured with reliable accuracy. The key 
drivers to ensure successful biodiversity include scientific management of the eco-system in terms of fauna and flora and the 
implementation of processes to maintain these patterns. This does however not constitute the management of the biological 
transformation through growth and degeneration of procreation.

25. Going Concern

SANBI management is taking extra action to recoup the excess spending of 2009 in the 2010 budget.  This will have a positive 
effect on the Institute’s cash flow position going forward.

26. Standards of GRAP approved but not yet effective

Various revisions have been made to the Statements of GAAP which become effective in future periods.  None of these revisions 
will have an impact on the financial statements of the Board.

GRAP Statement 
of GAAP

IAS 
Statement

Description Effective date

GRAP 1 AC101 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 April 2005

GRAP 18 AC145 IFRS 8 Segment Reporting Not yet effective

GRAP 21 AC123 IAS 16 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets Not yet effective

GRAP 23 AC134 IAS 20 Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers) Not yet effective

GRAP 24 N/A N/A Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements Not yet effective

GRAP 26 AC128 IAS 36 Impairment of cash-generating assets Not yet effective

GRAP 103 AC123 IAS 16 Heritage Assets Not yet effective

Photo: KOBUS LAGEVELD
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27. EXECUTIVE MEMBER’S REMUNERATION: 

Executive Management 2009  

   Short-term benefits 
 Post-

employment 
benefits 

 

 Name  Status  Salary 
 Non Pens 

Allow 
 Service 
Bonus 

 Performance 
Bonus 

 

 Medical & 
UIF 

 Travel 
Allowance 

 Gratuity  Housing  Pension  Total 

 R  R  R  R  R  R  R  R  R  R 

BJ Huntley   Senior Policy 
Advisor 

 491,347  179,017  50,214  123,875  12,540  55,000  361,077  -    40,617  1,313,687 

TE 
Abrahamse 

 CEO  696,150  260,345  26,773  359,422  28,800  60,000  -    -    54,219  1,485,709 

S Singh  CFO Finance  1,061  38,976  13,526  -    -    179  -    -    1,094  54,836 

MJ 
Netshiombo 

Chief Director 
HR 

 424,451  58,023  35,306  45,848  22,140  133,438  -    -    34,482  753,688 

KE Maze  Chief Director 
Bioregional 
Planning 

 412,026  143,471  33,764  44,511  12,000  41,400  -    -    33,472  720,644 

NM 
Qwathekana 

Director 
Education 

 174,564  87,646  -    45,919 *  -    -    -    -    13,092  321,221 

CK Willis Chief Director 
Gardens 

 424,451  191,280  39,013  45,848  21,960  -    -    -    34,760  757,312 

GF Smith Chief Director 
Research 

 434,871  180,306  36,290  100,683 **  17,820  -    -    20,400  35,337  825,707 

MM Wolfson  Director 
Research 

 354,314  165,323  29,129  38,965  13,790  -    -    -    30,788  632,309 

GF Midgley   Chief 
Specialist 
Scientist 

 391,763  94,986  33,764  42,675  18,345  84,000  -    -    31,914  697,447 

JS Donaldson Chief Director 
Research 

 412,026  121,046  31,794  44,511  25,935  60,000  -    -    33,322  728,634 

MC 
Rutherford 

Chief 
Specialist 
Scientist 

 364,991  75,256  29,094  -    -    72,000  -    36,000  29,556  606,897 

JS Dini  Director 
Research 
(WFW) 

 348,062  88,891  -    -    5,130  113,287  -    -    11,271  566,641 

AC Stephens Program 
Manager 
Grasslands 

 343,946  150,938  -    37,830  6,455  72,000  -    -    -    611,169 

M Johnson  Program 
Manager 
SKEP 

 334,945  101,658  4,249  -    17,820  104,004  -    -    -    562,676 

AY Koyo Deputy DG  125,930  66,598  -    -    -    -    -    -    7,782  200,310 

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)
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27.  EXECUTIVE MEMBER’S REMUNERATION (Continued): 

Executive Management 2009  

   Short-term benefits 
 Post-

employment 
benefits 

 

 Name  Status  Salary 
 Non Pens 

Allow 
 Service 
Bonus 

 Performance 
Bonus 

 Medical & 
UIF 

 Travel 
Allowance 

 Gratuity  Housing  Pension  Total 

 R  R  R  R  R  R  R  R  R  R 

CH Mbizvo  Deputy DG  50,356  23,653  -    -    96  -    -    -    3,777  77,882 

ME Khoahli  CFO Finance  320,574  41,537  -    -    14,495  104,924  -    -    24,043  505,573 

AT Smith Director 
Finance 

 257,814  129,444  7,021  -    -    -    -    -    19,863  414,142 

P Gozo Director Mark 
and Com 

 257,814  124,314  11,677  -    5,185  -    -    -    20,212  419,202 

PH le Roux Agricult Tec 
Supp 

 338,879  152,510  27,857  -    17,965  -    -    -    27,505  564,716 

ML Hamer  Director 
Research 

 92,345  46,365  -    -    -    -    -    -    6,926  145,636 

SM 
Mpungose 

Director IT  73,607  36,957  -    -    -    -    -    -    5,520  116,084 

SN Matai  Director 
Biodiversity 

 257,814  90,444  18,132  -    -    39,000  -    -    20,696  426,086 

ES Moeng  Director 
Human 
Resources 

 92,345  44,655  -    -    1,765     -     -   -  6,926  145,691

SW 
Willoughby 

Director Info 
& Know Man 

 92,345  46,365  -    -    -    -    -    -  6,926  145,636

AL Driver Director Bio 
Policy 

 257,814  124,314  30,782  26,086  5,235  -    -    -    21,645  465,876 

TR Frantz Director 
Research 

 89,448  42,455  -    -    3,420  -    -    1,000  6,709  143,032 

KB Mantlana  Director 
Climate 
Change 

 230,793  111,317  27,856  -    4,560  -    -    -    19,399  393,925 

M Barnett  Director 
Fynbos Bio 
Prog 

 257,814  89,312  27,021  29,949  6,781  34,006  -    -    21,363  466,246 

 8,404,660  3,107,402  513,262  986,122  262,237  973,238  361,077  57,400  603,216  15,268,614 

  *   Performance bonus relates to payment for the financial year 2008. 

  **  Performance bonus relates to payment for two financial years (2008 and 2009). 

  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)
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  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

 Executive Management 2008  

   Short-term benefits 
 Post-

employment 
benefits 

 

 Name  Status  Salary 
 Non Pens 

Allow 
 Service 
Bonus 

 Performance 
Bonus 

 Medical & 
UIF 

 Travel 
Allowance 

 Acting 
Allowance 

 Housing  Pension  Total 

 R  R  R  R  R  R  R  R  R  R 

BJ Huntley  Senior Policy 
Advisor 

 458,207  158,058  40,292  12,000  60,000  37,387  765,944 

TE 
Abrahamse 

CEO  343,520  144,394  8,080  30,000  18,629  544,623 

S Singh CFO Finance  366,952  119,800  30,017  8,375  64,440  129,326  27,521  746,430 

MJ 
Netshiombo 

Chief Director 
HR 

 372,422  27,853  30,464  62,404  25,696  133,438  27,932  680,208 

KE Maze  Chief Director 
Bioregional 
Plan 

 361,561  128,133  29,576  7,110  12,000  41,400  27,117  606,896 

NM 
Qwathekana 

Director 
Education 

 316,877  157,478  29,094  7,110  25,948  536,506 

CK Willis Chief Director 
Gardens 

 372,419  122,704  32,749  62,404  31,960  31,167  27,932  681,335 

GF Smith Chief Director 
Research 

 372,422  150,987  30,464  8,375  15,600  78,302  20,400  30,216  706,766 

MM Wolfson  Director 
Research 

 316,509  131,938  27,832  7,110  26,976  25,826  536,190 

GF Midgley  Chief 
Specialist 
Scientist 

 316,509  58,394  25,890  78,539  16,520  84,000  25,669  605,521 

JS Donaldson Chief Director 
Research 

 361,561  98,733  29,576  7,110  22,800  60,000  47,080  626,860 

MC 
Rutherford 

Chief 
Specialist 
Scientist 

 330,860  58,119  27,064  56,375  55,800  36,000  24,814  589,032 

JS Dini  Director 
Research 
(WFW) 

 316,509  97,719  7,110  113,287  534,625 

AC Stephens Program 
Manager 
Grasslands 

 307,291  126,500  6,360  72,000  512,151 

M Johnson  Program 
Manager 
SKEP 

 293,970  51,879  21,672  15,600  104,004  487,124 

 5,207,586  1,632,689  354,689  312,021  193,592  849,535  207,628  56,400  346,071  9,160,211 
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  NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
(continued)

28.  Board and Board Committee Members’ Emoluments 

Fees for the Board and Board Committee meetings for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009 (1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008) 
were as follows: 

 R  R  R  R  R  R 

Board Members 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008  2008 

Name  Fees  Travel  Total  Fees  Travel  Total 

Mr T Sokutu   Board Chairperson   5,131   7,039 12,170    2,513  -    2,513 

Dr T Abrahamse CEO -  -  -  -    -    -   

Mr S Singh  Acting CEO (until 7 June 2007)   -    -    -    -    -    -   

Prof GF Smith Acting CEO (from 8 June to  
9 September 2007) 

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Mr T Frost   17,853  34,009  51,862  1,984  -    1,984 

Prof P Omara-
Ojungu 

 7,935  14,984  22,919  1,984  -    1,984 

Ms B Njobe   -    233  233  7,048  2,599  9,647 

Mr S Fakir   -    -    -    8,933  3,141  12,074 

Dr D Mabunda   -    -    -    1,787  -    1,787 

Dr P Hanekom   *  17,029  2,729  19,758  -    1,232  1,232 

Ms Thoko Dingaan   3,967  10,492  14,459  5,951  -    5,951 

Ms K Montgomery   7,935  9,888  17,823  5,951  2,034  7,985 

MR S Somyo   7,935  3,457  11,392  3,967  2,076  6,043 

Ms L Sello   **  -    -    -    -    2,205  2,205 

Mr F Mketeni   **  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Ms M Pyoos   **  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Mr N Jezile   **  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 67,785 82,831 150,616  40,117  13,287  53,405 

  * Dr P Hanekom, Board Member and Chairperson of Audit Committee was  requested  to perform special  services which  include, 
attending CCMA hearing, workshop and perform an assessment. The fees amounted R8 143. 

 ** No honoraria were paid - State employee 
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MATERIALITY AND SIGNIFICANCE FRAMEWORK

Treasury Regulation, section 28.3.1 requires that the accounting authority develop and agree on a framework of 
acceptable levels of materiality and significance with the relative executive authority.

South African Auditing Standard 320 para 3 defines materiality as ‘information is material if its omission or misstatement 
could influence the economic decision of users taken on the basis of the financial statements’. Materiality depends on the 
size of the item or error judged in the particular circumstances of its omission or misstatement. 

Quantitative aspects:

In setting the materiality figure the Institute considered:

•  The relationship of the amount of an item to the financial information as a whole or in total from which the item comes 
is the important factor.

•  Elements of the financial statements ie. expenditure, capital, assets, income and liabilities.

•  Financial statements must be free of any misstatements.

Qualitative aspects:

Qualitative characteristics to assess materiality included the following aspects:

• Public accountability and disclosure requirements in terms of legislation.

• Compliance with legislation.

• Disclosure requirements.

•  Sensitive situations, including transactions with officers, irregularities and questionable transactions.

•  Importance of information to users, especially donors. 

Taking the above into consideration the Institute has set materiality at R1,697,816.00. This has been determined by 
applying 0.5% to the actual gross expenditure for the year.

Significant aspects:

Any transaction or circumstances that may have a significant impact on the Institute regardless of the monetary value is 
considered significant for the purpose of the framework.
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